
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

7 April 2016

Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

A meeting of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will be held on 
Friday, 15 April 2016 at 10.00 am in Committee Room One, County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the business set out on the attached 
Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 
(17 Members of the Council and 4 Added Members)

Councillors J D Hough (Chairman), R Wootten (Vice-Chairman), B Adams, W J Aron, 
Mrs J Brockway, S R Dodds, A G Hagues, B W Keimach, Ms T Keywood-Wainwright, 
C R Oxby, Mrs H N J Powell, Mrs S Ransome, Mrs L A Rollings, Mrs N J Smith, 
S M Tweedale, L Wootten and Mrs S M Wray

Added Members

Church Representatives: Mr S C Rudman and Mr P Thompson

Parent Governor Representatives: Mrs P J Barnett and Dr E van der Zee

Public Document Pack





CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE AGENDA
FRIDAY, 15 APRIL 2016

Item Title Pages

1 Apologies for Absence / Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Members' Interests 

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 4 March 2016 5 - 14

4 Proposal to consider the future of Saltfleetby Church of 
England Primary School (Final Decision) 
(To receive a report which invites the Committee to consider a 
proposal regarding the future of Saltfleetby Church of England 
Primary School (Final decision))

15 - 84

5 Update from School Improvement Working Group 
(To receive an update on the work of the School Improvement 
Group)

Verbal 
Report

6 Synopsis of the Government White Paper "Excellent 
Education Everywhere" 
(To receive a report which summarises the key elements of the 
Government White Paper "Excellent Education Everywhere", 
highlighting potential benefits and concerns particularly with 
regard to the enforced academisation of all schools)

85 - 96

7 Consultation on Future Provision of Dedicated Speech and 
Language/Primary Units 
(To receive a report which sets out a consultation which 
recommends the discontinuance of the three dedicated speech 
and language referral units across Lincolnshire and to provide 
Speech and Language services to children requiring interventions 
in the school which they are on roll)

97 - 120

8 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group 
Update 
(To receive a report which enables the Committee to have an 
overview of the activities of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, in particular the Sub-Group's consideration 
of child safeguarding matters)

121 - 128

9 Corporate Parenting Panel Update 
(To receive a report which provides the Committee with an 
update on the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel)

129 - 140

10 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 
(To receive a report which enables the Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee to consider its own work programme 
for the coming year)

141 - 148



Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Rachel Wilson

Direct Dial 01522 552107

E Mail Address rachel.wilson@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


1

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

4 MARCH 2016

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR J D HOUGH (CHAIRMAN)

Councillors R Wootten (Vice-Chairman), B Adams, W J Aron, Mrs J Brockway, 
S R Dodds, B W Keimach, Ms T Keywood-Wainwright, Mrs H N J Powell, 
Mrs S Ransome, Mrs L A Rollings, Mrs N J Smith, S M Tweedale, M A Whittington, 
L Wootten and Mrs S M Wray.

Added Members

Church Representatives: Mr P Thompson.

Parent Governor Representatives: Dr E van der Zee.

Councillors A M Austin, Mrs P A Bradwell (Executive Councillor for Adult Care and 
Health Services, Children's Services), D Brailsford (Executive Support Councillor for 
Children's Services), Mrs M J Overton MBE and P Wood were also in attendance.

Officers in attendance:-

Debbie Barnes (Executive Director of Children's Services), Keith Batty (Director of 
Programme, CfBT Education Services), Stuart Carlton (Assistant Director Children's 
Lead Early Help), David Coleman (Chief Legal Officer), Cheryl Hall (Democratic 
Services Officer), Tracy Johnson (Senior Scrutiny Officer), Mary Meredith (Children's 
Services Manager, Inclusion), Wayne Oldfield (Inclusion Vice-Principal), Ben Pearce 
(Headteacher at Skegness Academy), David Robinson (School Services Manager), 
Heather Sandy (Chief Commissioning Officer for Learning), Sally Savage (Chief 
Commissioning Officer - Children's) and Vincent Van Doninck (Graduate 
Management Trainee). 

The Chairman welcomed the Headteachers, pupils and parents who were in 
attendance at the meeting for Minute 62 – Review of the Council's Home to School 
Transport Policy in relation to Discretionary Grammar School Transport – Draft Final 
Report. 

59    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE / REPLACEMENT MEMBERS

The Chairman advised the Committee that two new Parent Governor 
Representatives had been elected to sit on the Committee.  The Committee 
welcomed back Dr E van der Zee, who was a former Parent Governor 
Representative on the Committee.  The Chairman advised that Mrs P Barnett, who 
had also been elected as a Parent Governor Representative, was unable to attend 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
4 MARCH 2016

the meeting owing to unforeseen circumstances but would be in attendance at the 
meeting on 15 April 2016. 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A G Hagues and Added 
Members: Mrs P Barnett and Mr S C Rudman. 

It was noted that the Chief Executive having received notice under Regulation 13 of 
the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990, had 
appointed Councillor M A Whittington as a replacement member on the Committee in 
place of Councillor C R Oxby, for this meeting only. 

60    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

There were no declarations of interest at this point in the meeting. 

61    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 15 JANUARY 2016

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 15 January 2016 be signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record. 

62    REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL'S HOME TO SCHOOL TRANSPORT POLICY 
IN RELATION TO DISCRETIONARY GRAMMAR SCHOOL TRANSPORT - 
DRAFT FINAL REPORT

Consideration was given to a report by Tracy Johnson (Senior Scrutiny Officer), 
which presented the report of the Task and Finish Group on the Council’s Home to 
School Transport Policy in relation to Discretionary Grammar School Transport.  The 
Task and Finish Group was proposing to submit the following two options to the 
Executive for its consideration: -

 “Option One – To leave the Grammar School Transport Policy as it is, but 
review it in two years;

 Option Five – Charge pupils living in grammar school Designated Transport 
Areas for transport to a grammar school where it is not the nearest suitable 
school.  This should be introduced to new pupils, excluding pupils with 
siblings at the same grammar school, on a phased basis with some level of 
financial support for pupils in receipt of free school meals.”

The Chairman referred to a letter from the Chair of the Lincolnshire Consortium of 
Grammar Schools, which outlined concerns about the review and the Report.  The 
Committee was advised that a response had been sent to the Chair of the 
Lincolnshire Consortium of Grammar Schools from the Chairman of the Task and 
Finish Group.  The correspondence had suggested that the Council had a statutory 
duty to transport children to their nearest grammar school because for a child with the 
necessary aptitude that was the nearest suitable school.  As a result, the Executive 
Director of Children’s Services provided advice on the relevant provisions of the 
Education Acts. 

Page 6



3
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

4 MARCH 2016

The legal advice concluded that the existence of a grammar school in an area did not 
change either the nature or the obligations of other schools in the area in relation to 
their responsibilities to teach pupils across the ability range.  Since that responsibility 
existed it would be very difficult to argue in law that the provision made by non-
selective schools was unsuitable, since the law would expect those responsibilities to 
be fulfilled.  Therefore a non-selective school in a selective area would have to offer 
teaching across the ability range and would be considered to be a suitable school.

The Chairman of the Task and Finish Group presented the Report to the Committee 
and in doing so, referred to an email from one of the campaign group members which 
had also highlighted concerns with the review and the Report. In response to the 
points raised, the Chairman highlighted the following: -

 The Task and Finish Group had examined the Designated Transport Areas for 
grammar schools in detail and had reflected on the fairness of the policy, and 
the differing opinions of the members were reflected in the Report;

 The Task and Finish Group did not have access to parental contact details, 
owing to data protection provisions.  All the schools who were invited to 
participate were asked to let their parents know of the parental meeting.  The 
extent of the engagement of the Task and Finish Group and the rationale for 
this were detailed in the Report;

 The arrangements for inviting headteachers to participate were explained;
 Four proposals from the campaign groups were considered by the Task and 

Finish Group and they were detailed in the report.  These options were 
discounted when the Task and Finish Group decided against extending the 
Designated Transport Areas;

 The requirement for an Equality Impact Assessment would only apply for 
reports for decision either to the Executive or Executive Councillor and did not 
apply to the Task and Finish Group, which could only make recommendations;

 It was confirmed that all elements of the scoping document had been 
undertaken as part of the review, with the exception of the Equality Impact 
Assessment, which legal advice had subsequently indicated was not required;

 It was reiterated that the Task and Finish Group had considered the questions 
of fairness and they had also considered the Designated Transport Areas; 

 It was confirmed that the reason for the proposals for a review in two years’ 
time was owing to the current financial position of the Council; and

 In relation to option five in the Report, it was clarified that any charge would 
not cover the full cost and that the cost for transport would still be subsidised 
by the Council.  However, it was reiterated that the level of any charge would 
be a matter for the Executive to decide.  

The Chairman invited other Members of the Task and Finish Group to speak, where 
the following points were noted: -

 The Chairman of the Task and Finish Group was thanked for her chairmanship 
of the Task and Finish Group;

 It was reiterated that the Task and Finish Group had examined all facts put 
before it and considered the legalities of each option;

Page 7



4
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
4 MARCH 2016

 It was stated that the County Council provided free transport to 3871 grammar 
school pupils at an average cost of £640 per pupil, per year.  One member of 
the Task and Finish Group therefore supported Option Five of the Report;

 One of the Members questioned the extent of the engagement with 
stakeholders and also questioned whether the Task and Finish Group had 
fulfilled the objectives, as set out in the scoping document.  It was alleged that 
Option 1 of the Report was unfair and would not eliminate discrimination 
across the County. It was also alleged that Option Five would not meet the 
needs of the 25% of the County which fell outside the Designated Transport 
Areas;

 Two Members of the Task and Finish Group urged the Committee to amend 
Option Five, as follows: ‘Charge pupils for transport to a grammar school 
where it is not the nearest suitable school.  This should be introduced to new 
pupils, excluding pupils with siblings at the same grammar school, on a 
phased basis with some level of financial support for pupils in receipt of free 
school meals’;

 One of the Members of the Task and Finish Group alleged that the 
Recommendations in the Report did not remove disadvantage in some 
instances.  The same Member stated that every child should be able to attend 
the school that was best for them and families should not feel that they have to 
move to obtain a place in a school of their preference. 

A County Councillor representing an electoral division in Boston addressed the 
Committee and suggested an alternative approach whereby the funded entitlement to 
transport to a pupil's nearest school would be put towards the cost of travel to a 
grammar school at a further distance, with the parents paying the difference. 

Members of the Committee were invited to ask questions, where the following points 
were noted: -

 It was stated that the County Council had an equal commitment to pupils in 
any type of school, and it should not be seen to be harming the viability of 
other schools by just supporting grammar schools alone;

 Pupils could flourish in other types of schools to the same level as those who 
attend grammar schools;

 It was commented that although the County Council had followed legislation, it 
was felt that the legislation was dated;

 It was also commented that although the County Council was obliged to 
support all schools, parents should still have a right to decide which school 
their child should attend.  Therefore, the Task and Finish Group was urged to 
reconsider its recommendations;

 A view was put forward that in the future only those parents who could afford it 
would send their children to grammar schools;

 A Member of the Committee expressed their support for Option One within the 
Report;

 It was stressed to the Committee that there were a number of high quality 
secondary modern and comprehensive schools operating in Lincolnshire and 
grammar schools benefited from a traditional position of superiority; and

Page 8



5
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

4 MARCH 2016

 The Chairman of the Task and Finish Group reiterated that a wide range of 
views were taken into account as part of the Review, which had included 
views from schools, parents, chair of governors, members of the public and 
groups such as the Youth Cabinet. 

The Committee agreed by a majority decision to support the recommendations in the 
Report. 

The Committee thanked the Members of the Task and Finish Group and supporting 
officers for their hard work on the Review. 

RESOLVED

(1) That the draft final report on the Review of the Council’s Home to School 
Transport Policy in relation to Discretionary Grammar School Transport be 
approved. 

(2) That approval be given to the submission of the final report to the Executive on 
5 April 2016 for its consideration and response.

NOTE: At this point in the proceedings, Councillor Mrs L A Rollings entered the 
meeting.

63    INCLUSIVE LINCOLNSHIRE STRATEGY

A report by Mary Meredith (Service Manager – Inclusion) was considered, which 
presented the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy and updated the Committee on 
progress in relation to reducing school exclusions. 

Members were advised that children in Lincolnshire were more likely to be excluded 
than in many other Local Authority areas.  A chart on page 66 of the report showed 
that for those Local Authorities that had published data, Lincolnshire was ranked 
135th out of 139 for permanent exclusions from all school types. 

Members were also advised that whilst it was recognised that there was no single 
solution to reducing the number of exclusions, the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy had 
outlined synergistic change across schools, the Local Authority and providers in order 
to achieve better outcomes for Lincolnshire schools and pupils.  

The Headteacher and the Inclusive Vice-Principal of Skegness Academy addressed 
the Committee and provided examples of their progress on inclusion. In response to 
questions raised, the following points were noted: -

 The Headteacher and the Inclusive Vice-Principal advised Members that as 
part of their work on inclusion, they had put in additional resources to work 
with perpetrators to understand and address the reasons behind this type of 
behaviour;

 It was noted that victims of bullying usually expected the perpetrator to be 
excluded from the school and this was a difficult expectation to manage; 

Page 9



6
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
4 MARCH 2016

 The Headteacher and the Inclusive Vice-Principal were encouraged to share 
their best practise examples with other schools.

Members were provided with an opportunity to ask questions, where the following 
points were noted: -

 Members were assured that Lincolnshire schools had responded very 
positively to the Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy.  It was noted that there was 
good evidence to show that schools were moving in a more inclusive direction, 
even before the Behaviour Outreach Support Service (BOSS) was brought to 
them;

 Early data had shown a drop in permanent exclusions during term three, which 
should hopefully indicate an appetite for change.  Members were assured that 
officers would continue to monitor data to ensure lower rates were sustained.  
It was anticipated that the BOSS would consolidate and accelerate progress;

 The Lincolnshire Learning Partnership Board and the Lincolnshire Schools' 
Forum had been considering a range of strategies to support and challenge 
Lincolnshire schools and academies to reduce the number of permanent 
exclusions;

 The Inclusive Lincolnshire Strategy had explored the potential impact and 
appetite for schools to pay a reintegration charge where headteachers could 
not demonstrate that they had met an agreed ladder of intervention expected 
of all schools.  Such a levy would be in the region of £25k.  However, 
Members were advised that in the spirit of shared vision and collaboration, 
officers would first want to assess the impact of the BOSS as it was hoped that 
it would drive a more inclusive approach and that headteachers would 
recognise the need for consistency and engagement with the ladder of 
intervention without the need for a levy;

 It was suggested that officers engaged with school governing bodies as 
another way to address exclusion rates;

 It was noted that academies with high exclusion rates could be referred to the 
Regional Schools Commissioner; 

 It was also noted that the behaviour outreach service was financed through 
the schools;

 Members were advised that the figures for Lincolnshire had not shown a 
significant difference in exclusion rates between academies and maintained 
schools;

 It was suggested that a working group was established to further explore 
Lincolnshire's high exclusion rate six months post implementation of the new 
pathway if no improvement was noted.

RESOLVED

(1) That the report and comments made be noted. 

(2) That a working group be established to further explore Lincolnshire's high 
exclusion rate. 

Page 10



7
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

4 MARCH 2016

64    LINCOLNSHIRE LOCAL AUTHORITY SCHOOL PERFORMANCE 2014-15

Consideration was given to a report which summarised the 2014-15 performance of 
Lincolnshire schools for the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee, 
following the release of validated performance data by the Local Authority 
Performance team on 2 February 2016. 

The Committee was informed that the report provided information on the academic 
performance of pupils in Lincolnshire schools compared with national, East Midlands 
and Lincolnshire's statistical neighbour data averages, from Early Years until the end 
of Key Stage (KS) 5.  

The Director of Programmes, CfBT Education Services, advised the Committee that 
this would be his last time presenting at the meeting.  Members thanked him for his 
support and contributions to the Committee. 

NOTE: At this stage in the proceedings, Dr E van der Zee left for the remainder of the 
meeting. 

Members were provided with the opportunity to ask questions in relation to the 
information contained within the report and some of the points raised during 
discussion included the following:

 Members expressed their concern over the slippage in academic performance 
of pupils in Lincolnshire schools, compared to Lincolnshire's statistical 
neighbours.  Further to this, it was suggested that officers engaged with 
teachers, rather than headteachers, to ascertain what the issues were and 
why they felt performance was slipping;

 Members were reminded that Lincolnshire had adopted a sector-led approach 
for the delivery of its school improvement service, which was delivered via a 
tiered approach to school improvement based on peer review.  Members were 
assured that those schools which had recently been subjected to a peer 
review had found it to be robustly challenging and had benefited from the 
process.  Members were also advised that although CfBT Education Services 
would no longer be providing the Council's School Improvement Service, there 
was a small team of Education Advisors within the County Council which 
would provide support to the sector-led school improvement service;

 A concern was raised as it was felt that the wider curriculum which included 
subjects on the arts were being phased out by Government, with more of a 
focus being placed on academic subjects.  Further to this, it was noted that 
Progress 8 could have a negative impact on smaller secondary schools, as 
they may not have capacity to offer the wider curriculum that was required;

 It was requested that more emphasis was placed on the data on looked after 
children;

 The Director of Programmes was thanked by the Committee for CfBT 
Education Services' work on the Pupil Premium;

 It was noted that some schools had chosen to be measured by Progress 8 for 
this academic year; and

Page 11



8
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
4 MARCH 2016

 One of the most significant challenges local authorities would be faced with in 
future years would be a national shortage of teachers;

 It was suggested that a working group on school performance was 
established. 

The Chairman thanked the Director of Programmes for his detailed report.

RESOLVED

(1) That the report and comments made be noted.

(2) That a working group on school performance be established.

65    PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 3 2015/16

Consideration was given to a report which provided key performance information for 
Quarter 3 2015/16, which was relevant to the work of the Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee.

The Chief Commissioning Officer – Children's presented the report to the Committee.  
In response to a question, Members were advised that the two anonymous 
complaints about an outbreak of infection in one school had related to a small 
number of children contracting tuberculosis at a school in Mablethorpe.

At this stage in the proceedings it was moved, seconded and:

RESOLVED

That in accordance with section 100(A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of 
Appendix D to the report on the grounds that if they were present there could 
be a disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended.

The Chairman invited Members of the Committee to ask questions in relation to 
Appendix D of the report and officers responded to those questions raised. 

At this stage in the proceedings it was moved, seconded and:

RESOLVED

That after the consideration of exempt information, as defined above, the 
remainder of the meeting be held in public.  

RESOLVED

That the comments made in relation to the performance information be noted.

Page 12



9
CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

4 MARCH 2016

66    CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Committee with an 
opportunity to consider its own work programme for the coming year. 

The Senior Scrutiny Officer advised Members that a report on 'Consultation on future 
provision of dedicated speech and language/primary units' had been added to the 
agenda for the meeting of the Committee on 15 April 2016.  It was noted that this 
item would also be considered by the Committee on 27 May 2016 for pre-decision 
scrutiny, prior to a decision on 10 June 2016. 

The Senior Scrutiny Officer reminded Members that there was a Progress 8 and 
Assessment Workshop following the meeting, commencing at 2.00 pm. 

RESOLVED

That subject to the inclusion of any amendments made at the meeting, the work 
programme be approved. 

The meeting closed at 1.05 pm.

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



     

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 15 April 2016 

Subject: 
Proposal to consider the future of Saltfleetby Church 
of England Primary School (Final Decision) 

 

Summary:  

This report invites the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider a report on the proposal to consider the future of Saltfleetby Church of 
England Primary School (Final Decision) which is due to be considered by the 
Executive Councillor for Adult Care and Health Services, Children's Services on 
29 April 2016. The views of the Scrutiny Committee will be reported to the 
Executive Councillor as part of her consideration of this item. 
 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To consider the attached report and to determine whether the Committee 
supports the recommendation(s) to the Executive Councillor for Adult 
Care and Health Services, Children's Services as set out in the report.   

 
(2) To agree any additional comments to be passed to the Executive 

Councillor for Adult Care and Health Services, Children's Services in 
relation to this item. 

 

 
1. Background
 
The Executive Councillor for Adult Care and Health Services, Children's Services is 
due to consider a report on the proposal to consider the future of Saltfleetby 
Church of England Primary School (Final Decision). The full report to the Executive 
Councillor is attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 
 
 
2. Conclusion
 
Following consideration of the attached report, the Committee is requested to 
consider whether it supports the recommendation(s) in the report and whether it 
wishes to make any additional comments to the Executive Councillor. The 
Committee’s views will be reported to the Executive Councillor.   
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



3. Consultation 
 

 
 

 
 

a) Policy Proofing Actions Required  
 

Not applicable 
 

 
 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report. 

Appendix 1 Report and Appendices to the Executive Councillor for Adult Care 
and Health Services, Children's Services on the Proposal to 
consider the future of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary 
School (Final Decision) 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by John O'Connor, who can be contacted on 01522 553213 
or john.c'connor@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

 

Page 16



                                                 
Executive Councillor

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services

Report to: Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell, Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care and Health Services, Children's Services

Date: 29 April 2016

Subject: Proposal to consider the future of Saltfleetby Church 
of England Primary School (Final Decision) 

Decision Reference: I010938
Key decision? Yes

Summary:

The proposal under consideration is the closure of Saltfleetby Church of England 
Primary School with effect from 31 August 2016.

The school has a PAN (Published Admission Number) of 8 with a net capacity of 
56. At the time of writing this report there were 19 pupils on roll (66% surplus 
capacity). There are 4 pupils leaving Year 6 and 1 pupil is likely to be offered a 
place to start Reception in September 2016. Therefore there are 16 pupils 
expected to be on roll at the beginning of the next academic year (71% surplus 
capacity). However, there are some parents considering moving their children to 
start at another school after Easter for the beginning of the Summer term. The 
latest figures will be provided prior to the final decision. There could be as few as 
14 on roll for September 2016 if the school remains open.

There are not enough pupils in the local area to sustain an educationally and 
financially viable primary school without relying on attracting pupils from areas 
closer to other schools, many of which already have surplus capacity. 10 pupils 
(53%) on roll at the school live closer to Saltfleetby CE Primary School than any 
other school, only 1 of which is within walking distance of the school.  9 pupils 
(47%) on roll live closer to other schools in the area.

Following careful consideration of how to secure a viable future for the school, 
the Interim Executive Board (IEB) of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary 
School made the difficult decision in September 2015 to request that the Local 
Authority (LA) start the consultation process on the proposal to close the school.

The decision of the IEB to request that the LA consult on closure was taken in the 
context of concern over the long term sustainability of the school in relation to 
being able to continue to offer quality education to pupils with the resources 
available. Low pupil numbers in the local area and the extremely low current and 
projected numbers on roll do not allow the IEB to set a balanced budget 
(projected in-year deficit of circa £30k per year based on 20 pupils on roll, leading 

Page 17



to a deficit of £75k by 2019/20) that can continue to provide the breadth and 
quality of provision that children are entitled to.

It is the LA's statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places to 
accommodate all pupils of statutory school age across the county of Lincolnshire. 
The LA must consider its duty to promote high educational standards, ensure fair 
access to educational opportunity and promote the fulfilment of every child's 
educational potential and balance this with the aim of enabling children to take up 
a school place within their local community.

The LA is co-ordinating the process following statutory guidelines published in 
The Department for Education (DfE) guide "School Organisation Maintained 
Schools Guidance for proposers and decision-makers" January 2014 (with 
attached Annex A and B) in accordance with the terms of the Education and 
Inspections Act (EIA) 2006 as updated by the Education Act 2011("the Statutory 
Framework"). 

On 28 September 2015 a six week period of consultation commenced which 
closed on 13 November 2015 and is further referred to later in this report in the 
consultation section.  A summary of written responses received is also attached in 
Appendix A.  Following the responses received and discussion with the IEB and 
Parent Group the LA extended the timescales for the process to allow more time 
to further explore options that might secure the future of the school. It also 
allowed more time for marketing and promotion of the school during the current 
admissions cycle in an attempt to increase the number of applications for a 
Reception place for September 2016 and to also increase the number of pupils on 
roll. Alternative federation options have been pursued by the school, LA, Diocese 
and CfBT. To date there has been one expression of federation interest from 
another primary school. The LA provided additional information to the interested 
school regarding the position of Saltfleetby CE Primary School and the Governing 
Body of the interested school has decided not to pursue this further.

Following the consultation period the decision was taken on 19 January 2016 to 
proceed with the publication of a Statutory Notice. This notice was published on 
10 February 2016 and initiated a four week Representation Period up to 9 March 
2016 when written objections and comments may be submitted. No responses 
were received during this period. The process is now entering the final stage 
when the LA, as decision maker, must take the final decision regarding the 
proposal within 2 months of the end of the Representation Period (by 9 May 
2016).

This report seeks to advise the Executive Councillor on making the final decision 
regarding the closure of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School. 

Recommendation(s): 
That the Executive Councillor approves the proposal to close Saltfleetby Church 
of England Primary School with effect from 31 August 2016. 

Page 18



Alternatives to Closure Considered:
1. For the LA to retain Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School as it 

is at present and not to close the school.

This alternative would have the following advantages:

 An educational site would be retained within the local community.

 Pupils on roll at the school would not have to move to another school.

 This would prevent the need to transport some children, but this number 
would be very small.

 This would avoid the need for staff redeployment and potential 
redundancies (there are 4 teaching and 5 non-teaching/support staff 
employed at the school).

However, the above alternative would have the following disadvantages:

 The school is not financially viable in the short or long term. Schools are 
not legally allowed to set a deficit budget without a realistic, viable and 
evidence based business plan showing how the situation will be reversed.

 There would remain an unacceptable level of surplus places which is 
currently 66% and is likely to increase from September 2016 or sooner.

 The school was rated by Ofsted at the last full inspection in 2012 as Good, 
however this was under the old framework and it is not likely to retain this 
grading if inspected now.

 There would be concerns over the impact on the quality of the education 
and development of the children with such small year group numbers 
which may lead to one class covering all year groups in an attempt to 
reduce costs if pupil numbers do not increase. The school currently 
operates with two classes, but improving standards would be much more 
difficult with one class and would present significant challenges in meeting 
the new National Curriculum requirements.

 With such low pupil numbers it would be extremely challenging to provide a 
wide and diverse curriculum and would limit the range of opportunities 
available for all pupils both for their academic and social development. For 
example it is difficult for such a small school to provide team game 
experiences and participation in choirs, orchestras and drama productions 
that are possible for children at larger schools. The children are therefore 
likely to receive a more rounded education in a larger local school (some of 
which will still be small rural schools, but not as small as Saltfleetby) with 
greater social interaction opportunities.

Page 19



 There are significant difficulties in attracting, recruiting and retaining high 
quality qualified teachers to a school with such low numbers and limited 
career opportunities. The current staffing structure includes a job share 
which comprises of two 0.6 full time equivalent teachers and a full-time 
teacher who solely teach at Saltfleetby. There is an Executive Headteacher 
and a member of staff employed part time in addition to the Executive 
Headteacher, who both provide leadership and management to Saltfleetby 
and Theddlethorpe. This places high demands on the Executive 
Headteacher in supporting and quality assuring staff. There is also no long-
term leadership with an interim Executive Headteacher currently in place.

 The funding required to provide ongoing support to Saltfleetby would 
represent a disproportionately high distribution of public funding and could 
have a negative impact on the distribution of funding to other local schools 
and potentially their future sustainability. Ensuring sustainability is vital in 
that it has an impact on recruiting and retaining staff of a high calibre in the 
area.

 The school will continue to be vulnerable given the number of current and 
projected primary aged pupils in the area. This continued uncertainty might 
also lead to parents seeking places at another more sustainable and 
educationally viable school, resulting in even fewer pupils on roll and 
consequently less funding as funding is directly related to the number of 
pupils on roll.

 The IEB, LA, Diocese and CfBT have pursued alternative federation 
options to enable the school to continue.  Although one initial expression of 
federation interest was received from another primary school, the 
Governing Body of the interested school has decided not to pursue this 
further.

 The other school in the federation (Theddlethorpe) will have to become an 
academy following their latest Ofsted inspection. As no sponsor has 
expressed an interest in Saltfleetby the two schools will be required to de-
federate to secure the academisation of Theddlethorpe. Saltfleetby would 
therefore become a stand-alone maintained school, putting more pressure 
on the educational offer and the financial position of the school.

2 For the Executive Councillor to approve the closure of the school with 
an implementation date of 31 August 2017.

When the consultation process commenced in September 2015 the proposal 
was to consider the closure of the school with an implementation date of 31 
August 2016. In any proposal regarding the closure of a school it is important 
that there should be no undue delay in its implementation following the 
closure decision to avoid as far as possible further negative impact on the 
pupils, their families and the local community who will already be affected by 
the closure. 

Page 20



However, it is also important that all options are fully explored and DfE 
guidance states that in the case of the closure of a rural school the decision 
maker must carefully consider any alternatives to the closure of the school.

As detailed above, in the Summary, alternative federation options have been 
pursued.  There was one initial expression of federation interest from 
another primary school, however they decided not to pursue this further.

LA Officers also contacted every Trust on the DfE approved sponsors to 
explore the possibility of Saltfleetby becoming an academy with a Multi-
Academy or Umbrella Trust.  This resulted in no positive responses.

The IEB understands that in its current form the projections indicate 
unsustainability in in the long term, both educationally and financially. 

The main purpose of delaying the implementation date would be to allow 
more time to get pupils numbers up to a sufficient level and to secure an 
academy solution. The threat of closure would still be there though and the 
decision being taken would be to close the school in August 2017 if it did not 
convert to an academy.

If there was a potential academy sponsor lined up to take the school on 
during the 2016/17 academic year then this would be a reason to consider 
delaying closure to allow for this to happen. However there has been no 
interest from an academy sponsor. It would therefore not be in the best 
interests of the pupils or staff at the school to continue for a further year 
knowing that it would close in August 2017 with no indication of a potential 
interested sponsor. It is also highly likely that the Regional Schools 
Commissioner (who is the decision maker for academy conversions) would 
not see this as a viable school to consider becoming an academy even if 
there was an interested sponsor. Delaying closure until 2017 would likely 
result in further pupils leaving, a potentially larger deficit and the possibility of 
staff leaving. There could be a significant negative impact on the education 
of the remaining pupils at the school were it to remain open for a further 
year.

Reasons for Recommendation:

 There has been a changing age profile of the rural population in recent 
years resulting in a trend towards lower numbers of families with primary 
age pupils choosing to live in small rural communities. There are no longer 
sufficient pupil numbers in the immediate area for a viable stand-alone 
school to remain educationally and financially sustainable.

 To reduce any detrimental effect on educational standards that can 
potentially occur at schools with very low numbers on roll. There are 
currently only 19 pupils on roll, projected to fall to 16 or less next academic 
year. To keep the school open would mean children continuing to attend a 
very small school and consequently placing greater demands on a small 

Page 21



number of staff to adequately deliver the full curriculum entitlement. The 
staffing structure would have to reduce further to stand any chance of 
setting a balanced budget with the current number of children on roll. 
Continued low pupil numbers will mean that the school would be unlikely to 
be able to generate the budget to maintain the high standard of education 
that all pupils are entitled to.

 To enable pupils to receive a more rounded education in a larger school 
(some of which will still be small rural schools, but not as small as 
Saltfleetby) offering greater social interaction.

 To reduce the incidence of teaching several year groups in one class and 
in groups that involve teaching across more than one Key Stage. To keep 
the school open, the low numbers on roll may require a school organisation 
based on teaching all 7 year groups within one class which is not 
considered to be in the best interests of the children, and CfBT advise that 
this would present significant challenges in meeting the requirements of the 
new National Curriculum. 

 To reduce surplus capacity in the area but still provide sufficient places to 
meet local needs and parental preference. This decrease in surplus 
capacity contributes to ensuring the provision of sustainable schools 
across the county allowing future investment to be used more effectively to 
support schools in raising standards through a more efficient use of 
resources.

 To enhance the future sustainability of the remaining primary schools in the 
local area, including other small rural schools. Ensuring sustainability is 
vital in that it has an impact on recruiting and retaining staff of a high 
calibre in the area and also attracting future investment.

 To improve value for money delivered by larger schools. Very small 
schools require a disproportionate amount of funding. The sparsely 
populated county of Lincolnshire makes it necessary to sustain small 
schools to meet the needs of local communities across wide rural areas, 
and the LA’s funding formula supports this. However, when numbers fall as 
low as they are at Saltfleetby the situation becomes unsustainable for a 
stand-alone school of this size. Schools are not legally allowed to set a 
deficit budget without a realistic medium term plan showing how the deficit 
will be turned around.

1. Background

This report is written in the context of concern over the long term sustainability of 
the school. The number of children who live local to the school is not sufficient to 
support a sustainable stand-alone primary school. 

Page 22



To remain viable the school needs to increase the NOR by attracting pupils from 
further away than what would be considered the 'natural catchment area'. There 
are currently 19 pupils on roll at the School which has a potential capacity for 56, 
leaving 66% surplus capacity. 10 pupils (53%) on roll at the school live closer to 
Saltfleetby CE Primary than any other school, only 1 of which is within walking 
distance of the school.  9 pupils (47%) on roll live closer to other schools in the 
area.

Theddlethorpe Primary School could accommodate all pupils currently on roll at 
Saltfleetby.  North Somercotes Church of England Primary School is expected to 
be able to accommodate all pupils currently on roll at Saltfleetby that would want a 
place at North Somercotes, whilst still complying with infant class size regulations.  

The admissions process for the September 2016 Reception intake received no first 
or second preference applications and only one third preference for Saltfleetby. 
One child has been offered a place at Saltfleetby for September 2016 Reception 
intake.

The latest number on roll data (as at 6th March) is shown in the table below for the 
local schools. If the school is to close then some parents may express a preference 
to a place at any school, not just the two schools named in the Statutory Notice 
(Theddlethorpe and North Somercotes):

Page 23



NHS GP registration data and LA projections (using birth data, GP registrations 
and historic pupil movement in and out of the area) indicate continued low numbers 
in future years as detailed in the tables below:

Data to show cohort size within the nearest natural catchment area for Saltfleetby 
as shown by the shaded area on the map below the tables:

Nearest School Rec 2014 Rec 2015 Rec 2016 Rec 2017 Rec 2018
Saltfleetby 4 5 4 3 4

2015 NHS GP Data

2015 LA Projections for Saltfleetby (based on actual numbers on roll and NHS GP 
data):

R Y1 Y2 Y3 Y4 Y5 Y6 Total
2015/16 4 4 1 1 3 2 4 19
2016/17 1 4 3 1 0 2 2 13
2017/18 3 1 4 3 1 0 2 14
2018/19 4 3 1 4 3 1 0 16

Page 24



The map below shows local schools and natural catchment area for Saltfleetby 
Church of England Primary School.  The schools named on the statutory notice are 
Theddlethorpe Primary School, 4.4 miles and North Somercotes Church of 
England Primary School, 5.6 miles away.

2015 LA Projections for Saltfleetby (based on historic movement from outside of 
the natural catchment):

R y1 y2 y3 y4 y5 y6 Total
2015/16 4 4 1 2 3 2 4 20
2016/17 6 4 3 1 1 2 2 19
2017/18 5 6 4 3 1 1 2 22
2018/19 5 5 6 4 3 1 1 25

*this model assumes that the school will continue to attract children that live closer to other schools

LA projections factor in recent migration trends, any new housing development in 
the local area with planning permission, ONS Birth Data and historic birth patterns 
to project future intakes based on a continuation of recent trends over the last 3 
years. They do not take into account potential changes in parental preference.

In order to secure an educationally and financially viable future it is vital that more 
pupils need to attend the school than are currently projected to do so. It is evident 
that the only way that a sufficient NOR will be achieved is by attracting more pupils 
from outside of the local area away from other schools that they live closer to.

Page 25



There is a projected in-year deficit of over £30k year on year leading to an overall 
deficit position of £74,940 by 2019/20. It should also be noted that this is based on 
there being 20 pupils on roll for the October 2016 school census. It is quite 
possible based on the current situation that there are likely to be 14 or less pupils 
on for October 2016 if the school were to remain open. 6 less pupils equates to 
over £15k lost funding on top of the figures shown below:

The following is based on the current federated structure of 2.2FTE teachers 
(including PPA time) with a 0.5 HT (non-teaching) and a shared bursar.

Updated for 16/17 Budget Share Figures

Financial Year 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20
NoR (using prior 
year October 
census) 

24 20 20 20

Year-end carry 
forward 17,806 (12,712) (43,441) (74,910)

In-year budget 
position (Income 
& Expenditure)

(14,192) (30,518) (30,729) (31,479)

2017/18: to recover this in-year deficit balance 33 pupils would be required for 
2017/18 – funding for 2017/18 is determined through the October 2016 census. 

Note: the cost difference between this model and the same structure as a stand-
alone school would be a 1 FTE HT and reduction in 0.5 FTE teaching staff (plus 
any redundancy costs).

Reaching the decision – Preliminary Considerations

The requirements for decision making relating to school organisation in LA 
Maintained schools are set out in Annex B of the guide “School Organisation 
Maintained Schools January 2014” published by the DfE.

The DfE does not prescribe the exact process which a decision maker should 
follow but the decision maker must have regard to this guidance. The decision 
maker should consider the views of those affected by the proposal and should not 
simply take account of the numbers of people expressing a view but give greatest 
weight to those stakeholders most likely to be affected and especially the parents 
of children at the school concerned.

Factors to be considered by the Decision Maker 

The Consultation and Representation Period

The Executive Councillor must be satisfied that the appropriate consultation and 
representation periods have been carried out and that all of the responses received 
have been given due consideration.

Page 26



Although there is no longer a prescribed consultation period prior to the publication 
of the Statutory Notice and Complete Proposal the DfE's guidance states "a strong 
expectation on schools and LAs to consult interested parties in developing their 
proposal prior to publication" and for proposed school closures a minimum of 6 weeks 
is recommended. The LA conducted a six week period of consultation to fulfil this 
expectation and also to operate a fair and open process and ensure all views were 
considered. A Statutory Notice (Appendix B) and Complete Proposal (Appendix C), 
initiating a four week Representation Period, were published in accordance with 
current statutory requirements.

In addition, following the written responses received in the consultation period and 
the questions and comments raised at the public meeting the LA extended the 
initial timeline for the overall process by 6 weeks to allow more time for the IEB and 
the LA to ensure all alternatives to closure were considered prior to progressing to 
the Statutory Notice stage. 

Responses submitted during both the Consultation and Representation Period 
have been made available to the Executive Councillor for consideration when 
taking the final decision and further details of these responses are provided in 
section 5 of this report (Consultation).

Education standards and diversity of provision

The Executive Councillor should consider the quality and diversity of schools in the 
area and be satisfied that the proposal will meet the aspirations of parents, 
contribute to raising local standards of provision and lead to a closing of attainment 
gaps. The Government’s aim is to create a more diverse school system offering 
excellence and choice so that every child receives an excellent education whatever 
their background and wherever they live. 

The LA has carefully considered the impact on educational standards and believes 
that the closure of the school has the potential to protect and improve educational 
standards overall. To keep the school open may have a detrimental effect in that it 
would mean children continuing to attend a very small school and consequently 
placing greater demands on a small number of staff to adequately deliver the full 
curriculum entitlement. To keep the school open, the low numbers on roll may 
require a school organisation based on teaching all 7 year groups within one class, 
which is not considered to be in the best interests of the children. 

Several schools in the local area are regarded by Ofsted as being of an equal 
'Good' standard. Standards at these schools would not be expected to be 
negatively affected by taking on pupils from Saltfleetby.  It should also be noted 
that in some cases it may have been some time since a school or schools in the 
area has been inspected so the current Ofsted rating may not be a true reflection 
of the current situation at some schools. This also applies to Saltfleetby.

As previously mentioned, the school last had an Ofsted inspection in May 2012, 
almost 4 year ago, and was judged to be 'Good' at that time. As the Ofsted 
inspection was some time ago it reflects a very different framework for inspection.  
The framework is now much more challenging and is focused on the effectiveness 

Page 27



of teaching and learning on a daily basis rather just on pupil outcomes and what 
was seen on the day of the inspection.  The school is now subject to a high level of 
external monitoring which focuses very closely on standards. Nationally there have 
been improvements in pupil performance and this has not necessarily been 
reflected across this school and therefore it is highly unlikely that the school would 
be judged good if inspected under the current framework.

Low pupil numbers in the local area and the extremely low current and projected 
numbers on roll do not allow the IEB to set a balanced budget that can continue to 
provide the breadth and quality of provision that children are entitled to. The LA 
believes that this proposal provides the best option to maintain and improve 
standards of attainment with an enhanced quality of education for current and 
future children in the area whilst maintaining diversity.

Demand

The Executive Councillor must consider the evidence presented for the need for 
places but also a decision must take into account parental preference and 
evidence of parents' aspirations for places in the locality together with the quality 
and popularity of schools in the area that have surplus capacity. The DfE 
recognises that for parental preference to work effectively there may be some 
surplus capacity in the system overall but that competition for places to be taken up 
will lead to existing schools improving standards.

As fully explained in the Background section above the number of children who live 
local to the school is not sufficient to support a sustainable stand-alone primary 
school. LA projections (using birth data, GP registrations and historic pupil 
movement in and out of the area) indicate continued low numbers in future years.

If the closure goes ahead the LA will offer all displaced pupils a place at either North 
Somercotes Church of England Primary School, Warren Road, North Somercotes, Louth, 
LN11 7QB or Theddlethorpe Primary School, Mill Road, Theddlethorpe, Mablethorpe, 
LN12 IPB.

School size

Assumptions that schools should be of a certain size to be a good school should 
not be made although the viability and cost-effectiveness of a proposal is an 
important factor in the decision-making process e.g. the impact on a LA's budget to 
provide additional funding to a small school to compensate for its size. 

Very small schools require a disproportionate amount of funding. The sparsely 
populated county of Lincolnshire makes it necessary to sustain smaller schools to 
meet the needs of local communities across wide rural areas, and the LA’s funding 
formula supports this. However, when numbers fall as low as they are at 
Saltfleetby the situation becomes unsustainable for a stand-alone school of this 
size. The school is not financially viable in the short or long term. Schools are not 
legally allowed to set a deficit budget without a realistic, evidence based medium 
term plan showing how the deficit will be turned around.

Page 28



Proposed admission arrangements

Before approving any proposal that is likely to affect admissions the LA must 
ensure that all admissions are compliant with the School Admissions Code. If the 
closure goes ahead the LA will offer all displaced pupils a place at a Lincolnshire 
school. Admission arrangements for the academic year commencing September 
2017 and subsequent intakes will be processed in accordance with the School 
Admissions Code. 

National Curriculum

All maintained schools must follow the National Curriculum unless they have 
secured an exemption. If the closure goes ahead, children will be offered places at 
alternative neighbouring schools which all currently follow the National Curriculum 
and will continue to do so. 

Equal Opportunity

The LA must have 'due regard' to the need to eliminate discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and foster good relations and should consider whether there 
are any sex, race or disability discrimination issues that arise out of the proposed 
expansion. There should be a commitment to provide access to a range of 
opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area while ensuring 
that such opportunities are open to all. 

There are no sex, race or disability discrimination issues arising from this proposal. 
The LA will continue to be committed to provide access to a range of opportunities 
which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area while ensuring that such 
opportunities are open to all. It should be noted however, that in the Key Stage 2 
class at Saltfleetby there is only 1 female pupil. The positive impact of having other 
pupils/peers of the same sex in their class if at another school should be taken into 
consideration.

Further reference is made to the LA's obligations in this regard later in this report 
under "Further legal considerations".

Community Cohesion and Community Services

The impact on the community must be considered and schools have a key part to 
play in providing opportunities for young people from different backgrounds to learn 
from and respect each other and gain an understanding of other cultures, faiths 
and communities. The decision-maker must take account of the community served 
by the school and the views of different sections of the community.

If the school closes there would be the inevitable disruption for pupils, parents and 
staff, but this would be short term. This proposal would address the issues 
surrounding a declining primary school population in an area where there are other 
appropriate schools in more densely populated areas with sufficient capacity to 
accommodate displaced pupils. The County Council believes that this proposal 
provides the best solution to addressing and meeting the long term educational 

Page 29



and social needs of the children in the area if it is not possible to sustain a viable 
school in Saltfleetby.

An educational site would no longer provide services for children and young 
people. The LA understands that the school is an important part of the community.  
Alternative community uses for the school building would be considered prior to 
any decision being made about the future of the premises.

The small size of the school limits its ability to offer a wide range of extended 
services which are likely to be more readily and widely available at neighbouring 
schools with a larger NOR. Extended services currently provided at Saltfleetby 
Church of England Primary School are already in existence at other neighbouring 
schools. Saltfleetby has an after school club for two days a week. There is one 
activity per session on offer, which ranges from sports, to gardening, cookery and 
singing.  Some children access music lessons, presently singing, at school one day 
a week. Theddlethorpe has an after school club on site one to two nights. Each 
session offers an activity ranging from sports to gardening, cookery and singing.  
Some children access recorder lessons at school one day a week.  North 
Somercotes offers a breakfast club at the school five days a week, it also offers an 
after school activities ranging from sports to craft, multi-skills and cookery.  Some 
children access music lessons, currently guitar at the school, one day a week.

The LA has a good track record of redeployment of staff and will always seek to 
avoid redundancy not only to mitigate costs but also to reduce the human costs of 
redundancy.

Travel and accessibility

The Executive Councillor should be satisfied that accessibility planning has been 
properly taken into account and that proposed changes do not adversely impact on 
disadvantaged groups. Proposals should not unreasonably extend journey times or 
increase transport costs or result in too many children being prevented from 
travelling sustainably due to unsuitable walking or cycling routes. The proposal 
should be considered on the basis of how it will support and contribute to the 
Council’s duty to promote the use of sustainable travel and transport to school. 

The LA has considered the impact on transporting pupils to other schools should 
Saltfleetby close. Many of the pupils who currently attend Saltfleetby live closer to 
other local schools and it is not expected that the closure would significantly 
increase the number of car journeys to transport children to and from school, as 
currently only one of the nineteen pupils on roll live within a safe walking distance.  
If all pupils currently on roll at Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School went 
to their nearest local school then the combined distance of all pupils would be less 
than half of what it is now. Were the school to close then transport would be 
offered according to LCC's school transport policy taking advantage of the 
established routes already in use in the area. It is not expected that costs would 

Page 30



increase significantly even if those parents who are eligible for transport chose to 
take up the offer. 

The County Council home-to-school transport policy will continue to apply - this 
provides free home-to-school transport for Lincolnshire resident pupils to their 
nearest or designated school (if it is more than 2 miles away for primary age 
pupils). In addition, arrangements will be made to allow displaced Lincolnshire 
resident children whose parents select the receiving school named above, and who 
live within the current designated transport area for Saltfleetby Church of England 
Primary School, to have free transport to either Theddlethorpe Primary School or 
North Somercotes Church of England Primary School if the school is more than 2 
miles from the family's home in accordance with the home-to-school transport 
policy.

Capital

There are no capital costs arising out of the proposed closure of the school. 
However should the school close the LA would consider alternative uses for the 
premises and the land would revert to the landowners. Should the premises be 
found to be surplus to requirements this may lead to some capital receipts. 

The buildings and the land the buildings are on belong to the Diocese. The land to 
the West of the buildings (including the playing field) belongs to the LA.

Rural Schools

The School is listed in the Designation of Rural Primary Schools (England) Order. 
2012 (as amended 2015) and is therefore is within the designation of "rural" 
school. Under current DfE guidance there is a presumption against the closure of 
rural schools. This does not mean that a rural school will never close, but that the 
case should be strong and a proposal clearly in the best interests of educational 
provision in the area. In order to consider the proposal to close the school the LA 
has paid particular attention to the following points:-

 The likely effect of the closure of the school on the local community:

The school currently provides places for only 10 pupils from the local community 
(as shown by the shaded area in the map on page 8), only 1 of which is within 
walking distance of the school.  The school is located centrally in the Saltfleetby 
area but due to the rural nature of Saltfleetby it is not located in a village centre. 
The LA understands that the school is regarded by the local community as an 
important facility and members of the local community believe it would have a 
negative impact if the school were to close. The LA would work with the local 
community to try to ensure any negative impact on the community from the loss of 
the school would be mitigated through partnership working with other services and 
schools in the area to reduce any negative impact on community cohesion were 
the school to close. 

Page 31



 Educational standards at the school and the likely effect on standards at 
neighbouring schools:

The closure of a school can potentially reduce extended services on offer. 
However, in this case, the small size of the school limits its ability to offer a wide 
range of extended services which are more readily and widely available at 
neighbouring schools with a larger NOR. It is also challenging to demonstrate the 
impact on educational standards with such a small cohort. In their current school 
pupils are required to mix across multiple year groups. Several schools in the local 
area are regarded by Ofsted as being of an equal 'Good' standard. Standards at 
these schools would not be expected to be negatively affected by taking on pupils 
from Saltfleetby. It should also be noted that in some cases it may have been 
some time since a school or schools in the area has been inspected so the current 
Ofsted rating may not be a true reflection of the current situation at some schools. 
This also applies to Saltfleetby.

The LA has carefully considered the impact on educational standards and believes 
that the closure of the school has the potential to protect and improve educational 
standards. To keep the school open may have a detrimental effect in that it would 
mean children continuing to attend a very small school and consequently placing 
greater demands on a small number of staff to adequately deliver the full 
curriculum entitlement. To keep the school open, the low numbers on roll may 
require a school organisation based on teaching all 7 year groups within one class, 
which is not considered to be in the best interests of the children. 

 The availability, and likely cost to the LA, of transport to other schools and 
any increase in the use of motor vehicles which is likely to result from the 
closure of the school, and the likely effect of any such increase:

The LA has considered the impact on transporting pupils to other schools should 
Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School close. 47% (9) of the pupils who 
currently attend Saltfleetby live closer to other local schools and it is not expected 
that the closure would significantly increase the number of car journeys to transport 
children to and from school, as currently only one of the nineteen pupils on roll live 
within walking distance. Were the school to close then transport would be offered 
according to LCC's school transport policy taking advantage of the established routes 
already in use in the area. It is not expected that costs would increase significantly 
even if those parents who are eligible for transport, chose to take up the offer. 

 Any alternatives to the closure of the school:

The Interim Executive Board, supported by the LA, has pursued potential alternatives 
to closure but an alternative federation or academy solution has not yet been found 
and the numbers have remained low. Following the request of the Interim Executive 
Board to commence the closure process and comments raised during consultation 
the LA has given further consideration to all potential alternatives to closure. 
Alternative federation options have been pursued by the school, LA, Diocese and 
CfBT.  To date there has been one expression of federation interest from another 

Page 32



primary school. The LA provided additional information to the interested school 
regarding the position of Saltfleetby CE Primary School and the Governing Body of 
the interested school has decided not to pursue this further.

Further legal considerations

Equality Act 2010 

Apart from its obligations to consider the statutory guidance referred to the Council 
also has obligations under the Equality Act 2010 which must be taken into account 
by the Executive when coming to a decision.  
 
The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:

(1) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct 
that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 2010

(2) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. This involves having 
regard to the need to:- 

 remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant characteristic that are connected to that characteristic

 take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it.

 encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low.

(3) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it: Equality Act 2010 s 149(1). The 
relevant protected characteristics are age; disability; gender reassignment; 
pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation: section 
149(7). This involves having due regard to the need to tackle prejudice and 
promote understanding.

The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different 
from the needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular, steps to take 
account of disabled persons' disabilities.

Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others.

A reference to conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act includes a reference 
to:

(a)     A breach of an equality clause or rule
(b)     A breach of a non-discrimination rule

Page 33



It is important that the Executive is aware of the special duties the Council owes to 
persons who have a protected characteristic as the duty cannot be delegated and 
must be discharged by the Executive.  The duty applies to all decisions taken by 
public bodies including policy decisions and decisions on individual cases and 
includes this decision. 

To discharge the statutory duty the Executive must analyse all the relevant material 
with the specific statutory obligations in mind.  If a risk of adverse impact is 
identified consideration must be given to measures to avoid that impact as part of 
the decision making process. 

The LA is well aware of the potential negative impact that may arise out of the 
closure of the school and this is considered more fully in the Impact Assessment 
(Appendix D) together with measures that could be taken in mitigation. However, 
the impact of closure would be felt by all the pupils and all local children and their 
parents, the community and all staff, and would not discriminate against anyone 
sharing a relevant protected characteristic. The Council believes that this proposal 
will not lead to any discrimination and that in recommending the proposal the 
Council is having due regard to its obligations under The Equality Act. 

Child Poverty Strategy

The Council is under a duty in the exercise of its functions to have regard to its 
Child Poverty Strategy.  Child poverty is one of the key risk factors that can 
negatively influence a child’s life chances. Children that live in poverty are at 
greater risk of social exclusion which, in turn, can lead to poor outcomes for the 
individual and for society as a whole.

In Lincolnshire we consider that poverty is not only a matter of having limited 
financial resources but that it is also about the ability of families to access the 
means of lifting themselves out of poverty and of having the aspiration to do so. 
The following four key strategic themes form the basis of Lincolnshire’s Child 
Poverty strategy: Economic Poverty, Poverty of Access, Poverty of Aspiration and 
Best Use of Resources.

The closure of the school would support the strategy as follows:-

 By reducing any detrimental effect on educational standards that can 
potentially occur at schools with very low numbers on roll.  The LA believes that the 
proposal provides the best option to maintain and improve the quality of 
educational provision that all children are entitled to. This is likely to improve their 
sense of achievement which in turn can improve personal aspiration.

 The closure would avoid a disproportionately high distribution of funding into 
one school resulting in a better use of resources to the benefit of all the children of 
Lincolnshire.

Page 34



  The closure of the school and consequent reduction in surplus capacity in 
the area will contribute to the future sustainability of other local schools to the 
benefit of all children within the locality.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Health & Well Being Strategy

The Lincolnshire JSNA identifies a number of needs that directly relate to young 
people. (Be Healthy; Stay Safe; Enjoy and Achieve; Positive Contribution; Achieve 
Economic Wellbeing). 

The Lincolnshire Health & Well Being Strategy includes five main themes, with an 
additional theme of "mental health" running throughout the document. The planned 
service provision in the county supports the themes of Promoting healthier 
lifestyles; Improving health and social outcomes for children and reducing 
inequalities; and Tackling the social determinants of health.

The closure of the school would support both the JSNA strategy and the 
Lincolnshire Health & Well Being Strategy as follows:-

 The children are likely to benefit from a more rounded education in a larger 
school with greater social interaction. 

 The small size of the school limits its ability to offer a wide range of 
extended services which are likely to be more available at schools with more 
pupils on roll and which the children will benefit from.

 This in turn will enable the children to potentially achieve higher standards of 
attainment and promote the fulfilment of each child's potential. This will 
assist in improving their sense of achievement which in turn can improve 
personal aspiration.

 Factors which support children reaching their full potential will also promote 
their ability to achieve economic well-being and the positive contribution 
they can make.

2. Conclusion

The final decision is required from the Executive Councillor to determine whether to 
support the recommendation within this report. 

The reasons on which the final decision is based are detailed earlier in this report 
in the “Reasons for Recommendations” section. The factors to consider in 
making this decision are within this report and all valid written responses received 
during consultation (summarised in Appendix A) and the Representation Period 
(see section 5 Consultation for further details) must be considered.

The LA believes that this recommendation is made in the best interests of local 
children and local parents as well as educational provision in the area whilst also 
enabling the LA to fulfil its statutory duty of ensuring that there are sufficient places 
to accommodate all pupils of statutory school age in Lincolnshire.

Page 35



3. Legal Comments:

The Council has the power in accordance with the statutory provisions to propose 
the closure set out in the Report subject to following the statutorily prescribed 
process including all consultation requirements. In arriving at the recommendation 
a non-statutory consultation process has been undertaken which has taken into 
account statutory guidance. The Executive Councillor must take into consideration 
all matters which are required by the Statutory Framework in particular those 
considerations specific to rural schools and the consultation responses must be 
conscientiously taken into account in reaching a decision. 

The Executive Councillor must also take into account the duty under Section 149 
of The Equality Act 2010 (the public sector equality act) in reaching a decision on 
the proposal.
 
It would be lawful for the Executive Councillor to make a decision in accordance 
with the recommendation.

The proposal is consistent with the Policy Framework and within the remit of the 
Executive Councillor.

4. Resource Comments:

Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School is not a financially viable school 
when considering the current pupil numbers and those projected in the future. 
Modelling a best-case scenario shows an in-year deficit occurring of £0.030m p.a. 
from 2016/17 and each year thereafter. Schools with very low pupil numbers 
create a higher than average cost per pupil, which does not represent the best 
use of resources for Lincolnshire’s Dedicated Schools Grant.

Schools are not legally allowed to set a deficit budget without a realistic and 
evidence based business plan. A decision to delay or not close the school closure 
would result in the school going into an irrecoverable overspend position, which 
would then likely fall to the Local Authority to meet this liability.  

5. Consultation

In order for the school to close the LA must follow the necessary statutory legal 
processes as required by the Secretary of State in accordance with the EIA 2006, 
the Education Act 2011 and the guidance of the DfE regarding expansion 

Under these guidelines the LA must ensure that sufficient time and information are 
provided for people to understand and form a view on the proposal and make a 
response. Under the DfE guidelines which came into effect in January 2014 there 
is no longer a prescribed consultation period for proposed school closures although 
a minimum of 6 weeks is recommended. To comply with this the LA has conducted 
an six week period of consultation.  Any documentation issued must set out the 
problem that is being addressed and invite comment on one or more solutions. The 

Page 36



LA must explain the decision making process and take all reasonable steps to 
draw the proposal to the attention of all those who might be interested and take 
into account their views. 

The guidance issued by the DfE in January 2014 states that in the case of the 
closure of a rural primary school the parents of current pupils and the local district 
and parish councils where the school is situated must be consulted. The guidance 
also lists who should be consulted in connection with all proposed school closures. 
The list of interested parties was therefore compiled according to these principles 
comprising as wide a range of consultees as practicable to ensure that all 
interested parties were included and incorporated parents of current pupils and the 
Chief Executive of the District Council as well as individual County, District and 
Parish Councillors as appropriate.

Guidance requires current pupils to be consulted and all of the children on roll were 
given the opportunity to discuss the potential closure of their school. The children 
were encouraged to consider the things they love about their school, and the things 
they would miss if the school closed.  The overall view expressed by the children 
was that their school was special and they hoped it would not close despite the 
proposals.  The pupils particularly highlighted the facilities available at the school 
and the number and variety of school trips.

A letter incorporating relevant information and reasons for the proposal was sent 
out to interested parties on 28 September 2015 to commence a six week period of 
consultation. A public meeting was held at Marshlands Village Hall, Saltfleetby on 5 
October to provide more detail about the proposal and enable parents and all 
interested parties to ask questions and raise concerns. Notes were taken at this 
meeting and are attached as Appendix E. There was the opportunity to provide a 
response to the consultation by letter, email or by returning the response form 
attached to the consultation document by 13 November 2015. Copies of the letter 
commencing consultation and the response form were also published on the 
County Council website under the webpage "Current Consultations" on 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation 

All written responses received during consultation have been provided to the 
Executive Councillor for consideration and further details are confirmed in this 
report in Appendix A. To briefly summarise; there were 39 valid responses in total, 
with 1 in favour, 37 against the proposal and a further 1 response which was 
neither for nor against the proposal.  Responses were received from 10 parents of 
current pupils all of which were against the proposal; this group formed the largest 
number of individual responses received.

Many of the responses against the proposal believed the consultation for potential 
closure was short-sighted as it is their understanding that pupil numbers had 
previously dropped as low and they believe given time the pupils on roll could 
increase.  Several believe that the Headteacher and IEB have been unsupportive 
and ineffective in trying to attract new pupils to the school.  Many responses also 
prefer the small mixed classes at Saltfleetby and state the education provision is 
excellent as the school focuses on the individual needs of each child.

In addition to these responses two petitions have been submitted against the 
proposed closure of Saltfleetby CE Primary School, with a total of 535 signatures.  

Page 37

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


Original copies of the petitions can be viewed by Members by contacting 
Democratic Services. Petitions must be considered in the light of DfE guidance that 
the greatest weight should be given to representations from those stakeholders 
most likely to be directly affected by the proposals rather than simply taking 
account of the numbers of people expressing a particular view. The petitions do not 
confirm the area of interest that each signature represents and therefore it is 
difficult to assess whether the opinions are those of stakeholders that should be 
given the greatest consideration.

The letter giving details of the consultation process incorporated the following 
details of the anticipated timeline:-

STAGE 1 STAGE 2* STAGE 3* STAGE 4* STAGE 5*
Consultation

6 Weeks
Publication of Statutory 

Notice
Representation Period

4 Weeks
Final LA 
Decision Implementation

28 September – 13 
November

December 2015 December – January 2016 March 2016 31 August 2016

*These stages may only take place if a decision is taken to progress beyond the current stage. The process could be 
stopped at any stage. Please also note that the dates/months shown (other than for Stage 1) are for indicative purposes only 
and may be pushed back if required.

However, following the written responses received in the consultation period the LA 
delayed stages 2 and 3 as above by approximately 6 weeks to allow more time to 
further explore options that might secure the future of the school prior to 
progressing to the next stage. If the process continues through stages 2 and 3, the 
Statutory Notice (Stage 2) is likely to be published in February 2016 and the final 
decision (Stage 4) is likely to be taken in April 2016

This extension of the process has:-

1. Given the IEB opportunity to develop a working relationship with the newly 
founded Parent Group to enable them to work together in the best interests 
of the school.  

2. Allowed extra time for the IEB and Parent Group to market the school to 
prospective pupils and parents.  The delay by approximately 6 weeks 
allowed the closing date for Reception 2016 applications to pass before the 
decision was made on whether to progress to the next stage.   

3. Enabled LA officers to contact East Lindsey schools and academies situated 
within a 30 mile radius of Saltfleetby seeking a federation opportunity.  To 
date there has been one expression of federation interest from another 
primary school. The LA provided additional information to the interested 
school regarding the position of Saltfleetby CE Primary School and the 
Governing Body of the interested school has decided not to pursue this 
further.

Following the completion of the consultation period and the extension to the 
original timescales all feedback was considered with a full report (which is referred 
to in the Background Papers section below and will also be re-considered along 
with this report) by the Executive Councillor and a decision was taken on 19 
January to proceed to Statutory Notice. A statutory 4 week Representation Period 
was entered into on 10 February 2016 commencing with the publication of the 
Statutory Notice (Appendix B) in the local press, on the Lincolnshire County 

Page 38



Council's website and at the school gates. The Complete Proposal, available in 
paper and electronic format (Appendix C) to which the Statutory Notice refers, was 
sent to interested parties as detailed in the statutory guidance and was also 
published on Lincolnshire County Council's website under the webpage 'Current 
Consultations' at www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation.

The Representation Period provides a further opportunity for people and 
organisations to express their views and ensure that they are taken into account 
when the final decision is taken. No responses were received.

Under current legislation the LA is the decision maker for the proposal and is co-
ordinating the statutory process before making a final decision in April. The LA, as 
decision maker, must be able to show that all relevant issues raised are taken into 
consideration in the decision making process. Points raised can be considered 
unpersuasive but must not be ignored altogether.

The last stage of the statutory process would be the implementation of the 
proposal with the closure of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School with 
effect from 31 August 2016.

a)  Has Local Member Been Consulted?
Yes, the local member has been made aware of the proposal to close Saltfleetby 
Church of England Primary School.

b)  Has Executive Councillor Been Consulted? 
Yes, the Executive Councillor has been involved in the discussions regarding the 
proposal to close Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School.

c)  Scrutiny Comments
The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee will meet on 15 April 2016 to 
consider this report regarding the future of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary 
School (final decision).

The comments of the Committee to be included here when known.

d)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
An Impact Assessment has been completed and is attached to this report as 
Appendix D.

6. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report

Appendix A Summary of written responses from interested parties during 
consultation

Appendix B Statutory Notice
Appendix C Complete Proposal
Appendix D Impact Equality Assessment
Appendix E Notes from the public consultation meeting

Page 39

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


7. Background Papers

Document title Where the document can be viewed
Report on the Proposal to 
consider the future of 
Saltfleetby Church of 
England Primary School 
(decision to go to Statutory 
Notice)

Lincolnshire County Council Committee Records 
Reference I010051 19 January 2016

The DfE guide "School 
Organisation Maintained 
Schools Guidance for 
proposers and decision-
makers" January 2014; 
letter to commence  the 
operator selection process; 
list of interested parties;  
blank response form; 

All available on request from the School 
Organisation Planning Team, Children's Services

Individual consultation 
responses

Individual responses available to be viewed by the 
decision maker. Content of responses anonymised 
and summarised in Appendix A.

This report was written by John O'Connor, who can be contacted on 01522 553213 
or john.o'connor@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 40

mailto:john.o'connor@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

Written Responses in the Consultation Period on the proposed closure of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School
Point of View Supports 

Proposal

Against 

Proposal 

Not For or 

Against  

Other comments/Notes

Parent/Carer Y I am against this proposal because my child attends this school.

Other Y My child does not attend Saltfleetby Primary.

Parent/Carer Y

Other Y Decided with reluctance that the proposed closure was the way forward due to the educational rational 

and financial constraints.

Employer/Business Y Short sighted, history of fluctuating numbers.  School would not be in this position if IEB had taken on 

concerns.  School could survive if it defederates and employs a teaching Head.  

Other Y Flawed project, pupils encouraged to leave and attend Theddlethorpe.  Needs to be an investigation 

into conduct, situation has been abused.  Could be concluded there is personal gain.  Until these are 

refuted or proven it is impossible for closure to be pursued.

Parent/Carer Y Numbers fallen before but never been at risk.  Proposal short-sighted planning wise, will exacerbate 

rural deprivation. Needs good leadership/reputation to increase numbers.  Village is increasing in size.  

IEB failed, not given school a chance, no advertisement, maintenance & preschool closed.  Head is 

hardly at school.  Struggle to increase numbers when public knowledge. Children left as unhappy.  Hard 

Theddlethope federation failed.  School needs working Head.  Saltfleetby's numbers fell when it 

federated, especially when Theddlethorpe received a poor Ofsted.  Will affect house prices.  Child 

thrived at Saltfleetby.

Other Y Rated as "Good".  Heart of the community.  Homes being build in wider area.  School is nurturing, 

especially for SEN children.  Many choose the school because of its small size.  100% pass rate for the 

11+ in 2 years, proves that the school is serving needs.  In January 2015 the IEB reassured parents the 

school was not at risk, no suggestion that this decision had changed until 28 Sept 2015. Concerns as to 

whether marketing and alternatives, such as academisation, have been examined.  Would like time to 

mount a campaign to increase numbers. Concerns transparency.  

Other Y Head/Governing Body promised to improve things, now half the GB has resigned.  Head is spending 

majority of time at Theddlethorpe, as did previous Head.  School let down by GB/Head should be 

'Outstanding'.  Saltfleetby hasn't been given a fair chance.

P
age 41



Parent/Carer Y Good in last two Ofsteds. Teaching is good, staff loved, children flourish in small classes.  Many travel to 

the school.  100% 11+ pass rate for two years.  Lack of communication to parents.  IEB stated school was 

not at risk, surprise when proposed closure was announced.  Meeting requested with Head/IEB since 

May.  2 days eviction notice given to pre school on last day of term, pre school requested extra time to 

relocate, no reply received.  Requested to lease a port-a-cabin from Diocese/LA since Jan '15.  Pre school 

provided 8 children over past two years.  Public meeting condensed notes published, not all comments 

about pre school recorded.  IEB setting up parent forum, one joint schools meeting a month will not 

provide the speed required.  March IEB stated it would advertise for a shadow GB, no follow up.  Lack of 

transparency; no mention in IEB minutes about advertising, de-federation, academisation, NOR.   Have 

all options been considered, are finances accurate? There's surplus budget & further viability.  Closure 

will have a devastating effect; school is the heart of the community & could cause families not to move 

to area.  Numbers have gone as low as they are now and high as 70.  Businesses could be effected.  

Notified today that IEB Chair resigned.  Consultation should be stopped to allow chance to increase 

NOR.

Resident Y Great school.  School is part of community and focal point of village.  Closing the school would 

drastically change my life and my the life of last child, who adores the school.

Parent/Carer Y Children attended since 1999. School previously been in special measures and NOR dropped to 27, 

school was turned around within a term.  No offer to market school before consultation meeting.  

School financially viable for 2 years, sensible to give marketing campaign a chance.  Could allow new IEB 

Chair more time to  explore all options. School enabled my children to do well, gain confidence and 

cope with secondary.  Teachers know children individually which encourages them to perform better.  

The children interact with all age groups.

Parent/Carer Y Provides a very good level of education and relationship with teachers.  The present Headteacher (who I 

have never seen) and IEB are failing the school.

Other Family Y Excellent school and teaching.  Smaller school promotes social interaction between all ages.  Teachers 

encourage development beyond age group, working with other years.  School is a valuable part of 

community.  Advertising will increase numbers, as in the past.  Believe the school needs better 

leadership to develop further.

Pupil Y Teachers are really good. I have lots of friends.  Would be really upset if the school closes.

Other Family Y Attended the school, teaching was/is brilliant.  Sibling is a current pupil who enjoys attending a small 

friendly school.  Enjoyment is important, enhances willingness to learn, can't see it being achieved 

anywhere else.  I attended the meeting with the IEB, straight answers were not given to questions, I 

believe more could be done to save the school.

Pupil Y Lots of friends at school and like my teachers and they help me with my work.  We have a library, a 

massive field, a turquoise gazebo and an obstacle course.  We learn lots and learn about Romans, 

Victorians and I'm enjoying it.

P
age 42



Pupil Y I have a lot of friends there and we have a green gazebo, library and obstacle course.  I learn lots.  It will 

also affect the village.  This school has been here 166 years.

Other Family Y Village isn't a village without a school.  A new school could be overwhelming for children.  Teaching is 

excellent, teachers help and support.  This gives children a positive look at education.  Teachers teach 

with equality, no matter their learning abilities.  I had a great time at Saltfleetby.  The school brings 

everyone closer in the community.  The impact Saltfleetby makes on pupils is amazing.

Other Y Teachers are supportive and kind.  It has a green gazebo and sunshine library.  This amazing school has 

an obstacle course.  If it closes down Saltfleetby will become a hamlet and affect the citizens.  It will stop 

people moving here.  It has been around for 166 years.  

Pupil Y Like small class sizes  Children work with other year groups, which wouldn't happen in another school.

Resident Y My child did so well, with good teaching she went onto secondary school and college.  Child's career 

prospects is down to a good start at this school, six years of training to be a good person now seems to 

be wasted. 

Pupil Y I like being in a small school and I have lots of friends there.  The teachers are nice and I like learning in 

small groups. 

Parent/Carer Y Small family school. Small mixed class sizes gives children opportunity to work at their ability not just 

their year group, which challenges/encourages, children thrive, teaching is excellent. Ideal environment 

for quiet children.  Let down by Head/IEB, little communication, events cancelled & lack of assemblies. 

Families left as they requested meetings, written letters and not got answers.  A parent was shown 

Theddlethorpe when requesting Saltfleetby.  No hints about issues with the pre-school  or concerns 

over the future.  Pre-school has provided approximately four children each year. Head/IEB not tried to 

rectify falling pupil numbers.  Parents/pre-school would have helped advertise the school.   Led to 

believe that IEB would elect a GB to shadow them.  Financially viable until at least April 2017, lifting the 

proposal would give time to increase pupil numbers. Other viable options to explore; defederation & 

teaching Head.  Closure would have a detrimental effect on the village. Not many free places at local 

schools. There is a large housing estate of 56 houses that are planned to be built in Grimoldby/Manby 

and possibly some in Saltfleet. 

P
age 43



Parent/Carer Y Chose Saltfleetby due to size and family environment, have not been disappointed. Our children 

perform beyond expected levels; reflecting high quality of teaching & facilities.  Closure would have 

negative impact. Children will not get the same standard of teaching.  Long term effect on the village, 

with no school the likelihood of young families wanting to live in the village will be low, could put  

facilities at risk.  Numbers fluctuated before. If parents had been reassured many children may have 

stayed; they did not move due to the standard of teaching. Numbers are low, they could improve. 

Neighbouring schools are almost at capacity, planning permission has been granted for almost 100 

houses nearby.  Number of ideas need to be explored, such as teaching Head, advertising and nursery 

reopening.

Other Family Y Grandchildren attend. Encouragement and learning very beneficial. Small school so teachers have time 

to spend with children. Was a happy caring school until loss of Head, numbers dwindle since he left. I do 

not feel a CE school should be in the hands of a non CE Head. School should be promoted .  Nursery will 

bring in pupils for the school.

Other Family Y Vital small CE schools should be allowed to survive.  Grandchildren attend, would like good Christian 

education to continue. If the village population increases numbers may rise.

Other Y School rated good on last two Ofsteds.  Good quality of teaching, children flourish in small classes.  

100% pass mark for the 11+ in past two years, an excellent achievement.  Changes IEB members not 

conducive to continuity.  IEB stated the school was not at risk of closure in Jan. Sept announced 

proposed closure, shows lack of communication to resolve/improve issues.  IEB have finally 

acknowledged benefit of working with parents, parent forum being set up for both school.  Feel the IEB 

is not working positively towards maintaining school.  Behaviour from all sides appears to have pushed 

children to other schools.  Secrecy leads to suspect the LA is merely going through the motions.  Closure 

would have devastating effect, closure to Saltfleetby/Mablethorpe would mean young children will have 

distance to travel.  School heart of village for 165 years. Families will not move to the village if  school 

closed.   
Other Y Education is outstanding, my child did extremely well.  No effort being put into the school from 

Head/IEB to keep it open. Music, parent assemblies , sports day, camping night and regular trips out 

cancelled.  Parents attempt to speak to Head/IEB Chair about concerns.  No 

communication/reassurance about efforts to keep school open/attract new pupils. Feel they were 

brought in to close school.
Teacher/School Staff Y Special atmosphere, children well-behaved, enjoying their learning.  Supportive parents.  A wide 

curriculum is provided by experienced, knowledgeable teaching staff.  

Teacher/School Staff Y Lovely school with family atmosphere.   Parents are very supportive and involved in activities.  Strong 

PTA.  Previous fluctuation in numbers, maybe a temporary low point.  Loved school & part of 

community.

P
age 44



Parent/Carer Y Excellent school with fantastic teacher. Larger school would not meet my child's needs, fortunate to find 

a small, family friendly and loving Christian school.   If school closes young families will not want to 

move here, community will suffer, a church left with no parish.  Short sighted. 

Parent/Carer Y Chose school because of size, family feel and friendly environment.  My children are shy and have 

additional needs, being in a small school has helped, they've developed confidence.  Worried about 

large classes in alternative schools.  IEB/Head have not done anything to increase numbers.  Pre-school 

evicted.  All children who have sat the 11+ in the past two years have passed. 

Other Family Y Grandchildren attending.  Their education has been brilliant.  Always a warm welcome.

Other Family Y Grandchildren attended.  Enjoyed school and done really well.

Other Family Y I attended as did my family.  Wonderful village school, dedicated teachers who achieve high results.  

Family members passed 11+.  Not impressed by the acting Head.  School would increase numbers with 

advertising.  

Other Family Y Family attended, achieved fantastic grades.

Other Family Y Family attended , done extremely well & achieved fantastic grades.

Other Family Y Plus factors; results, fantastic teaching staff and facilities.  Problem is falling numbers, not encouraging 

increased pupil numbers, attitude does not instil confidence.  

Petition Y Petition 1; Petition to Stop the Proposed Closure of Salfleetby C.E. Primary School.  147 signatures.

Petition Y Petition 2; Change.org, Saltfleetby Parents Action Group, Stop the Proposed Closure of Saltfleetby C.E. 

Primary School.  388 signatures, 137 of which commented.

P
age 45



0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Supports
Proposal

Against
Proposal

Not For or
Against

Consultation Responses Overview 

Consultation Responses Overview 

Supports
Proposal

Against
Proposal

Not For or
Against

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Key Noted Reasons Given 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Responding Consultees 

P
age 46



APPENDIX B

Statutory Notice to Propose to Discontinue Saltfleetby Church of England Primary 
School

Notice is given in accordance with section 15(1) of the Education and Inspections Act 2006 
that Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ proposes to 
discontinue Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School, Main Road, Saltfleetby, Louth, 
LN11 7SN on 31 August 2016.

If the closure goes ahead the Local Authority will offer all displaced pupils a place at either 
North Somercotes Church of England Primary School, Warren Road, North Somercotes, 
Louth, LN11 7QB or Theddlethorpe Primary School, Mill Road, Theddlethorpe, 
Mablethorpe, LN12 IPB.

The County Council home-to-school transport policy will continue to apply - this provides 
free home-to-school transport for pupils to their nearest or designated school (if it is more 
than 2 miles away for primary age pupils). In addition, arrangements will be made to allow 
displaced children whose parents select a receiving school named above, and who live 
within the current designated transport area for Saltfleetby Church of England Primary 
School, to have free transport to North Somercotes Church of England Primary School or 
Theddlethorpe Primary School if the school is more than 2 miles from the family's home.

This Notice is an extract from the complete proposal. Copies of the complete proposal with 
further detail can be obtained by writing to: School Organisation Planning Team, Children's 
Services, Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, Lincoln LN1 1YQ or by calling 
01522 553392 or by emailing schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk or under "Current 
Consultations" via www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation

Within four weeks from the date of publication of this proposal, any person may object to or 
make comments on the proposal by sending them to School Organisation Planning, 
Children's Services, Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, Lincoln LN1 1YQ or by 
emailing schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Further details on the consultation which has led to this proposal can be accessed on-line 
under "Current Consultations" via www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation

Signed: Debbie Barnes
Executive Director of Children’s Services
Lincolnshire County Council

Publication Date: 10 February 2016

Page 47

../../../../../../../Jessica.Stevens/AppData/Roaming/OpenText/OTEdit/EC_IMP/c28006217/schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation
../../../../../../../Jessica.Stevens/AppData/Roaming/OpenText/OTEdit/EC_IMP/c28006217/schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C

Complete Proposal 

to Discontinue 

Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School

MATTERS TO BE SPECIFIED IN SECTION 15 OF THE EDUCATION AND 
INSPECTIONS ACT 2006

 PROPOSALS TO DISCONTINUE A SCHOOL

10 February 2016

Page 49



APPENDIX C

Contact details

This proposal is published by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ regarding the potential closure of Saltfleetby Church of 
England Primary School, Main Road, Saltfleetby, Louth, LN11 7SN. The school is a 
Voluntary Controlled school maintained by the Local Authority (LA). 

Implementation

The proposal is to discontinue Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School with 
effect from 31 August 2016.

Objectives and reason for closure

The proposal detailed in this document is to discontinue Saltfleetby Church of 
England Primary School with effect from 31 August 2016 and is not related to any 
other school organisation proposal. LAs are under a statutory duty to ensure that 
there are sufficient school places in their area, promote high educational standards, 
ensure fair access to educational opportunity and promote the fulfilment of every 
child’s educational potential whilst at the same time meeting the aim of enabling 
children to take up a school place within their local community.  To help the LA 
meet these duties and restructure local provision they have the power to close all 
categories of maintained schools. The objective of this proposal is to safeguard and 
protect the standard of provision of primary education for pupils currently attending 
Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School and for children in the area. This 
proposal considers the discontinuance of the school to be in the best interests of 
local children and educational provision in the area. It reinforces the priorities in the 
Children and Young People’s Plan and supports the Council’s aim of ensuring that 
as many children as possible can reach their full potential.

Following careful consideration of how to secure a viable future for the school, the 
Interim Executive Board (IEB) of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School made 
the difficult decision to request that the LA start the consultation process on the 
proposal to close the school. The decision of the IEB to request that the LA consult 
on closure has been taken in the context of concern over the long term sustainability 
of the school in relation to being able to continue to offer quality education to pupils 
with the resources available. Low pupil numbers in the local area and the extremely 
low current and projected numbers on roll do not allow the IEB to set a balanced 
budget that can continue to provide the breadth and quality of provision that children 
are entitled to.

The Statutory Notice has been published to propose the discontinuance of Saltfleetby 
Church of England Primary School for the following reasons:-

 To comply with the wishes of the Interim Executive Board. 

 A changing age profile of the rural population in recent years resulting in a 
trend towards lower numbers of families with primary age pupils choosing to 
live in small rural communities. There are no longer sufficient pupil numbers in 
the immediate area for a viable school to remain educationally and financially 
sustainable.

Page 50



APPENDIX C

 To reduce any detrimental effect on educational standards that can potentially 
occur at schools with very low numbers on roll. To keep the school open would 
mean children continuing to attend a very small school and consequently place 
greater demands on a small number of staff to adequately deliver the full 
curriculum entitlement. The staffing structure would have to reduce further to 
stand a chance of setting a balanced budget with the current number of 
children on roll. Continued low pupil numbers will mean that the school would 
be unlikely to be able to generate the budget to maintain the high standard of 
education that all pupils are entitled to. 

 To enable pupils to receive a broad and balanced education in a larger school 
offering greater social interaction.

 To reduce the incidence of teaching several year groups in one class and in 
groups that involve teaching across more than one Key Stage. To keep the 
school open, the low numbers on roll may require a school organisation based 
on teaching all 7 year groups within one class in the future, which is not 
considered to be in the best interests of the children or the staff and increases 
the risk to pupils' education through teacher absence.

 To reduce surplus capacity in the area but still provide sufficient places to meet 
local needs and parental preference. This decrease in surplus capacity 
contributes to ensuring the provision of sustainable schools across the county 
allowing future investment to be used more effectively to support schools in 
raising standards. If the school were to remain open there would be an 
unacceptable level of surplus places which is currently at 66% (19 pupils on 
roll with the capacity for 56) and may possibly increase in September 2016 
with more pupils leaving Year 6 than starting in Reception.

 To enhance the future sustainability of the remaining primary schools in the 
local area. Ensuring sustainability is vital in that it has an impact on recruiting 
and retaining staff of a high calibre in the area and also attracting future 
investment.

 To improve value for money delivered by larger schools. Very small schools 
require a disproportionate amount of funding. The sparsely populated county 
of Lincolnshire makes it necessary to sustain smaller schools to meet the 
needs of local communities across wide rural areas, and the LA’s funding 
formula supports this. However, when numbers fall as low as they are at 
Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School the situation becomes 
unsustainable for a stand-alone school of this size. Schools are not legally 
allowed to set a deficit budget without a realistic medium term plan showing 
how the deficit will be turned around.

 To enable the process to continue to the next stage and allow a further 
opportunity for people and organisations to express their views about the 
proposal and ensure that they will be taken into account by the Executive 
Councillor prior to the final decision being taken. This continuation of the 
process will allow more time for all potential alternatives to closure to be fully 
and robustly explored. This includes the continued exploration of academy and 
alternative federation options.

Page 51



APPENDIX C

 To enable the statutory and legal processes to proceed in accordance with DfE 
guidelines.

Pupil numbers and admissions

This proposal is written in the context of concern over the long term sustainability of 
the school. The number of children who live local to the school is not sufficient to 
support a sustainable stand-alone primary school. 

To remain viable the school needs to increase the number on roll by attracting 
pupils from further away than what would be considered the 'natural catchment' 
area. There are currently 19 pupils on roll at the School which has a potential 
capacity for 56 leaving 66% surplus capacity. There is also some surplus capacity 
at neighbouring schools where there are spaces available to accommodate the 
children from Saltfleetby were the school to close. The admissions process for the 
September 2016 Reception intake closed on 15th January 2016 with applications 
being accepted up to 19th February.  At the date of publishing this report no first 
preference, one second and two third preference applications had been received 
for the Reception September 2016 intake. The latest LA projections (June 2015) 
based on actual numbers on roll from January 2015, estimated that potentially 26 
pupils would be on roll for the 2016/17 academic year, and 24 for the 2017/18 
academic year. However, this was based on their being 29 on roll for 2015/16, not 
the 19 that are now on roll. There are now likely to be 15 pupils on roll at the 
beginning of the 2016/17 year.                                                                        

Further data from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) birth data and LA projections 
(using birth data, new housing data, GP registrations and historic pupil movement in 
and out of the area) indicate continued low numbers in future years emphasising the 
need to attract pupils from outside of the local area to sustain viable pupil numbers 
for a stand-alone primary school.

Displaced pupils

Neighbouring schools in the area have available spaces so offer the opportunity for 
parental choice. If the closure goes ahead the LA will offer all displaced pupils a 
place at the nearest neighbouring school of either North Somercotes Church of 
England Primary School, Warren Road, North Somercotes, Louth, LN11 7QB or 
Theddlethorpe Primary School, Mill Road, Theddlethorpe, Mablethorpe, LN12 IPB. 
There is sufficient capacity at these schools for all displaced pupils and there will be 
no requirement to increase the number of school places available as a consequence 
of the proposed discontinuance of Saltfleetby Primary School. Parents may also wish 
to express a preference for a place at any other local primary school should they not 
wish to consider one of the two schools named by the LA.

Impact on the community

There would be the inevitable disruption for pupils, parents and staff if this proposal 
proceeds, but this would be short term. This proposal would address the issues 
surrounding a declining primary school population in an area where there are other 
appropriate schools in more densely populated areas with sufficient capacity to 
accommodate displaced pupils. The County Council believes that this proposal 

Page 52



APPENDIX C

provides the best solution to addressing and meeting the long term educational and 
social needs of the children in the area if it is not possible to sustain a viable school 
in Saltfleetby.

An educational site would no longer provide services for children and young 
people. The school is regarded by the local community as an important facility.  
The LA would work with the local community to try to ensure any negative impact 
on the community from the loss of the school would be mitigated.   

Alternative community uses for the school building would be considered prior to 
any decision being made about the future of the premises.

The small size of the school limits its ability to offer a wide range of extended 
services which are likely to be more readily and widely available at neighbouring 
schools with a larger number on roll. Extended services currently provided at 
Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School are already in existence at other 
neighbouring schools. 

The LA has a good track record of redeployment of staff and will always seek to 
avoid redundancy not only to mitigate costs but also to reduce the human costs of 
redundancy.

The LA does not consider that there are any sex, race or disability discrimination 
issues that will arise if the school closes. The LA continues to be committed to 
provide access to a range of opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix 
of the area and aims to ensure that such opportunities are open to all believing that 
this will be met by the remaining schools in the area.

Balance of denominational provision

Saltfleetby is a Church of England school and there are sufficient faith places at 
nearby Church of England schools to accommodate the pupils currently on roll at 
Saltfleetby should the LA proceed with the proposed closure.  Therefore the 
proposed closure will not have any impact on the balance of denominational 
provision and associated parental choice in the area.

Rural primary schools

Under current DfE guidance there is a presumption against the closure of rural 
schools. This does not mean that a rural school will never close, but that the case 
should be strong and a proposal clearly in the best interests of educational provision 
in the area. In order to consider the proposal to close the school the LA has paid 
particular attention to the following points:-

 The likely effect of the closure of the school on the local community:

The school currently provides places for only 10 pupils from the local community (for 
whom it is the nearest school). This is likely to fall to 8 local pupils from September 
2016. The school is located centrally in the Saltfleetby area but due to the rural 
nature of the area it is not located in a village centre.  The LA understands that the 
school is regarded by the local community as an important facility and members of 

Page 53



APPENDIX C

the local community believe it would have a negative impact if the school were to 
close. The LA would work with the local community to try to ensure that any negative 
impact on the community from the loss of the school would be mitigated through 
partnership working with other services and schools in the area and reduce any 
negative impact on community cohesion were the school to close. 

 Educational standards at the school and the likely effect on standards at 
neighbouring schools:

The closure of a school can potentially reduce extended services on offer. However, 
in this case, the small size of the school limits its ability to offer a wide range of 
extended services which are likely to be more readily and widely available at 
neighbouring schools with a larger number on roll. It is also challenging to 
demonstrate the impact on educational standards with such a small cohort. In their 
current school pupils are required to mix across multiple year groups. 

The LA has carefully considered the impact on educational standards and believes 
that the closure of the school has the potential to protect and improve educational 
standards. To keep the school open may have a detrimental effect in that it would 
mean children continuing to attend a very small school and consequently placing 
greater demands on a small number of staff to adequately deliver the full curriculum 
entitlement. To keep the school open, the low numbers on roll may require a school 
organisation based on teaching all 7 year groups within one class, which is not 
considered to be in the best interests of the children. 

Several schools in the local area are regarded by Ofsted as being of an equal 'Good' 
standard.  Standards at these schools would not be expected to be negatively 
affected by taking on pupils from Saltfleetby.  It should also be noted that in some 
cases it may have been some time since a school or schools in the area has been 
inspected so the current Ofsted rating may not be a true reflection of the current 
situation at some schools. This also applies to Saltfleetby.

 The availability, and likely cost to the LA, of transport to other schools and any 
increase in the use of motor vehicles which is likely to result from the closure 
of the school, and the likely effect of any such increase:

The LA has considered the impact on transporting pupils to other schools should 
Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School close. 47% (9) of the pupils who 
currently attend Saltfleetby live closer to other local schools and it is not expected 
that the closure would significantly increase the number of car journeys to transport 
children to and from school, as currently only one of the nineteen pupils on roll live 
within a safe walking distance. Were the school to close then transport would be 
offered according to LCC's school transport policy taking advantage of the 
established routes already in use in the area. It is not expected that costs would 
increase significantly even if all parents chose to take up the transport offer.

 Any alternatives to the closure of the school:

Page 54



APPENDIX C

The Interim Executive Board, supported by the LA, has pursued potential alternatives 
to closure but an alternative federation or academy solution has not yet been found 
and the numbers have remained low. Following the request of the Interim Executive 
Board to commence the closure process and comments raised during consultation 
the LA has given further consideration to all potential alternatives to closure. 
Alternative federation options have been pursued by the school, LA, Diocese and 
CfBT.  To date there has been one expression of federation interest from another 
primary school. The LA provided additional information to the interested school 
regarding the position of Saltfleetby CE Primary School and the Governing Body of 
the interested school has decided not to pursue this further.

Special educational needs (SEN) provision

The proportion of children at the school with special educational needs (SEN) is 
relatively high at 26.3% compared to the primary county average of 15.7%.  The 
primary county average is calculated using the January 2015 School Census. 
Should the school close this would be an opportunity for improvements in the 
standard, quality and/or range of educational provision. Places for all displaced 
pupils would be available at neighbouring schools where the percentage of SEN is 
similar or better. This proposal would therefore likely lead to improvements in the 
standard, quality and/or range of the education provision for children currently at 
the school through ensuring a more balanced proportion of pupils with SEN 
integrated in mainstream schools with specialist facilities to help ensure all pupils 
have the opportunity to reach their full potential.

Consideration of pupils with SEN will take place and the LA will continue to look to 
make improvements in the standard, quality and/or range of the education 
provision for children with SEN.

Travel

Only one of the current pupils attending Saltfleetby Church of England Primary 
School lives within walking distance of the school. That child would have to travel 
further than at present, potentially increasing transport costs, although this effect is 
expected to be minimal in the long term due to the small number of children. Some 
local children already choose to travel to alternative schools, and some children not 
local to the school choose to travel from outside of the village.

For that pupil and those who are currently not within walking distance, most 
journeys to alternative schools would not be lengthy and well within the County 
Council’s guidelines for maximum journey times for primary age pupils of 45 
minutes. In many cases there are alternative schools with places available that 
would result in shorter distances travelled than at present.

The County Council home-to-school transport policy will continue to apply - this 
provides free home-to-school transport for pupils to their nearest or designated 
school (if it is more than 2 miles away for primary age pupils). In addition, 
arrangements will be made to allow displaced children whose parents select a 
receiving school named above, and who live within the current designated transport 
area for Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School, to have free transport to 

Page 55



APPENDIX C

North Somercotes Church of England Primary School or Theddlethorpe Primary 
School if the school is more than 2 miles from the family's home.

Pupils travelling over 2 miles and meeting the free transport criteria would be 
provided with transport by means of local bus services or contracted vehicles, which 
is considered to be the safest and most environmentally cost-effective method of 
transportation over medium distances. This will make use of the established routes 
already in use in the area and it is not expected that costs would increase 
significantly even if all parents choose to take up the transport offer. 47% of the pupils 
who currently attend Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School live closer to 
other local schools and it is not expected that the closure would significantly increase 
the number of car journeys to transport children to and from school.

Consultation

In order for the school to close the LA must follow the necessary statutory legal 
processes as required by the Secretary of State in accordance with the EIA 2006, 
the Education Act 2011 and the guidance of the DfE regarding school closure. 

Under these guidelines the LA must ensure that sufficient time and information are 
provided for people to understand and form a view on the proposal and make a 
response. Under the DfE guidelines which came into effect in January 2014 it is no 
longer prescribed how statutory consultation is carried out. There is no longer a 
prescribed consultation period for proposed school closures although a minimum of 
6 weeks is recommended which should also avoid school holidays. To comply with 
this the LA has conducted a six week period of consultation.  Any documentation 
issued must set out the problem that is being addressed and invite comment on 
one or more solutions. The LA must explain the decision making process and take 
all reasonable steps to draw the proposal to the attention of all those who might be 
interested and take into account their views. All applicable statutory requirements 
to consult in relation to the proposal have been complied with.

The guidance issued by the DfE in January 2014 states that in the case of the 
closure of a rural primary school the parents of current pupils and the local district 
and parish councils where the school is situated must be consulted. The guidance 
also lists who should be consulted in connection with all proposed school closures. 
The list of interested parties was therefore compiled according to these principles 
comprising as wide a range of consultees as practicable to ensure that all 
interested parties were included and incorporated parents of current pupils and the 
Chief Executive of the District Council as well as individual County, District and 
Parish Councillors as appropriate.

Guidance also requires current pupils to be consulted and all of the children on roll 
were given the opportunity to discuss the potential closure of their school. The 
children were encouraged to consider the things they love about their school, and 
the things they would miss if the school closed. The overall view expressed by the 
children was that their school was special and they hoped it would not close 
despite the proposals.  The pupils particularly highlighted the facilities available at 
the school and the number and variety of school trips.

A letter incorporating relevant information and reasons for the proposal was sent 
out to interested parties on 28 September 2015 to commence a six week period of 

Page 56



APPENDIX C

consultation. A public meeting was held at Marshlands Village Hall, Saltfleetby on 5 
October 2015 to provide more detail about the proposal and enable parents and all 
interested parties to ask questions and raise concerns. Notes were taken at this 
meeting and are attached as Appendix A. There was the opportunity to provide a 
response to the consultation by letter, email or by returning the response form 
attached to the consultation document by 13 November 2015. Copies of the letter 
commencing consultation and the response form were also published on the 
County Council website under the webpage "Current Consultations" on 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation 

All written responses received during consultation have been provided to the 
Executive Councillor for consideration and further details are confirmed in Appendix 
B. 

To briefly summarise; there were 39 valid responses in total, with 1 in favour, 37 
against the proposal and a further 1 response which was neither for nor against the 
proposal.  Responses were received from 10 parents of current pupils all of which 
were against the proposal; this group formed the largest number of individual 
responses received.

Many of the responses against the proposal believed the consultation for potential 
closure was short-sighted as it is their understanding that pupil numbers had 
previously dropped as low and they believe given time the pupils on roll could 
increase.  Several believe that the Headteacher and IEB have been unsupportive 
and ineffective in trying to attract new pupils to the school.  Many responses also 
prefer the small mixed classes at Saltfleetby and state the education provision is 
excellent as the school focuses on the individual needs of each child.

In addition to these responses two petitions have been submitted against the 
proposed closure of Saltfleetby CE Primary School, with a total of 535 signatures.  
Original copies of the petitions can be viewed by Members by contacting 
Democratic Services. Petitions must be considered in the light of DfE guidance that 
the greatest weight should be given to representations from those stakeholders 
most likely to be directly affected by the proposals rather than simply taking 
account of the numbers of people expressing a particular view. The petitions do not 
confirm the area of interest that each signature represents and therefore it is 
difficult to assess whether the opinions are those of stakeholders that should be 
given the greatest consideration.

The letter giving details of the consultation process incorporated the following 
original details of the anticipated timeline:-

STAGE 1 STAGE 2* STAGE 3* STAGE 4* STAGE 5*
Consultation

6 Weeks
Publication of Statutory 

Notice
Representation Period

4 Weeks
Final LA 
Decision Implementation

28 September – 
13 November 2015 December 2015 December  – January 2016 March 2016 31 August 2016

However, following the written responses received in the consultation period the LA 
delayed stages 2 and 3 as above by approximately 6 weeks to allow more time to 
further explore options that might secure the future of the school prior to 

Page 57

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/schoolorganisation


APPENDIX C

progressing to the next stage. If the process continues through stages 2 and 3, the 
Statutory Notice (Stage 2) is likely to be published in February 2016 and the final 
decision (Stage 4) is now likely to be taken in April 2016.

This extension of the process has:-

1. Given the IEB opportunity to develop a working relationship with the newly 
founded Parent Group to enable them to work together in the best interests 
of the school.  

2. Allowed extra time for the Parent Group to market the school to prospective 
pupils and parents and for the IEB to continue to explore options other than 
closure.

3. Allowed the closing date for Reception 2016 applications to pass before the 
decision is made on whether to progress to the next stage.   

4. Enabled LA officers to contact East Lindsey schools and academies in the 
local area, seeking a federation opportunity.  To date there has been one 
expression of interest from a primary school in developing a federation with 
Saltfleetby Primary School. The LA provided additional information to the 
interested school regarding the position of Saltfleetby CE Primary School 
and provided contact details so they could get in touch with the IEB if they 
wished to discuss the idea further. The IEB have not yet received any 
communication from the Governing Body of the interested school who have 
confirmed that they do not wish to take the idea any further forward at this 
time. Consideration will continue to be given to alternative federations, de-
federation, alternative staffing structures and seeking a potential academy 
sponsor. Options will continue to be explored through to a final decision on 
the future of the school.

5. The Executive Councillor has taken the decision to proceed to Statutory 
Notice therefore initiating a 4 week Representation Period. This will give 
more time for the above 3 options to continue to be explored and also be a 
further opportunity for people and organisations to express their views and 
ensure that they are taken into account when the final decision is taken by 
the Executive Councillor later this academic year. It is essential however that 
the statutory process continues in parallel with the pursuit of these options. 
In the event that none of the above three options result in a viable alternative 
to closure there should be no undue delay in the closure process in order to 
avoid as far as possible further negative impact on the pupils, their families 
and the local community.

Under current legislation the LA is the decision maker for the proposal and is co-
ordinating the statutory process before making the final decision. The LA, as 
decision maker, must be able to show that all relevant issues raised are taken into 
consideration in the decision making process. Points raised can be considered 
unpersuasive but must not be ignored altogether.

Objections and Comments

Page 58



APPENDIX C

Any person or organisation may object to or make comments on the proposal by 
sending them to the School Organisation Planning Team, Children's Services,  
Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices, 51 Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ or by 
emailing schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk to be received by the deadline of 
9 March 2016.

At the close of the 4 week representation period (statutory formal consultation) on 9 
March 2016 responses will be collated and analysed and a further report will be 
presented to the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee for comment, 
before going to the Executive Councillor for a final decision on the discontinuance 
of the school. This decision is likely to be taken in April 2016 but must be no later 
than 2 months after the end of the representation period. The representation period 
is the final opportunity for people and organisations to express their views about 
the proposal and ensure that they will be taken into account by the decision maker.

Page 59

mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 1

Equality Impact Analysis to enable informed decisions

The purpose of this document is to:-
I. help decision makers fulfil their duties under the Equality Act 2010 and 

II. for you to evidence  the positive and adverse impacts of the proposed change on people with protected characteristics and ways to 
mitigate or eliminate any adverse impacts.

Using this form
This form must be updated and reviewed as your evidence on a proposal for a project/service change/policy/commissioning of a service or 
decommissioning of a service evolves taking into account any consultation feedback, significant changes to the proposals and data to support 
impacts of proposed changes. The key findings of the most up to date version of the Equality Impact Analysis must be explained in the report 
to the decision maker and the Equality Impact Analysis must be attached to the decision making report.

**Please make sure you read the information below so that you understand what is required under the Equality Act 2010**

Equality Act 2010
The Equality Act 2010 applies to both our workforce and our customers. Under the Equality Act 2010, decision makers are under a personal 
duty, to have due (that is proportionate) regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics. 

Protected characteristics
The protected characteristics under the Act are: age; disability; gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; 
race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation.

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
Section 149 requires a public authority to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation, and any other conduct that is prohibited by/or under the Act
 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share relevant protected characteristics and persons who do not share those 

characteristics                                          
 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.

P
age 61



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 2

The purpose of Section 149 is to get decision makers to consider the impact their decisions may or will have on those with protected 
characteristics and by evidencing the impacts on people with protected characteristics decision makers should be able to demonstrate 'due 
regard'.

Decision makers duty under the Act
Having had careful regard to the Equality Impact Analysis, and also the consultation responses, decision makers are under a personal duty to 
have due regard to the need to protect and promote the interests of persons with protected characteristics (see above) and to:-    

(i) consider and analyse how the decision is likely to affect those with protected characteristics, in practical terms,
(ii) remove any unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other prohibited conduct,
(iii) consider whether practical steps should be taken to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences that the decision is likely to  have, for 

persons with protected characteristics and, indeed, to consider whether the decision should not be taken at all, in the interests of 
persons with protected characteristics,

(iv)  consider whether steps should be taken to advance equality, foster good relations and generally promote the interests of persons with 
protected characteristics, either by varying the recommended decision or by taking some other decision.

Conducting an Impact Analysis

The Equality Impact Analysis is a process to identify the impact or likely impact a project, proposed service change, commissioning, 
decommissioning or policy will have on people with protected characteristics listed above. It should be considered at  the beginning of the 
decision making process.
 
The Lead Officer responsibility 
This is the person writing the report for the decision maker. It is the responsibility of the Lead Officer to make sure that the Equality Impact 
Analysis is robust and proportionate to the decision being taken.

Summary of findings
You must provide a clear and concise summary of the key findings of this Equality Impact Analysis in the decision making report and attach this 
Equality Impact Analysis to the report.  

P
age 62



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 3

Impact – definition

An impact is an intentional or unintentional lasting consequence or significant change to people's lives brought about by an action or series of 
actions.

How much detail to include? 
The Equality Impact Analysis should be proportionate to the impact of proposed change. In deciding this asking simple questions “Who might 
be affected by this decision?” "Which protected characteristics might be affected?" and “How might they be affected?”  will help you consider 
the extent to which you already have evidence, information and data, and where there are gaps that you will need to explore. Ensure the 
source and date of any existing data is referenced.
You must consider both obvious and any less obvious impacts. Engaging with people with the protected characteristics will help you to identify 
less obvious impacts as these groups share their perspectives with you.

A given proposal may have a positive impact on one or more protected characteristics and have an adverse impact on others. You must 
capture these differences in this form to help decision makers to arrive at a view as to where the balance of advantage or disadvantage lies. If 
an adverse impact is unavoidable then it must be clearly justified and recorded as such, with an explanation as to why no steps can be taken to 
avoid the impact. Consequences must be included.

Proposals for more than one option If more than one option is being proposed you must ensure that the Equality Impact Analysis covers all 
options. Depending on the circumstances, it may be more appropriate to complete an Equality Impact Analysis for each option.

The information you provide in this form must be sufficient to allow the decision maker to fulfil their role as above. You must include 
the latest version of the Equality Impact Analysis with the report to the decision maker. Please be aware that the information in this 

form must be able to stand up to legal challenge.

P
age 63



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 4

Title of the policy / project / service 
being considered 

The future of Saltfleetby Church of 
England Primary School 

Person / people completing analysis Jessica Stevens 

Service Area School Organisation Planning Team Lead Officer John O'Connor 

Who is the decision maker? Councillor Mrs Bradwell How was the Equality Impact Analysis 
undertaken?

Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT 
and Interim Executive Board (the 
school's Governing Body) at the school 
and relevant LA officers.

Date of meeting when decision will be 
made

29/04/2016 Version control 3

Is this proposed change to an existing 
policy/service/project or is it new?

Existing policy/service/project LCC directly delivered, commissioned, 
re-commissioned or de-
commissioned?

Directly delivered

Describe the proposed change The overall proposal under consideration is the future of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School with the possibility of 
closure of the school.

The viability of the school, due to low pupil numbers, has been a concern for a number of years and the LA has supported the 
Governing Body during this time.  Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School federated with Theddlethorpe Primary School as 
part of the 'Saltfleetby Theddlethorpe Learning Federation' to work together and share resources, an Interim Executive Board 
(IEB) was appointed as the school's responsible Governing Body and conversion to Academy status was considered, although no 
sponsor was forthcoming.  Alternative federation options with local primary schools were explored, with one school expressing 
initial interest, however the Governing Body of the interested school has decided not to pursue this further.  There are concerns 
about the sustainability of the school both educationally and financially.   With low pupil numbers it is becoming increasingly 
challenging for the school to provide the quality of the education that the children deserve.  The difficulty of providing a wide 
and diverse curriculum is likely to limit the range of opportunities available to the children and the school is unlikely to have the 
resources to deliver the curriculum the children are entitled to. There have been consistently low pupil numbers at the school in 
recent years and the extremely low current and projected numbers on roll do not allow the IEB to set a balanced budget that 
can continue to provide the breadth and quality of provision that children are entitled to.

Background Information

P
age 64



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 5

Evidencing the impacts
In this section you will explain the difference that proposed changes are likely to make on people with protected characteristics.
To help you do this  first consider the impacts the proposed changes may have on people without protected characteristics before then 
considering the impacts the proposed changes may have on people with protected characteristics.

You must evidence here who will benefit and how they will benefit. If there are no benefits that you can identify please state 'No perceived 
benefit' under the relevant protected characteristic. You can add sub categories under the protected characteristics to make clear the impacts. 
For example under Age you may have considered the impact on 0-5 year olds or people aged 65 and over, under Race you may have 
considered Eastern European migrants, under Sex you may have considered specific impacts on men.

Data to support impacts of proposed changes 
When considering the equality impact of a decision it is important to know who the people are that will be affected by any change.

Population data and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
The Lincolnshire Research Observatory (LRO) holds a range of population data by the protected characteristics. This can help put a decision 
into context. Visit the LRO website and its population theme page by following this link: http://www.research-lincs.org.uk  If you cannot find 
what you are looking for, or need more information, please contact the LRO team. You will also find information about the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment on the LRO website.

Workforce profiles
You can obtain information by many of the protected characteristics for the Council's workforce and comparisons with the labour market on the 
Council's website.  As of 1st April 2015, managers can obtain workforce profile data by the protected characteristics for their specific areas 
using Agresso.

P
age 65

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/
http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/residents/community-and-living/equality-and-diversity/a-strategic-approach-equality-and-diversity/valuing-our-workforce/community-and-workforce-statistics/52342.article


Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 6

Age Children aged 4-11 attending the school and prospective pupils currently at pre-school.

By reviewing the future of the school the LA will have the opportunity to consider the best way of providing a sustainable 
solution. Low pupil numbers in the local area and the extremely low current projected numbers on roll do not allow the 
school to set a balanced budget that can continue to provide the breadth and quality of provision that children are entitled 
to.  The proposed closure of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School, if implemented, it will ensure that these 
children receive the education that they are entitled to at alternative provision.   If Saltfleetby were to close the LA would 
ensure that all pupils on roll are guaranteed a place at either Theddlethorpe Primary School or North Somercotes Church 
of England Primary School for September 2016 as per the Statutory Notice.  Should the school close, transport would be 
provided by the LA to either Theddlethorpe Primary School or North Somercotes Church of England Primary School for 
children that would be displaced by closure under the terms of the LA's school transport policy.  Such a closure should not 
significantly increase the number of car journeys to transport children to and from school.  Only 1 of the 19 pupils 
currently on roll at the school live within safe walking distance of the school.

Disability No positive impact.

Gender reassignment No positive impact. 

Marriage and civil partnership No positive impact.

Positive impacts
The proposed change may have the following positive impacts on persons with protected characteristics – If no positive impact, please state 'no 
positive impact'.

P
age 66



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 7

Pregnancy and maternity No positive impact.

Race No positive impact.

Religion or belief No positive impact. Saltfleetby is a Church of England school and if it were to close there are other Church of England 
schools within the area.

Sex In the mixed year group Key Stage 2 class of 10 pupils there is only 1 female pupil. Closure would result in that 1 pupil 
being placed in a class with more than 1 pupil of the same sex offering more of a positive peer to peer opportunity.

Sexual orientation No positive impact.

If you have identified positive impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics in the Equality Act 
2010 you can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision.

P
age 67



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 8

P
age 68



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 9

Age Parents of children attending the school and parents of prospective pupils.
Children aged 4-11 attending the school and prospective pupils currently at pre-school.

Children attending the school might have to move to an alternative primary school and a small number of children who 
live in the area might have to travel further to attend what is their most local school.  Should the school close transport will 
be provided to either Theddlethorpe Primary School or North Somercotes Church of England Primary School under the 
terms of the LA's school transport policy.

If the school were to close this would be considered by parents a restriction in parental preference.  Neighbouring schools 
in the area have available spaces offering the opportunity for parental choice.  Provision at two neighbouring schools has 
overall received the same 'Good' Ofsted rating as Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School.  It should also be noted 
that in some cases it may have been some time since a school or schools in the area has been inspected so the current 
Ofsted rating may not be a true reflection of the current situation at some schools. This also applies to Saltfleetby.  

The small size of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School limits its ability to offer a wide range of extended services 
which are more likely to be available at a school with a larger number on roll. 

Disability No mitigating action identified.

Gender reassignment No mitigating action identified.

Negative impacts of the proposed change and practical steps to mitigate or avoid any adverse consequences on people with 
protected characteristics are detailed below. If you have not identified any mitigating action to reduce an adverse impact please 
state 'No mitigating action identified'.

Adverse/negative impacts 
You must evidence how people with protected characteristics will be adversely impacted and any proposed mitigation to reduce or eliminate 
adverse impacts. An adverse impact causes disadvantage or exclusion. If such an impact is identified please state how, as far as possible, it is 
justified; eliminated; minimised or counter balanced by other measures. 
If there are no adverse impacts that you can identify please state 'No perceived adverse impact' under the relevant protected characteristic.

P
age 69



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 10

Marriage and civil partnership No mitigating action identified.

Pregnancy and maternity No mitigating action identified.

Race No mitigating action identified.

Religion or belief Saltfleetby Primary is a Church of England School with strong links to the church of St Peter, the parish church for 
Saltfleetby and Skidbrooke.   Although the school do not allocate places based on religious beliefs there is a possibility that 
parents may opt to send their children to the school because it is a Church of England School.  There are three Church of 
England schools within approximately 7 miles of Saltfleetby, so those who wish to have a faith based provision will have 
alternative options to consider. This proposal has been discussed with the Anglican Diocese which fully understands the 
reasons for the proposed closure and do not object to the proposal. l

Sex No mitigating action identified.

Sexual orientation No mitigating action identified.

If you have identified negative impacts for other groups not specifically covered by the protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 you 
can include them here if it will help the decision maker to make an informed decision.

P
age 70



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 11

Local community; the school is regarded by the local community as an important facility and believe it would have a negative impact if the school were to close.  The LA 
would work with the local community to try to ensure any negative impact on the community from the loss of the school would be mitigated through partnership 
working with other services and schools in the area. 

Staff employed at the school; if the school were to close redundancies may be made or staff may have to travel further for alternative employment.  The LA has a good 
track record of redeployment of staff and will always seek to avoid redundancy not only to mitigate costs but also to reduce the human costs of redundancy.  

P
age 71



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 12

Objective(s) of the EIA consultation/engagement activity

To ensure that all interested parties and made fully aware of the process and have opportunity to take part in the consultation process and that their views are taken into 
consideration before a final decision is taken.

Stakeholders

Stake holders are people or groups who may be directly affected (primary stakeholders) and indirectly affected (secondary stakeholders)

You must evidence here who you involved in gathering your evidence about benefits, adverse impacts and practical steps to mitigate or avoid 
any adverse consequences. You must be confident that any engagement was meaningful. The Community engagement team can help you to 
do this and you can contact them at consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk

State clearly what (if any) consultation or engagement activity took place by stating who you involved when compiling this EIA under the 
protected characteristics. Include organisations you invited and organisations who attended, the date(s) they were involved and method of 
involvement i.e. Equality Impact Analysis workshop/email/telephone conversation/meeting/consultation. State clearly the objectives of the EIA 
consultation and findings from the EIA consultation under each of the protected characteristics. If you have not covered any of the protected 
characteristics please state the reasons why they were not consulted/engaged. 

P
age 72

mailto:consultation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 13

Age Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Findings as 
stated above under the headings Positive Impacts and Adverse/Negative Impacts. Details of the proposal and response 
forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were also made available on 
the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the decision maker.  

Disability Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.    

Gender reassignment Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.    

Marriage and civil partnership Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.    

Pregnancy and maternity Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.   

Race Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.    

Religion or belief Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Findings as 
stated above under the heading Adverse/Negative Impacts.  Details of the proposal and response forms were sent to a wide 
range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were also made available on the LA's website.  All 
responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the decision maker.     

Who was involved in the EIA consultation/engagement activity? Detail any findings identified by the protected characteristic

P
age 73



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 14

Sex Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.    

Sexual orientation Discussions with the Headteacher, CFBT and Interim Executive Board at the school and relevant LA officers.  Details of the 
proposal and response forms were sent to a wide range of interested parties in line with statutory guidance and details were 
also made available on the LA's website.  All responses will be recorded and analysed to be taken into consideration by the 
decision maker.   

Are you confident that everyone who 
should have been involved in producing 
this version of the Equality Impact 
Analysis has been involved in a 
meaningful way?
The purpose is to make sure you have got 
the perspective of all the protected 
characteristics.

Yes.

Once the changes have been 
implemented how will you undertake 
evaluation of the benefits and how 
effective the actions to reduce adverse 
impacts have been?

No changes planned at this point, as the future of the school is being considered so that all options may be considered. 

Are you handling personal data? Yes

If yes, please give details.

Data discussed at meetings (including details of children at the school and within the locality) will be treated as confidential. As 
will the identity of those persons that respond to the consultation. 

Further Details

P
age 74



Equality Impact Analysis 5 May 2015 V1.0 15

Action Lead officer TimescaleActions required
Include any actions identified in this 
analysis for on-going monitoring of 
impacts.

N/A. N/A. N/A.

Signed off by John O'Connor Date 11/03/2016

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E

Notes of the Saltfleetby CE Primary School Public Consultation Meeting
Marshlands Village Hall Saltfleetby
6.00-8.00pm on 5 October 2015

In attendance from the Local Authority (LA), School Improvement Service (CfBT), the Diocese and the school:- 

Debbie Barnes: LA - Director of Children’s Services (Chair)
Patrick Webb: Chair of Interim Executive Board (IEB)
James Siddle: Vice Chair of IEB
Amber Latif: Head Teacher
Lindsay Alldis: CfBT 
John O'Connor: LA - Children's Services Manager – Education Support
Paul Thompson: Anglican Diocese

Approximately 40 parents, staff, governors and members of the local community attended.

• Introduction from Debbie Barnes as to how the meeting would proceed.

• Introductions from each member of the panel.

• Introduction from the Chair of the IEB, Patrick Webb, including reasons for proposing closure, in that there are 
not enough pupils to make the school viable and the consequent inability to set a balanced budget which led to 
the IEB taking the difficult decision to ask the LA to commence consultation on closure.

• Introduction from John O'Connor who outlined the overall consultation process and timeline.

This document will be updated should further questions be received during the consultation period so is not just a 
record of points raised at the public meeting, but also from further points raised since with additional information 
provided in response where available. All questions and comments will be considered along with all response forms 
received during the 6 week consultation period which closes on 13 November 2015.

During the public meeting many questions were asked, concerns raised and comments and suggestions made 
regarding the following main areas:-

 Points raised re low pupil numbers

“I have lived in the village for many years and seen the numbers fall low before”

“I have lived in the village for 41 years and my 2 children attended the school. During this time there have been 
several times when the numbers have fallen as low as now”

“The governing body has had concerns about potential closure in the past when numbers have fallen as low as 25”

“We accept that the numbers are low but should this be a reason to close the school? Why is this any different to 
times of low numbers in the past when closing the school was not a consideration?”
 
“The only reason for low numbers is that the school has not been advertised adequately. We just need to promote 
the school”
“Not enough has been done by the IEB and Headteacher to promote the school”

“We must promote the school or we will lose the focal point of the village. If there is no school in the village families 
will not move here”

Page 77



APPENDIX E

“There are plans for more housing in the area which will produce more children. It is short-sighted to close the 
school now when places will be needed in the future”

“The new housing developments include family homes so we will need the school places, there will not be surplus 
capacity”

“Exactly what is the minimum number of pupils required at the school for it to survive?”

 Response to points raised re low pupil numbers

Projections analysis and school place planning is not an exact science. Parental preference will always have an 
impact, although it is reasonable to expect most children to attend their nearest school. However, the data provided 
by GPs and the NHS confirm that there will not be enough children in the area to provide the numbers needed at the 
school. Data suggests that there will be no more than 3 or 4 pupils per year group within the area in the next few 
years in the immediate area which is not enough to secure a viable school.

Over the last 40 years the Number on Roll school census (the number that funding is calculated on) records shows 
that pupil numbers at the school have never been as low as they are now. As at 21st October 2015 there were 22 
pupils on roll. The lowest on record before now was 32 in 1998 and 2003.

It is difficult to give a definitive number regarding the minimum number of pupils as all schools have different 
resources and commitments e.g. size of campus/ rates payable etc. In the past an optimum number of pupils for a 
small school to survive has been recommended as a minimum of 34. However, Ofsted is continually raising the bar 
increasing pressure on school staff and resources and the government has made changes to the way in which 
schools are funded both of which can affect the calculation of this optimum number. Some schools with more than 
34 will still struggle to survive. Saltfeetby is the smallest school in Lincolnshire although there are other schools with 
pupil numbers in the thirties and forties. The optimum number for a small school to survive must be at least in the 
mid-thirties.

The LA does consider new housing data – however this also is not an exact science and the planning application 
process is very unpredictable. Housing developments must be fairly large to have a significant impact on the need for 
school places. For example even if the development goes ahead at Manby this is likely to produce approximately 10 
primary aged children over the time it takes to occupy all of the properties, and there are no guarantees which year 
groups these children may be in.

 Points raised re standards at the school

“This is a good school - the last time Ofsted visited it was graded as good”

“The school has been in special measures before and has been brought round”

“I chose this school because of its size; I believe small class sizes enable higher standards”

“This is a good school; 2 of 3 leavers have gone on to grammar school”

“The school provides excellent SEN provision and many parents travel a long way because of its reputation for 
excellent SEN provision. If these pupils have to move to a larger school they will not thrive academically or socially”

“I moved here from Nottinghamshire for my autistic child to attend the school and I my child has thrived here but 
will fall behind again at a larger school”

"Why is Theddlethorpe not supporting Saltfleetby more? Why has Theddlethorpe got stronger and Saltfleetby got 
weaker?"

Page 78



APPENDIX E

 Response to points raised re standards at the school

The most important consideration is that the children at the school receive the standard and breadth of education 
that they are entitled to. No-one is questioning the dedication of the hard working staff at the school. However, 
Ofsted are continually raising the bar and it is more difficult now than in the past to meet their standards. It is 
challenging for all schools to meet Ofsted’s requirement but particularly so for small schools. It is not a case of 
Saltfleetby getting weaker – the issue is low pupil numbers with the consequent impact on funding. Nobody is saying 
that Saltfleetby has allowed standards to fall but this is about being able to provide quality education under 
extremely challenging circumstances.

It is the aim of all schools to meet the individual needs of all their pupils including children with special needs.  All 
schools in the area would want all children to thrive and are expected to provide the same level of care as that 
provided at Saltfleetby.

It is vital for the school to be able to maintain standards but the low numbers make this very challenging. Staff at the 
school are dedicated and hardworking but the resources are restricted, as funding is based on pupil numbers, and 
the demands of an ever-broadening curriculum together with the raising of standards by Ofsted place increasing 
pressure on the staff to maintain a quality education.

 Points raised re finance

“We appreciate that finance is a main factor. Before the IEB was formed we had a governing body with parent 
governors and based on their figures we understand that there are sufficient funds for the school to survive for at 
least 2 years. The governing body was maximizing the budget – what has happened to these finances? Will you share 
financial information with us as parents?”

“We should use the money to support the school rather than pay for the consultation process”

 Response to points raised re finance

Funding is based on the number of pupils and therefore a small school must operate with severely restricted 
resources. Any costs incurred by the consultation process could not be used to provide additional support to the 
school. The LA must provide finance to each of its schools according to government funding rules. Because of 
Lincolnshire’s rural nature the LA’s funding formula does support small schools. However the LA must follow 
government funding guidelines to ensure fairness to all schools in the county.
 
The school is in receipt of additional funding support from CfBT (e.g. the cost of the Interim Headteacher) but this 
will not be available as long term support in the future. If all reserves are used the school may be able to continue as 
it is for up to 2 years but then would not be able to set a balanced budget to move forward. However if changes 
were made such as appointing a Headteacher at the school the finances would run out before 2 years. The school 
already has expenditure exceeding income due to the low pupil numbers.

A school is not legally allowed to continue if it cannot set a balanced budget.

 Points raised re the early years provision at Cygnets

“Why were the links with cygnets severed so abruptly?”

“There was a natural progression from cygnets to the school so cutting off the link would be likely to have a 
damaging effect on pupil numbers at the school’

“Many of the children who attended cygnets stayed in the village to attend Saltfleetby School. If the cygnets and the 
school are separated the parents of the children at cygnets are more likely to consider other schools”.

Page 79



APPENDIX E

 Response to points raised re the early years provision at Cygnets

There were safeguarding issues raised by Ofsted which required the IEB to take immediate action. These were 
serious issues which had to be managed and the IEB was obliged to act. 

There appear to have been misunderstandings on both sides leading to both feeling that the other was not being 
fully co-operative and leading to both blaming each other for a breakdown in communications. However, a decision 
was taken and we have to move forward from this. Cygnets will now function locally as an independent early year’s 
provider and is receiving LA support. The flow from early years to school within the village is therefore still available.

 Points raised re the Headteacher

“Our previous Headteacher was always to be seen at the school and in the playground but we never see the Interim 
Head”

“Sports day was cancelled and the school seems to be pulling away from the community since the appointment of 
the Interim Head e.g. no school plays to see, no distribution of harvest parcels, the Head does not attend parish 
council meetings”

“It is difficult to meet with the Interim Head – why can we not email her direct?”
 
“This Head has been chosen specifically to close the school – she has already closed one school”

“Who appointed this Head; If we advertised for a Head we would be inundated with applicants”

“What has the Interim Head actually done?”

 Response to points raised re the Headteacher

There are significant recruitment difficulties along the east coast area of Lincolnshire and vacancies do not attract 
many applicants. No local Headteachers or deputies were interested in a position at Saltfleetby and when advertised 
externally there was no interest in a long term headship at the school. CfBT do employ 2 interim heads but these are 
both currently in post at other schools. There was interest for an advertised interim position with 3 strong 
applicants. Mrs Latif was appointed by the IEB as having the right skill set, a track record of improving schools and 
was praised by Ofsted for the progress made at a school in Grantham whilst under her leadership. A primary school 
was closed whilst Mrs Latif was Headteacher but this was a completely different set of circumstances and due to a 
reorganisation of primary schools to an all-through basis in Nottinghamshire, not in relation to a small rural school. 
No Headteacher wants to see a school closed and this appointment was definitely not made with the intention of 
closing the school.

Mrs Latif is physically on site for at least half a day every day. The reason for setting up the process to contact Mrs 
Latif via a member of staff rather than direct was not to create distance between parents and the head but to avoid 
any communication difficulties that may arise with the head being responsible for two schools. It is accepted that 
communication with parents could be improved and needs to be looked at as we move forward.

The decision to cancel sports day was unfortunate but made in the light of the weather forecast. As the responsible 
person Mrs Latif must make such a decision on the grounds of safety and cannot put the children at risk.

Mrs Latif was appointed in January 2015 as interim head across the two schools. She has undertaken a significant 
amount of work on policies, procedures and practices which may not be seen by parents but had to be her priority to 
meet DfE and Ofsted requirements.

 Points raised re federation of the 2 schools and the IEB

Page 80



APPENDIX E

"As parents we don't know what the IEB is doing? How have they let the school come this close to closure without 
letting us know?"

"We do not feel that the IEB has done a good job."

"Who appointed the IEB? Why is there no parent representation? Should there be a representative from another 
local school now presenting the case for closure particularly as when 6 pupils recently left they all went to this 
neighbouring school. Is there diocesan representation on the IEB?"

"The governing body did not want to federate but was threatened with closure if the 2 schools did not federate. We 
feel that the schools have gone downhill since federation – a Headteacher cannot successfully run 2 schools."

"I was a governor for 7 years, including time as the chair, and when I joined there were only 3 governors and 24 
children at the school. We dismissed and reappointed the head and built up the school to 50 pupils and a "good" 
Ofsted report. We should defederate, appoint a new Headteacher and build up the school again."

"Why were we not made aware of the staff recruitment difficulties?"

"Communication has been very poor; we have tried to meet with the IEB and have also emailed in 
suggestions/questions but have had no response. We feel that this is because the IEB was set up to close the 
school."

"We understand that the IEB recommended defederation – why was this? Was this to enable the ease of closure? If 
the 2 schools defederate what happens to the IEB?"

 Response to points raised re federation of the 2 schools and the IEB

The DfE judged the support provided by the governing body to be inadequate with issues that needed to be dealt 
with and therefore required an IEB to be set up, but this decision was not taken without due consideration. 
Nominations were made but it is the DfE who decides the composition of the IEB but there is a representative of the 
Anglican diocese on the IEB at Saltfleetby. Members are appointed by the DfE according to their level of skills and 
local knowledge. This included the vice chair who was appointed for his skills and ability proven in the improvement 
at his own school and he has made strenuous efforts to support and improve Saltfleetby school.

Some unavoidable difficulties and delays arose out of replacements having to be made to the IEB after its initial 
formation due to unforeseen personal circumstances. The IEB accept that there could have been better 
communication with parents but the IEB has had a limited time to take action and has been working hard to explore 
all options open to the school although this may not have been obvious to parents. It is always difficult to choose the 
right time to make public such information – too soon can result in parents moving their children to another school 
so reducing the numbers further and worsening the situation but too late can result in less time and opportunity to 
find an alternative solution. Also the IEB were keen to have something to say to parents and avoid holding a meeting 
before they could be up to date with all options and provide parents with answers. When the IEB met with parents 
in January 2015 it was made clear then that if pupil numbers didn't increase the school was vulnerable.

If Saltfleetby closes this automatically dissolves the federation. The IEB did consider defederation as it felt that it 
offered no benefit other than financial, but that it would be better for the schools to have separate budgets than 
one school support the other. It would also enable each school to try to secure their own future independent of each 
other. The DfE would decide what happens to the IEB if the schools defederate – i.e. either the IEB would continue at 
Saltfleetby or the DfE would appoint 2 separate IEBs. If an alternative solution is found to closure and the numbers 
and finances are able to support the school then a governing body could be set up which would initially run in 
parallel with the IEB before becoming the newly established governing body.

As previously advised, if the two schools were to defederate and appoint a Headteacher at each school this would 
severely impact on the finances and possibly lead to teaching mixed Keystage groups at the school. This would 

Page 81



APPENDIX E

produce even more curriculum challenges and increase pressure on the staff which is also compounded by the 
recruitment difficulties in the area.

 Points raised re the way forward/communication/promotion of the school

“If the school closes can all the children go to one school to continue as a family?”

“If Saltfleetby School closes will transport be available for the alternative school chosen by parents?”

“Surely it is not right for children as young as 4 or 5 to have to travel on a school bus – will there be a supervisor on 
board?”

“Will existing bus routes be used? Does this mean 4 year olds travelling with 16 year olds?”
 
“The school is the focus of the village. We must work together and make the village a community. The process so far 
has been too secretive.”

“You must let us as parents help. But there is not enough time now.”

“Can we form a working group to look for a solution to save the school?”

 Response to points raised re the way forward/ communication/promotion of the school

Schools in the area do have the capacity to offer places to all the children on roll at Saltfleetby. Some year groups are 
full at Theddlethorpe but could accommodate all the pupils without difficulty by reorganising. North Somercotes 
have places in all year groups and could also accommodate all Saltfleetby pupils if required.

Transport would be provided if it is the nearest school and is more than 2 miles away. Across the LA many 4 and 5 
year olds already travel on school buses, it is not unusual in a rural county such as Lincolnshire. Routes change each 
year according to where the children live. There are no supervisors on buses but routes are inspected and only safe 
routes are used, bus drivers are DBS checked and are aware of safe stopping and waiting places, and each school 
produces a travel plan to ensure pupil safety and well being.

We agree that parental support is vital and we are here now to inform the community. The purpose of this meeting 
is to confirm the current position and offer the opportunity to generate new ideas. There is still time for alternatives 
to closure to be proposed and all credible options will be considered. However there are strict guidelines laid down 
by the DfE and the consultation process must meet the statutory timelines. No decision has been made with regard 
to closure and the scrutiny committee at the LA will review the whole process before a final decision is taken to 
ensure that the process has been open and fair and all alternatives have been given due consideration. The 
Executive Councillor will ensure that all factors are taken into consideration before taking the final decision.

We all accept that communication between all parties needs to improve as we move forward in this process. The LA 
and the IEB would welcome the formation of a parental working group that would look to work with the school.

Summary at the end of meeting which closed at 8.00pm

Debbie Barnes thanked everyone for attending the meeting and for the many positive contributions.

The consultation period ends on 13th November and we would encourage you to submit a response form. All 
responses will be considered when the decision is taken as to whether to proceed to the next stage of the process. If 
the process continues to the next stage there will be a further 4 week Representation Period commencing with the 
publication of a Statutory Notice.

If there are further questions please contact either the school, the IEB or the LA.

Page 82



APPENDIX E

Contact details for the LA

Email:            schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk  
Via Post:    School Organisation Planning Team, Lincolnshire County Council, County Offices,  51 Newland, Lincoln 

LN1 1YQ
Tel:                Matt Clayton 01522 553535

Page 83

mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:schoolorganisation@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  
Policy and Scrutiny

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee
Date: 15 April 2016

Subject: Synopsis of the Government White Paper “Excellent 
Education Everywhere”

Decision Reference:  Key decision? No 
Summary: 

This report summarises the key elements of the Government White Paper 
“Excellent Education Everywhere”, highlighting potential benefits and concerns 
particularly with regard to the enforced academisation of all schools.

Actions Required:

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to receive the 
report and comment on the proposals contained in the White Paper  

1. Background

1.1. In March, 2016, in the same week as the Budget, the Department for 
Education published its White Paper “Educational Excellence Everywhere” 
(EEE). Significantly, this followed the announcement of a proposal to 
introduce a National Funding Formula for schools that would eliminate the 
need for a locally agreed formula brokered by the local authority.

1.2.The White Paper asserts a vision of “unapologetically high expectations for 
all children” and “intensively tackling areas of the country that have lagged 
behind for too long”. The approach proposed is described as “supported 
autonomy”. The paper celebrates the steps taken since 2010 to secure “an 
historic devolution of power from central and local government to the best 
school leaders”. It explains that the current government believes that “the 
fastest and most sustainable way for schools to improve is for the 
government to trust in the country’s most effective educational leaders, 
giving them freedom and power, and holding them to account for 
unapologetically high standards for every child, measured rigorously and 
fairly.”

1.3.The government asserts that the proposals in the White Paper seek “to take 
(their) reforms to the next level – supporting improvement by building 
capacity and creating the conditions that will allow schools in all areas to 
use their freedom effectively, rather than just intervening in the case of 
failure”. It acknowledges that autonomy alone will not achieve this. It argues 

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



that, for the school-led system to be successful across the country, the 
government must do more to “scaffold” its development “so that there are 
no areas where autonomous leaders are unable to access the support and 
tools they need from within the system”. It guards against what it sees as a 
previous history of “micromanaging government”.

1.4.The following section of this report summarises the most significant 
elements of the White Paper proposals to provide that scaffolding:-

1.4.1. Reformed teacher training

1.4.1.1. Replace the current "Qualified Teacher Status" with a 
“stronger, more challenging accreditation based on a teacher’s 
effectiveness in the classroom”. Strong headteachers from 
Outstanding schools will be the arbiters.

1.4.1.2. Reform the National College for Teaching and Leadership 
“ensuring that, in addition to delivering our leadership remit, we are 
better able to design and deliver well-targeted incentives, teacher 
recruitment campaigns and opportunities that attract sufficient, 
high-quality new entrants to the profession”.

1.4.1.3. Reform the allocation of teacher training places so that initial 
teacher training “is delivered by the best higher education 
institutions and school-led providers where new entrants are most 
needed, where places are most likely to be filled, and where 
training is most likely to be delivered well”.

1.4.1.4. Continue to "increase the proportion of ITT offered by the best 
schools” rather than Higher Education Institutions (HEI).

1.4.1.5. Strengthen initial teacher training content, “focusing on helping 
new teachers enter the classroom with sufficient subject 
knowledge, practical behaviour management skills, understanding 
of special educational needs, and a greater understanding of the 
most up-to-date research on how pupils learn”.

1.4.2. Teacher recruitment

1.4.2.1. Create simple web tools that enable schools to advertise 
vacancies for free, and to launch a new national teacher vacancy 
website. 

1.4.2.2. Legislate to create Achieving Excellence Areas where there 
are not enough pupils going to a good school and not enough 
high-quality teachers.

1.4.2.3. Encourage “great teachers” to “work where they are most 
needed, including through the National Teaching Service”.
 

1.4.3. School Improvement

1.4.3.1. Legislate to transfer responsibility for school improvement from 
local authorities to school–led systems. The aim is to create a 
comprehensive network of school-led support, building on the 

Page 86

https://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-views/ignoring-teacher-brain-drain-ignoring-a-hole-a-bucket-you-try-fill
https://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/nine-out-10-heads-are-struggling-recruit-teachers-research-shows
https://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/nine-out-10-heads-are-struggling-recruit-teachers-research-shows


London Challenge. There will be 300 more Teaching Schools and 
800 more National Leaders of Education.

1.4.3.2. “Ensure that Regional Schools’ Commissioners (RSCs) are 
able to commission support and intervention for schools identified 
as underperforming”.

1.4.3.3. “RSCs will intervene promptly where academies or MATs are 
underperforming”.

1.4.3.4. Establish an independent “College of Teaching” to support the 
development of a “high status, world-leading teaching profession”.

1.4.3.5. Promote access to evidence-based teaching through 
partnership with the Education Endowment Foundation (EEF), 
particularly in regard to the deployment of Pupil Premium funding.

1.4.4. Improve Continuing Professional Development (CPD)

1.4.4.1. Create a new standard for teachers’ continuous professional 
development to help schools improve the quality and availability of 
CPD.

1.4.4.2. Examine the feasibility of incentivising teaching schools to 
publish their research and CPD materials on an "open-
source" basis.

1.4.4.3. Establish a new peer-reviewed British education journal, 
independent of government.

1.4.4.4. Design new voluntary National Professional Qualifications for 
each level of school leadership including the leadership of Multi-
Academy Trusts. These will not be mandatory, but will “set a ‘gold 
standard’ against which licensed providers can develop their own 
innovative programmes for leadership development”.

1.4.5. Every school an academy

Note: The new Education and Adoption Act hastens the process 
by which all schools rated as Inadequate become Sponsored 
academies. It also introduces a new class of schools and 
academies- “Coasting Schools” - and gives new powers to enable 
the DfE to intervene with them.

1.4.5.1. By the end of 2020, all remaining maintained schools will have 
become academies or will be in the process of conversion.

1.4.5.2. Most schools will be expected to form or join multi-academy 
trusts (MAT).

1.4.5.3. “Apart from in exceptional circumstances, the smallest schools 
will have to form or join a MAT” but “other successful, sustainable 
schools will still be able "to continue as single academy trusts if 
they choose to do so”. 

1.4.5.4. Ensure “national coverage of high quality sponsors”.
1.4.5.5. Create new government powers to direct schools to become 

academies in local authority areas which are underperforming or 
where the local authority no longer has capacity to maintain its 

Page 87

http://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/teaching-schools-have-a-limited-impact-pupils-results-says-research
http://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/teaching-schools-have-a-limited-impact-pupils-results-says-research


schools or where schools have not started the process of 
becoming an academy by 2020.

1.4.5.6. To speed up the process of academy conversion, the land 
associated with a converting Community School will automatically 
transfer from the Local Authority to the Secretary of State who will 
then grant a lease to the academy trust. The ability for maintained 
schools to convert to Foundation Schools (in which the Foundation 
or the Governors own the land) will be removed.

1.4.5.7. By the end of 2022, local authorities will no longer maintain 
schools. “Local authorities play an important role in the education 
system: ensuring every child has a school place, that the needs of 
all pupils are met and championing parents and families. They will 
step back from running schools and school improvement”.

1.4.5.8. Seek views on a number of changes to the school admissions 
system to make it simpler and clearer, including “requiring local 
authorities to coordinate in-year admissions and handle the 
administration of the independent admission appeals function”.

1.4.5.9. “Review the responsibilities of local authorities in relation to 
children, including the implications for the roles of the Director of 
Children’s Services and the Lead Member for Children”.

1.4.5.10. Consider how parents may be able to petition regional schools 
commissioners for their school to move to a different MAT “where 
there is underperformance or other exceptional circumstances”.
Launch new accountability measures for MATs, publishing MAT 
performance tables in addition to the continued publication of, and 
focus on, inspection and performance data at individual school 
level.

1.4.5.11. Introduce new, fair national funding formulae for schools (that 
will not involve a local formula: Local authorities will retain 
responsibility for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND) and some Alternative Provision (AP) funding).

1.4.5.12. Improve and maintain the school (academy) estate to make 
best use of resources and continue to rebuild and refurbish 
schools in the worst condition across the country.

1.4.5.13. 500 new Free Schools to be opened by 2020. (Free Schools 
are academies).

1.4.6. Leadership

1.4.6.1. “Rebalance” incentives in the accountability system “so that 
great leaders are encouraged to work in challenging schools and 
areas. This links with proposal 1.4.8.2 below which will give new 
heads up to 30 months to turn a failing school around.

1.4.6.2. Launch a new Excellence in Leadership Fund to encourage 
the best MATs and other providers “to develop innovative ways of 
boosting leadership in areas where great leaders are most 
needed”.

Page 88

https://www.tes.com/news/school-news/breaking-news/exclusive-schools-tsar-sets-out-plan-bring-academies-heel


1.4.7. Students and parents

1.4.7.1. Make all mainstream schools responsible for the education of 
students they place in alternative provision. 

1.4.7.2. Expand the National Citizen Service (NCS) and expect schools 
to give every pupil the opportunity to take part.

1.4.7.3. Make available funding so that up to 25% secondary schools 
can extend their school day to include a wider range of activities.

1.4.7.4. Improve careers provision for young people.
1.4.7.5. Create a new online "parent portal" to provide parents with a 

"one-stop shop", clearly and simply setting out the information they 
need to know about the school system and how to support their 
child in education.

1.4.7.6. No longer require trusts to reserve places for elected parents 
on governing boards but require governing boards to take a skills-
based approach supported by a competency framework, with help 
to identify skills gaps.

1.4.7.7. Introduce a duty on academies to “ensure that they listen to 
the views and needs of all parents, particularly when key decisions 
are made about the school”.

1.4.8. Ofsted

1.4.8.1. Ask Ofsted to consult on removing the separate graded 
judgements on the quality of teaching, learning and assessment to 
improve the focus on Outcomes. Inspectors will still report on the 
impact of teaching, learning and assessment through the other 
graded judgements, but will no longer separately grade the quality 
of teaching.

1.4.8.2. Introduce an "improvement period" during which schools won’t 
be inspected by Ofsted, to allow the time and stability to put in train 
sustainable improvement. 30 months has been proposed.

1.4.9 Fairer Funding

1.4.9.1 The white paper confirms that no pupil should be 
disadvantaged because their school arbitrarily receives less 
funding than a school with similar costs and pupils. Fair 
allocation of funding supports every other part of our education 
system. Schools will only be able to achieve high standards for 
every pupil, everywhere, when the resources they receive are 
properly matched to the challenges they face. And as schools 
are asked to absorb more pressures from within their protected 
budgets, they will have to reform their current spending: 
implementing fair national formulae asks the most generously 
funded to support their less-generously funded peers, many of 
whom are already operating more efficiently.  This is subject to a 
separate consultation.

Page 89



1.4.9.2  National funding formulae: the careful, well-planned design 
and implementation of new national funding formulae for schools 
and high needs is one of our highest reform priorities. The 
formulae mean funding will reflect the circumstances of children 
and local costs – weighting funding by the level of challenge, not 
arbitrary historical factors.

1.4.9.3  Pupil premium: government will continue the pupil premium, 
and improve its effectiveness by encouraging schools and virtual 
school heads to adopt evidence-based strategies, drawing on 
evidence from the Education Endowment Foundation. 

1.4.10  Members may also wish to note the following additions to the Department 
for Education’s “Schools Causing Concern” Guidance to Local Authorities 
and RSCs following the passage of the Education and Adoption Act, 2016:-

1.4.10.1   Responsibilities of the Local Authority

To minimise any delays to the academy conversion process, when an 
academy order has been made by the RSC under section 4(A1) or (1)(b) of 
the Academies Act 2010, the governing body and local authority are 
under a duty to take all reasonable steps to facilitate the conversion of the 
school into an academy. Further advice will be given to the governing body 
and the local authority about what steps they will be expected to take, and 
to what timescales, to facilitate the conversion. 

Where an academy order has been made under section 4(A1) or (1)(b) of 
the Academies Act 2010, the RSC can also direct the governing body or 
local authority to take specific steps to facilitate conversion. This can 
include requiring the governing body or local authority to prepare a draft of a 
scheme for the transfer of local authority owned land which is no longer, or 
about to be no longer, used for the purposes of the school, or for the 
transfer of other assets from the local authority or governing body. The RSC 
is able to set a date by which these steps must be taken”. 

1.4.10.2 Non-Viable Schools that would otherwise be subject to 
an Academy Order
The RSC has the power to revoke an academy order which was 
made because a maintained school is eligible for intervention. This 
power will only be used in very exceptional circumstances – for 
example, should the maintained school not be viable and therefore it 
is most appropriate that it should close. In such circumstances, where 
the maintained school is not viable and the RSC has taken the 
decision to revoke the academy order, then the local authority will be 
expected to close the maintained school”. 

1.4.10.3 Power of the Secretary of State to direct the closure of a 
maintained school 

Section 68 of the 2006 Education and Inspections Act enables the 
Secretary of State to direct a local authority to discontinue a maintained 

Page 90



school, where that school is eligible for intervention, on a date specified in 
the direction” (unless the reason for eligibility is failure to comply with a 
Teachers’ Pay and Conditions Warning Notice). 

This will usually be done where there is no prospect of the 
maintained school making sufficient improvements” (or where it is 
considered too small to be viable, even as an academy). “Before this 
power can be exercised the Secretary of State must consult:

1.       the local authority and the governing body of the school; 
2.       in the case of a Church of England school or a Roman Catholic Church 
school the appropriate diocesan authority; 
3.       in the case of any other foundation or voluntary school the person or 
persons by whom the foundation governors are appointed; and 
4.       such other persons as the Secretary of State considers appropriate. 

If the direction to close a maintained school has been given, the local 
authority will be expected to meet any costs of terminating staff 
contracts and make appropriate arrangements for the pupils’ 
continuing education, whether in a replacement school, or through 
transition to an alternative existing school”.

2. Conclusion

2.1.There are many positive developments in the White Paper which the 
sector will welcome although more detail is required. In Lincolnshire the 
supply of teachers at all levels will be pivotal to the success of our 
schools over the next few years. Any attempts to address this crucial 
issue are worthy of consideration. 

2.1.1. Experience has shown that teachers trained through the 
school-based system are more likely to be retained. Supporting the 
best teachers and leaders to work in our more remote and 
challenging schools is a long-standing imperative. 

2.1.2. Additionally, Lincolnshire has a significant issue with the 
continued inclusion of pupils exhibiting challenging behavioural 
difficulties. We have recognised that our exclusion rates are far too 
high and significant measures are being implemented to address this 
including the “Inclusive Lincolnshire” Strategy. Paragraph 6.72 of the 
White Paper makes clear the intention for the home school of the 
child to retain accountability for her/his outcomes even is placed in 
Alternative Provision. This is a much awaited regulatory change that 
will, if enacted, reinforce Lincolnshire’s inclusion strategy and should 
ensure far better outcomes for these vulnerable young people. The 
lack of ability to move funding from the schools block to the higher 
need block to fund any increase in exclusions is a significant 
financial risk for Local Authorities 

Page 91



2.1.3. Looked After Children are our particular concern as their 
Corporate Parents. It is pleasing to see the role of the Virtual 
Headteacher acknowledged and promoted and potentially expanded 
to include support for adopted children.

2.1.4. The vision of the Lincolnshire Learning Partnership (LLP) 
includes the widespread sharing of best practice and increased 
accountability for schools and groups of schools for their own 
outcomes. This notion is also supported by the White Paper, with a 
strong emphasis on evidence based approaches. 

2.1.5. However, representatives of the local government community 
have made it clear that they do not support forced academisation for 
all schools and they have argued about the lack of evidence for the 
efficacy of this proposal. The shift of power from locally accountable, 
democratically elected councils to unelected civil servants has also 
been raised as a concern. 

2.1.6. Councils are also concerned about the additional costs to 
councils, often to their non-schools’ budgets for facilitation of schools 
to become academies.

3. Consultation
a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required
n/a

4. Appendices

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report
Appendix A Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell's letter to the Secretary of State, Rt. 

Hon Nicky Morgan MP, in relation to the White Paper

5. Background Papers

The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 
were relied upon in the writing of this report.

Document title Where the document can be viewed
Educational Excellence 
Everywhere (EEE)

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/educational-excellence-
everywhere

The Local Government 
Association response to 
EEE

http://www.local.gov.uk/briefings-and-responses/-/journal_content/56/10180/7753398/ARTICLE

Association of Directors http://adcs.org.uk/education/article/educational-excellence-
everywhere-briefing-note

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/educational-excellence-everywhere
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/educational-excellence-everywhere
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/educational-excellence-everywhere
http://www.local.gov.uk/briefings-and-responses/-/journal_content/56/10180/7753398/ARTICLE


of Children’s Services 
briefing note on EEE
Inclusive Lincolnshire 
Strategy

http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12917/6.0%20Appen
dix%20A%20Inclusive%20Lincolnshire%20Strategy%20v2.2%20-
%20Post%20LLPB.pdf 

This report was written by Keith Batty, who can be contacted on 01522 553288 or 
kbatty@cfbt.com.

Page 93

http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12917/6.0%20Appendix%20A%20Inclusive%20Lincolnshire%20Strategy%20v2.2%20-%20Post%20LLPB.pdf
http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12917/6.0%20Appendix%20A%20Inclusive%20Lincolnshire%20Strategy%20v2.2%20-%20Post%20LLPB.pdf
http://lincolnshire.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s12917/6.0%20Appendix%20A%20Inclusive%20Lincolnshire%20Strategy%20v2.2%20-%20Post%20LLPB.pdf
mailto:kbatty@cfbt.com


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 95



Page 96



  
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children’s 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 15 April 2016 

Subject: 
Consultation on Future Provision of Dedicated Speech 
and Language/Primary Units 

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

 

This report sets out a consultation which recommends the discontinuance of the 
three dedicated speech and language referral units across Lincolnshire and to 
provide Speech and Language services to children requiring interventions in the 
school which they are on roll. It is considered that this provision to be in the best 
interests of Lincolnshire's children. It reinforces the priorities in the Children and 
Young People’s Plan and supports the Council’s aim of ensuring that as many 
children as possible can reach their full potential through an integrated service 
model. 
 
 

Actions Required:  

 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is invited to consider and 
provide feedback on the consultation document. 
 

 
1. Background
 

Lincolnshire Community Health Service (LCHS) currently supports over 3150 
children with a speech and/or language impairment from birth to leaving school 
age. Children who do not make progress through targeted speech and language 
therapy (SLT) provision are provided with additional therapeutic services through 
an 'enhanced model'. If they fail to make progress they may be referred for more 
intensive support and warrant specialist provision to progress their listening, 
language and literacy skills within a specialist speech and language unit.   
 
For children at primary age, Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) commissions three 
schools to provide educational and therapeutic support to children with complex 
speech and language difficulties. At present there are approximately 21 children in 
the three units receiving intensive SLT and educational support services. 

The three mainstream primary school sites who provide these dedicated units are 
Monkshouse Primary (Spalding), Mablethorpe Primary (Mablethorpe) and Fosse 
Way (Lincoln). 

Page 97

Agenda Item 7



The aim is to target provision early and begin to close the gap with their speech 
and language against their peers. This early years work aims to withdraw the 
support at the point where the child is able to be fully integrated back into 
mainstream. This process of reintegration back into mainstream brings additional 
problems as detailed in the consultation document. 
 
All three sites have and are being funded to provide Specialist Teachers and 
Teaching Assistant(s) from devolved budgets. The schools are required to provide 
adequate space for specialist teaching and learning. 
 
Consultation 
 
The consultation document, attached at Appendix A, proposes an alternative 
model recommending pupils with complex or severe speech and/or language 
needs remain within their local primary school and continue to be educated in this 
setting, whilst receiving short term intensive therapeutic services to support them in 
fulfilling their potential. 
  
The proposed model addresses a number of parental concerns including the 
removal of their child from the local school roll, the ability to place back at the same 
school and the significant travelling requirements placed upon young children.  
 
With effective partnership working, LCHS, the four Clinical Commissioning Groups 
(CCGs) and the Local Authority (LA) will work together to enhance the current SLT 
outreach support service into mainstream primary schools which supports children 
with complex speech and/or language needs to enable them to flourish in a 
mainstream school setting. This will be reinforced by strengthening the resources 
within LCHS for specialist speech and language support to meet the required 
demands across the county. At the same time the Specialist Teaching service will 
also be strengthened to provide outreach teaching support services into local 
primary schools to support the children. 
 
New referrals would be supported using the new model so there would be no 
further placements made into the units. The current funding arrangements would 
cease. However, subject to the views of parents of children currently in the units, 
transition arrangements will be developed and the three provider schools may 
continue to be funded in the interim on a commissioned basis. This would be 
dependent on the views of the pupils and their families currently attending the 
units. If pupils and their parents wish to remain at one of the three schools 
highlighted, this will continue to be supported or alternatively, the LA will help 
parents apply for an alternative school place nearer to their home.  
 
Where necessary focused SLT and school admission support would be required to 
reintegrate current pupil placements back into their local community primary 
schools.  

Under the proposed model the specialist teachers in each of the units would need 
to be consulted with on a potential transfer to or TUPE into the Local Authorities 
Specialist Teaching service. As these staff are direct employees of the provider 

Page 98



schools it will be necessary for these schools to obtain advice from their own HR 
providers to progress any required consultation with affected staff. 

In future, local mainstream primary schools would be responsible for providing 
support to pupils through their notional special needs funding as some of these 
pupils unless the child's needs were such that they required an Education, Health 
and Care (EHC) plan. Where the needs of the child are unable to be met by the 
school, they can follow the pathway for assessment for an EHC plan, which if 
approved, would provide appropriate additional resources and funding to the 
school to support the child's needs. Schools would be required to work with LCHS 
where intensive support is required and obtain advice and guidance on specialist 
teaching strategies from the Specialist Teaching service.    

This model aims to provide support for children with complex speech and/or 
language needs within their own local community school and for those pupils with 
more complex educational support needs to follow the appropriate pathway for an 
EHC plan. 
 

2. Conclusion
 
The consultation started on 9 March 2016 and will end on 22 April 2016.  
 
The Committee is invited to provide any comments to Cllr Mrs P A Bradwell, 
Executive Councillor for Adult Care and Health Services, Children's Services to 
enable her to make a decision. 
 
The report to the Executive Councillor will be considered by the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 27 May 2016. 
 
3. Consultation 
 
 

 
 

 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 
 

 
4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Consultation on future provision of dedicated speech and 
language/primary units  

Appendix B Q&As future provision of dedicated speech and language/primary 
units 

 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Andrew Hancy, who can be contacted on 01522 554031 
or andrew.hancy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

Page 99

mailto:andrew.hancy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A

Consultation on future

 provision of dedicated 

speech and language/primary 

units

9th March 2016

Page 101



2

Contact details

This consultation proposal is published by Lincolnshire County Council (LCC), County Offices, 
Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YQ regarding the closure of three dedicated speech and language 
units which are provided through Fosse Way Primary, Lincoln, Monkshouse Primary, Spalding 
and Mablethorpe Primary, Mablethorpe. Fosse Way Primary and Mablethorpe Primary are 
Academy Schools and Monkshouse Primary is maintained by the Local Authority (LA)

Implementation

The proposal is to discontinue the Speech and Language Unit services from all three primary 
schools with effect from 1st September 2016 and to provide Speech and Language services to 
children requiring interventions in the school which they are on roll.  

Objectives and reason for closure

The proposal detailed in this document is to discontinue the provision of three dedicated 
speech and language units across Lincolnshire and to provide Speech and Language 
services to children requiring interventions in the school which they are on roll. This is not 
related to any other school organisation proposal. Local Authorities (LA) are under a 
statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places in their area, promote high 
educational standards, ensure fair access to educational opportunity and promote the 
fulfilment of every child’s educational potential whilst at the same time meeting the aim of 
enabling children to take up a school place within their local community. This proposal 
recommends the discontinuance of the three dedicated speech and language referral units 
and to provide Speech and Language services to children requiring interventions in the 
school which they are on roll. It is considered that this provision to be in the best interests of 
Lincolnshire's children. It reinforces the priorities in the Children and Young People’s Plan 
and supports the Council’s aim of ensuring that as many children as possible can reach their 
full potential through an integrated service model.

Lincolnshire Community Health Service (LCHS) currently supports over 3150 children with a 
speech and/or language impairment from birth to leaving school age. Children who do not 
make progress through targeted speech and language therapy (SLT) provision are provided 
with additional therapeutic services through an 'enhanced model'. If they fail to make 
progress they may be referred for more intensive support and warrant specialist provision to 
progress their listening, language and literacy skills within a specialist speech and language 
unit.  

For children at primary age, Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) commissions three schools 
to provide educational and therapeutic support to children with complex speech and 
language difficulties. At present there are approximately 21 children in the three units 
receiving intensive SLT and educational support services.

The three mainstream primary school sites who provide these dedicated units are 
Monkshouse Primary (Spalding), Mablethorpe Primary (Mablethorpe) and Fosse Way 
(Lincoln).

Page 102



3

The purpose of the service is to target SLT provision early and begin to close the gap 
between the speech and language of the child against their peers. This early years work 
aims to withdraw the support at the point where they are able to be fully integrated back into 
a mainstream local community school. However, as the child is on the roll of the school 
where the dedicated provision is provided, transfer to a nearer or more local school is not 
always possible when they need to return as the nearer or more local school may not have 
any places available.

All three sites have and are currently being funded to provide Specialist Teachers and 
Teaching/Support Assistant(s) from devolved budgets. The schools are required to provide 
adequate space for specialist teaching and learning for the following pupil numbers:

Monkshouse, Spalding Commissioned for 12 places (currently have 8 pupils on roll)

Mablethorpe Commissioned for 10 places (current have 7 pupils on roll) 

Fosse Way Lincoln Commissioned for 12 places (currently have 6 pupils on roll)

Many parents prefer to keep their child in their nearer/more local school than being 
transported to a dedicated unit due to the travel time which may result.

Referral Process from Lincolnshire Health and Community Services (LCHS)
The current process for referral into a unit is as follows:

 Any child may present with speech and/or language difficulties at any time. At this point 
an LCHS Speech and Language Therapist may be engaged to provide therapeutic 
strategies to support parents/carers and educationalists in being able to support and 
develop the child's communication difficulties

 Where a child fails to make progress a Speech and Language Therapist may identify a 
need for a child to receive additional SLT support within a school setting. This is initially 
provided through outreach (enhanced provision) with 20 additional therapy sessions 
being provided

 In some cases a child does not make progress to the required level with this enhanced 
provision and at this point a specialist therapist will then work with the main therapist to 
assess the child and determine their needs

 The specialist therapist subsequently makes a recommendation to parents/carers and 
the current local mainstream primary school that the child may benefit from attending 
one of the specialist units

 The specialist therapist will liaise with the local mainstream primary school and the 
specialist unit primary school and a discussion will take place with the later about taking 
the child. There is currently no oversight of this pupil allocation process by Children's 
Services

 The child will be removed from the pupil roll of the local mainstream primary school and 
placed onto the roll of the specialist unit primary school. The funding for the pupil moves 
to the school with the specialist unit

 Each unit has a dedicated full time teacher focussing on speech and language, with 
additional funding provided for teaching/learning support. The teachers spend 

Page 103



4

approximately up to half of their teaching time within the units supporting the children 
and for the remainder of the time the children will attend mainstream classes for core 
curriculum subjects

 Once the child has progressed sufficiently to be able to return to local mainstream 
school, the specialist therapist will work with parents and carers to find a school 
placement for the child. This may not result in a return to their original school, which is 
the usual parental preference, but may be another local school

 Most children in the units are Reception/Year 1 and 2 but in some cases the child may 
remain in the unit until Year 6 when they move into secondary provision

 The duration of time the child spends attending the specialist unit varies depending 
upon individual needs and can range from a period of six months to a number of years.

 There are no dedicated units within secondary provision. This is provided by outreach 
through the LA's ECLIPS service

Current cost of provision
Whilst consideration is being given to providing this service in the most cost effective way 
this is not the sole driver for this proposed change. Both the LA and LCHS are committed to 
ensuring we provide the best support to meet the needs of children within their local 
community.

At present the LA funds the units to the sum of approximately £360,022 p.a. (2014/15). In 
addition Children's Services incurs costs for transport in the region of £125,755 p.a. The 
current costs for Speech and Language therapy services are about £68,674 p.a. resulting in 
a total cost of this service of around £554,451 p.a. 

Where a child has an Education Health and Care Plan (EHCP) under the 2013/14 School 
Funding Formula schools providing enhanced provision will also receive £10,000 per pupil 
and schools are expected to make adequate provision for children with identified special 
education needs. None of the children based in the units have an agreed EHCP. 

Drivers for Change

It is important to continually review our services to ensure they meet the needs of children.  
Whilst some authorities provide educational and therapeutic services to children through 
dedicated units some prefer to support children within their local community based schools 
and target the support provision in line with a child's individual needs. Many parents prefer to 
keep their child in their nearer/more local school than transported to a dedicated unit due to 
the travel time which may result.

Development of a local based approach
Not all children with identified complex speech and/or language difficulties are placed within 
the units. In fact some parents and carers object to this and support is then provided into the 
local community primary school. Many of our primary schools are successful in supporting 
children with these complex needs without having to refer to a specialist unit. The review of 
this SLT provision has taken into account the need to meet children's needs as much as 
possible within a mainstream setting. In addition the recommendations promoting inclusion 

Page 104



5

for children within their local community and their local school, the proposal ensures more 
localised provision reducing unnecessary travel.  

It is essential that we build on the requirement for improved partnership working within school 
localities to ensure that children's needs are met. Our recommendation is to strengthen  the 
current SLT outreach support model that is provided by LCHS into mainstream primary 
schools to provide children with intensive support, where required. 

Increased accessibility and choice
At present a child with an identified need for intensive SLT would be referred to a specialist 
unit. If accepted, they are removed from the roll of the local mainstream primary school and 
placed on the roll of the intake school (i.e. the primary school with the unit provision). Some 
parents/carers are reluctant for this to happen as they wish for their child to remain on roll at 
their current mainstream primary school due to locality or siblings attending the school. Also 
once the child is taken off roll there is no guarantee they can return to the original school if a 
place is no longer available, and they do not have preferential status for a place as they do 
not have an EHCP.

As there are only three units across the county this also impacts on both travel time for 
pupils and transport costs. Increased local support provision (education and therapy) within 
mainstream primary settings would provide a solution to address such concerns.

Adoption of a commissioned approach 
The feedback from the providers of this service (both LCHS and schools) was they are not 
robustly held to account in respect of performance or outcomes for these children. LCHS 
track progression of pupil's speech and/or language against a range of outputs, but these 
are not declared to the LA and progression is not overseen through clear Service Level 
Agreements. 

It is essential that the LA has oversight of commissioned outcomes from the services it funds 
and clear accountability frameworks and reporting on outcomes for education and health 
progress are demonstrated and evidenced. 

Review findings on current provision

The review of the current model of provision has evidenced a number of issues, including:

 Transport issues due to the distance for the child to travel (as we only have three units 
across Lincolnshire)

 Parental resistance to wanting to move their child from their local primary to a specialist 
unit which may be a significant distance from home

 There are no guarantees that a child can or will return to their local mainstream primary 
school (or the school from which they were originally on roll) and may have to be placed 
within another school

 The children do not have EHCPs so they do not get priority when being reintegrated 
back into a mainstream setting

 Some children are found to have more complex needs other than Speech and Language 
and this may lead to involvement of Educational Psychology for assessment to possibly 
move into a special school via an EHCP

Page 105



6

Proposed Future Model

The proposed alternative model recommends pupils with complex or severe speech and/or 
language needs remaining within their local primary school and continuing to be educated in 
this setting, whilst receiving short term intensive therapeutic services to support them in 
fulfilling their potential.
 
This model addresses a number of parental concerns as stated above including the removal 
of their child from the local school roll, the ability to place back at the same school and the 
significant travelling requirements placed upon young children. 

With effective partnership working; LCHS, the four Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 
and the LA will work together to enhance the current SLT outreach support service into 
mainstream primary schools which supports children with complex speech and/or language 
needs to enable them to flourish in a mainstream school setting. This will be reinforced by 
strengthening the resources within LCHS for specialist speech and language support to 
meet the required demands across the county. At the same time the Specialist Teaching 
service will also be strengthened to provide outreach teaching support services into local 
primary schools to support the children.

New referrals would be supported using the new model so there would be no further 
placements made into the units. The current funding arrangements would cease. However 
subject to the views of parents of children currently in the units, transition arrangements will 
be developed and the three provider schools may continue to be funded in the interim on a 
commissioned basis. This would be dependent on the views of the pupils and their families 
currently attending the units. If pupils and their parents wish to remain at one of the three 
schools highlighted, this will continue to be supported or alternatively, the LA will help 
parents apply for an alternative school place nearer to their home. 

Where necessary; focused SLT and school admission support would be required to 
reintegrate current pupil placements back into their local community primary schools. 

Under this option the specialist teachers in each of the units would need to be consulted with 
on a potential transfer to or TUPE into the Local Authorities Specialist Teaching service. As 
these staff are direct employees of the provider schools it will be necessary for these schools 
to obtain advice from their own HR providers to progress any required consultation with 
affected staff.

In future, local mainstream primary schools would be responsible for providing support to 
pupils through their notional special needs funding as some of these pupils unless the child's 
needs were such that they required an EHC plan. Where the needs of the child are unable to 
be met by the school, they can follow the pathway for assessment for an EHCP, which if 
approved, would provide appropriate additional resources and funding to the school to 
support the child's needs. Schools would be required to work with LCHS where intensive 
support is required and obtain advice and guidance on specialist teaching strategies from 
the Specialist Teaching service.   

Page 106



7

This model aims to provide support for children with complex speech and/or language needs 
within their own local community school and for those pupils with more complex educational 
support needs to follow the appropriate pathway for an EHC plan. 

Advantages Disadvantages

Keeps children within their local community 
school and educated with friends and/or 
family. This also supports transition to 
secondary provision

'Enhanced Plus' model of intervention 
complements and enhances the current 
'Enhanced' provision which is already 
provided into primary settings

Removes the requirement for significant 
travel time across county for some children

Reduces transportation costs

Removes parental concerns that when their 
child is ready to be reintegrated back into 
their local primary school that they will have 
a place on roll

Schools would not struggle to recruit to 
specialist teachers roles

Supports the EHCP pathway more clearly for 
those children with complex needs

Encourages local primary schools to develop 
support to meet needs of children with 
complex SLT needs with LCHS, so 
increasing their knowledge and skills in 
employing strategies for the future

Improved accountability for commissioned 
LCHS services in targeting achievement 
against agreed outcomes and progression

Removes intensive support provision where 
half of a child's school time is based in the 
unit receiving specialist teaching and SLT 
support 
 
Increased travel for professionals including 
Speech and Language Therapists and 
Specialist Teachers

Change of role for specialist teachers 
working for Local Authority

Possible loss of knowledge and skills if 
current teaching staff leave or are retained in 
school setting

Local primary schools are required to fund 
supporting resources from allocated special 
needs funding block for those children with 
complex speech and language problems

Business Case for Recommendation

Visits to each of the units took place in the summer of 2015 and discussions on the current 
operational model were held with the units Specialist Teachers, allocated Speech and 
Language Therapists and in some cases support staff to gain their views on the benefits and 
drawbacks of the current model of provision. Head Teachers also had the opportunity to 
input into these discussions.  

The recommendation to discontinue the units and to provide intensive speech and language 
therapy services back into local primary schools is based on the following business reasons:

Page 107



8

 The Education Act 1996 states " In exercising or performing all their respective powers 
and duties under the Education Acts, the Secretary of State and local education 
authorities shall have regard to the general principle that pupils are to be educated in 
accordance with the wishes of their parents, so far as that is compatible with the 
provision of efficient instruction and training and the avoidance of unreasonable public 
expenditure". This recommendation supports this statutory responsibility.

 In addition within the Education and Inspections Act 2006 it states "A local education 
authority in England shall exercise their functions under this section with a view to (a) securing 
diversity in the provision of schools, and (b) increasing opportunities for parental choice.  This 
recommendation secures diversity within its provision of education across Lincolnshire and 
increases parental choice in enabling a child to remain placed within their local community 
school.

 In the summer of 2014, ISOS Partnership undertook a review of SEN provision in 
Lincolnshire including the enhanced provision of Speech and Language. The 
recommendations from this report were for the LA to undertake a full review of the 
service provision as there were fundamental concerns around the current commissioning 
arrangements.  This report was shared with all schools with specialist provider units 
(Speech and Language and Hearing Impairment) at the time.

 It was stated at all three units by the Specialist Teachers that only up to half of their time 
is allocated to providing education provision to children in the unit. The remaining time of 
the students is spent within mainstream classes with peers, being supported by support 
staff/teaching assistants. The Specialist Teachers remaining time is spent either 
performing roles such as the school SENCO or teaching mainstream classes. This 
provides evidence that elements of the LA's funding is being used for other school 
activities that what the funding was intended for. The revised future model ensures the 
funding is fully utilised for its intended purposes in providing specialist teachers and 
speech and language therapy services to support children with complex speech and 
language needs.

 As there are only three dedicated units in the county this results in significant travel time 
for some children who are being transported long distances. The revised proposal 
removes this concern.

 The current model results in transportation costs of approximately £125,755 p.a. By 
placing children in their local community primary school this would significantly reduce 
transport costs by approximately 70% resulting in a saving of £88,000 p.a. to the Local 
Authority.

 By implementing the revised model, the three provider schools would not be adversely 
affected financially. The pupils in the units are above the schools normal pupil roll and 
the funding provided from the LA is in addition to their base funding. Therefore closing 
the units would be cost neutral. 

 Feedback was received from the Specialist Teachers and the allocated Speech and 
Language Therapists that whilst funding is provided to the three primary schools (circa 
£360,022 p.a.) there is currently no framework for accountably back to the LA on 
progression of the children. By commissioning this intensive enhanced speech and 
language service through LCHS, the LA will have the ability to oversee the progress and 

Page 108



9

outcomes for children with SLT complex needs, holding LCHS to account for the 
therapeutic interventions provided, thereby strengthening the Local Authorities position 
as a commissioning authority.

 The alternative model removes uncertainly within the process around those children who 
require additional support. Where a child is not making speech and/or language progress 
both parents/carers, schools and LCHS would be required to follow the defined EHCP 
pathway to request an appropriate package of support and funding to be provided to 
meet the child's needs. Going forward it is proposed that any child with complex SLT 
needs would be required to have an EHCP in place before being able to access the 
'Enhanced Plus' service so ensuring the support provision is appropriate to need.

 Whilst the requirement to make savings is not the sole driver for the proposed change, 
by placing children within their local community primary school and strengthening the 
provision of speech and language support from LCHS and specialist teaching services 
through the LA schools budget would result in a saving of approximately £237K p.a.

Proposed timetable for consultation and implementation

The proposed consultation timetable is outlined below. These timescales have been 
determined by seeking a reasonable balance between allowing adequate time for schools 
and affected staff to consider the proposals and the need to move toward the 
implementation of the changes in a timely manner. 

Date Action

09 March 2016 Start consultation with mainstream primary schools

19 March to 16 April 
2016

Undertake planned engagement sessions with parents and 
carers to seek their views on revised proposal

15th April 2016 Consultation proposal to be presented to Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Committee

22 April 2016 Consultation with mainstream primary schools closes

April/May Consider all feedback and responses to consultation and 
engagement events

27 April 2016 LCHS to provide final business model for Enhance Plus SLT 
services

27 May 2016 Final paper providing recommendation on future model provided 
to Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee

Page 109



10

Date Action

10 June 2016 Decision by Executive Councillor

w/c 13 June 2016 Communication of approved model to mainstream primary , 
provider schools and parents/carers

June 2016

Commence transition arrangements to admit children into 
requested local based community primary schools. 

Assess impact on those children remaining on roll at a primary 
schools with a unit proposed to close

04 July 2016 Confirm to parents/carers allocated school places for children

June/July 2016
Unit provider schools undertake consultation with affected staff on 
staffing impacts.  Support from LCC for those posts 
recommended to be transferred/TUPE into LCC

01 September 2016 Go live date for the new operational model

It is recognised that whilst the proposed go live date is 1 September 2016 that transition 
during Autumn Term 1 and 2 will possibly be required for pupils, schools and staff, including 
the finalisation of any required consultation process by the provider schools affected. 

Consultation Feedback

Any person or organisation may provide feedback or make comments on these proposals by 
sending them marked 'Private and Confidential' to Sheridan Dodsworth, Children's 
Services Manager, Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), 9/11 The Avenue, 
Lincoln, LN1 1PA or by emailing BS_SEND@lincolnshire.gov.uk to be received by the 
deadline of 22nd April 2016. 

Under current legislation the LA is the decision maker for the proposal and is co-ordinating 
the process before making the final decision. The LA as decision maker, must be able to 
show that all relevant issues raised are taken into consideration in the decision making 
process. Points raised can be considered unpersuasive must not be ignored altogether.

At the close of the consultation period on 22nd April 2016 responses will be collated and 
analysed and a further report will be presented to the Children and Young people Scrutiny 
Committee for comment, before going to the Executive Councillor for a final decision on the 
discontinuance of the units. This decision is likely to be taken in June 2016 but must be no 
later than 2 months after the end of the consultation period. The stated consultation period is 
the final opportunity for the people and organisations to express their views about the 
proposal and ensure that they will be taken into account by the decision maker.

Page 110

mailto:BS_SEND@lincolnshire.gov.uk


11

School Feedback Form

Consultation on future provision of dedicated speech and 
language/primary units

Please note that if you do not provide your name and address your views will not be counted 
as legitimate responses to this consultation. Names and contact details will remain 
confidential.

Name:                                                          email (optional): 

Postal Address:

Head Teacher              Teacher/School Staff                 School Governor

Other (please specify):

Which school do you represent?

Having read and considered the proposal please indicate your view below by ticking one of 
the boxes:

I am in favour of the proposal                          I am against the proposal

I am neither for nor against the proposal

Why have you decided this in your view? Please tell us below:

Is there anything else you would like us to consider?

Please return the completed form by 5pm on Friday 22nd April 2016. 

Email to BS_SEND@lincolnshire.gov.uk or by post marked Private and Confidential to 
Sheridan Dodsworth, Children's Services Manager, Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND), 9/11 The Avenue, Lincoln, LN1 1PA

Page 111

mailto:BS_SEND@lincolnshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

SCHOOLS CONSULTATION 

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS SHEET 

 

Consultation on future provision of dedicated speech and 

language/primary units 

 

What is the service that you are reviewing? 

Dedicated speech and language therapy units based in three primary schools.  

Lincolnshire Community Health Service (LCHS) currently supports over 3150 children with a 

speech and/or language impairment from birth to leaving school age. Where children do not 

make progress through additional targeted speech and language therapy (SLT) provision, 

i.e. the 'enhanced' service, they may be referred for more intensive support and warrant 

specialist provision to progress their listening, language and literacy skills within a 

mainstream school setting.  

For children at primary school age, Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) commissions three 

schools to provide educational and therapeutic support to children with complex speech and 

language difficulties. At present there are approximately 21 children in the three units 

receiving intensive SLT and educational support services. 

The purpose of the service is to target SLT provision early and begin to close the gap 

between the speech and language of the child against their peers. This early years work 

aims to withdraw the support at the point where they are able to be fully integrated back into 

a mainstream local school, however this also brings additional problems in them being able 

to be allocated a suitable place at an alternative school when they need to return. 

 

It is this model of SLT support which is provided to these pupils that is being reviewed to 

ensure it remains appropriate and continues to meet their individual needs. 

 

Who provides the dedicated speech and language service? 

The specialist Speech and Language Therapy service is delivered in three schools across 

the county. 

The three primary schools providing this specialist SLT service are Fosse Way Primary 

(Lincoln), Monkshouse Primary (Spalding) and Mablethorpe Primary (Mablethorpe). The 

schools are funded by the Local Authority (LA) to provide the specialist teaching and support 

staff in association with costs in operating the units. 

The speech and language therapy service delivered in these schools is provided through 

Lincolnshire Community Health Service (LCHS).   

Page 113



 

Why is this dedicated SLT service being reviewed? 

It is important to continually review our services to ensure they meet the needs of children.  

Whilst some authorities provide educational and therapeutic services to children through 

dedicated units some prefer to support children within their local community based schools 

and target the support provision in line with a child's individual needs.  

The review of this SLT provision has taken into account the desire to retain as many children 

as possible within a local based mainstream primary setting so promoting inclusion for children 

within their local community.   

Over the last few years the LA and LCHS have worked closely together to improve services 

to children with complex speech and/or language difficulties within their local community 

schools to the point that the number of children requiring intensive support within specialist 

units is now decreasing. We are of the view that it is better for a child to remain in their local 

school setting and for targeted services to be provided to assist the school in supporting a 

child's individual needs.   

What happens for secondary pupils who have speech and language difficulties? 

The LA does not provide similar units for children who are of secondary age. Those children 

with continuing needs for speech and language therapies are supported through an outreach 

model into secondary school settings through a service called ECLIPS. This model has 

proven to work extremely well in keeping children within their local community based school, 

working with the school to implement strategies to support their needs.   

What are the benefits of the current SLT unit service in these Primary Schools? 

The main benefit of the current provision is that children are placed within and receive 

intensive speech and language support within a dedicated unit, staffed by professionals and 

supported by LCHS Speech and Language Therapists. 

Other advantages include: 

 Each unit has a dedicated primary needs led teacher focussing on Speech and 

Language, with additional funding provided for teaching support staff 

 At least half of a pupil's time is spent receiving intensive support within the unit. For the 

rest of the time they benefit from being within mainstream classes with their peer group 

and being supported by support assistants 

 The current outreach provision for SLT into mainstream schools is limited to 20 sessions 

which may not always achieve the required outcomes and progression for children with 

more complex needs. This model provides an additional service to supplement this 

through short term targeted and intensive intervention 

 There is a perceived lack of knowledge by both parents/carers and professionals about 

what levels of support are available under the current local offer in respect of speech and 

language support provision through LCHS. These units exist to ensure there is a further 

pathway to a higher level of support. 

 

Page 114



 

What are the concerns about the dedicated SLT unit service? 

Following a comprehensive review of the service it has been identified there are a number of 

concerns that exist in providing support through such a model. These include: 

 Significant transportation issues due to the distance for some children to travel as there 

are only three units across the county, impacting on both travel time for pupils and 

transport costs 

 Some parents do not feel comfortable with their child moving to another school which is 

some distance away from their local primary provision, in particular where their child has 

to travel long distances.  

 Some of the children have more complex needs in addition to speech and language and 

this may lead to a requirement for assessment for an EHCP and a potential subsequent 

move into a special school, so delaying the necessary support provision required to meet 

their needs 

 At present a child with an identified need for intensive SLT would be referred to a 

specialist unit and when accepted they are removed from the roll of their current local 

primary school and placed on the roll of the school with the unit. Many parents and 

carers have fed back that they are reluctant for this to happen as they wish for their child 

to remain on roll at their current school due to locality, siblings attending the school and 

in building and maintaining local friendships with peers  

 Once the child has progressed sufficiently to be able to return to mainstream, the 

specialist therapist works with parents and carers to find a suitable school placement. 

Again this may not result in a return to their original school, or an alternative local 

primary school, which is the usual parental preference 

 Some schools report it has proved difficult to recruit replacement specialist teachers 

externally so the role has had to be offered to an existing teacher from within the school 

 The children spend the remaining half of their time attending mainstream classes, 

supported by support assistants, which raises the question as to why they cannot be 

supported wholly within a normal mainstream classroom setting and provided with the 

appropriate level of therapy support 

 Some parents and carers have fed back that they are not clear what the local offer for 

SLT is within mainstream primary settings so they cannot challenge why this support is 

not provided to keep children in their local school 

How much does the service currently cost? 

Whilst consideration is being given to providing this service in the most cost effective way 

this is not the sole driver for this proposed change. Both the LA and LCHS are committed to 

ensuring we provide the best support to meet the needs of children within their local 

community. 

At present the LA funds the units to the sum of approximately £360,022 p.a.  In addition the 

LA incurs costs for transport in the region of £125,755 p.a. The costs for speech and 

language therapy services are about £68,674 p.a. resulting in a total cost of this service of 

£554,451 p.a.  

Page 115



 

What would the benefits be if we moved to a model where support is provided within 

local based mainstream schools settings? 

With effective partnership working; LCHS, the four Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) 

and the LA will work together to enhance the current SLT outreach service into mainstream 

primary schools which supports children with more complex needs to flourish within a 

mainstream school setting. This will be reinforced by strengthening the resources within 

LCHS for specialist speech and language support to meet demands across the county.  

It is essential that we build on the requirement for improved partnership working within school 

localities to ensure children's needs are met. Our recommendation would be to strengthen the 

current SLT outreach support model provided by LCHS into mainstream primary schools to 

provide children with intensive support, where required.  

 

Our proposed alternative model results in pupils with more complex speech and/or language 

needs remaining within their local community primary school and continuing to be educated 

in this setting, receiving short term intensive therapeutic services to support them in fulfilling 

their potential. This addresses a number of parental concerns as stated including the 

removal of their child from the local primary school roll, ability to place their child back on roll 

at the same school and to remove the significant travelling requirements placed upon young 

children.  

This model provides support for children with complex speech and/or language needs within 

their own local community school so promoting inclusion and for those pupils with more 

severe speech and/or language problems with additional complex educational support needs 

to follow the appropriate pathway for an EHC plan.  

How would the transition of a child back into a local primary school be dealt with? 

New referrals would be supported using the new model so there would be no further 

placements made into the units. Where necessary; focused SLT and school admission 

support would be provided to reintegrate current pupil placements back into their preferred 

local community primary school.  

At the same time the Specialist Teaching service will be strengthened to provide outreach 

teaching support services into local primary schools to enable them to appropriately support 

the children. 

What is the difference between the current model and the proposed new model? 

At present LCHS offer support to children with identified speech and/or language difficulties 

in mainstream schools ('Enhanced' support). If this support is not sufficient to meet the 

needs of a child with more complex needs then a placement into one of the three dedicated 

units would be considered. As the diagram below shows:  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116



 
Current Model 

 

The proposed new model of support would look to offer more specialist support (i.e. 

Enhanced Plus) into mainstream primary schools to support the child so enabling them to 

remain educated in their local community. This would mean additional support would be 

offered to children who do not wish to leave their current school. The model below shows the 

potential change: 

Proposed Model 

 

 

School 

• Enhanced SLT support provided in 
mainstream school by LCHS 

• Not in scope for change 

Dedicated 
SLT Unit 

• Intensive SLT support provided in three 
dedicated units for complex needs 

• In scope to change 

Special 
Schools 

• Children require an EHC Plan for placement  

• SLT in Special School based on pupil needs 

•Not in scope for change 

School 

•SLT support provided in primary mainstream school will 
continue 

•Enhanced SLT support provided in primary mainstream 
school by LCHS 

•Children with complex needs requiring 'enhanced plus' 
support will be supported within primary mainstream 
schools 

 

Special 
School 

•Children require an EHC Plan for placement  

•SLT in Special School based on pupil needs 

•Not changing 

Page 117



What will the process be for obtaining enhanced plus speech and language support? 

The following provides an initial draft process flow for the provision of the enhanced plus 

speech and language service from LCHS into mainstream primary schools and supported by 

the Specialist Teaching service.  This is still in the process of development and finalisation 

and feedback as part of the consultation process is welcomed. 

Pupil is identified as requiring enhanced Speech 
and Language support in mainstream primary 

setting 

Pupil is provided with up to 20 additional SLT 
sessions through LCHS

Do they need an 
EHC plan?

No Yes
Follow pathway to 
apply for EHC plan

Would pupil benefit from intensive Speech and 
Language support (Enhanced Plus) from LCHS

Complete strategy meeting to determine 
needs of pupil and required outcomes:

 Specialist Speech and Language 
Therapist

 Specialist Teacher
 Mainstream school Teacher/Support 

Staff

Implement support strategy for Enhanced Plus 
support based on individual needs of pupil

Half Termly review of 
needs and outcomes 

completed

Have the outcomes been 
achieved?

No further intervention and provision closed as 
needs can be met through mainstream provision

No

Yes

Partially

It is proposed Enhanced Plus 
will consist of contact by a 

Speech and Language Therapist 
as follows:

Band 4 – 2 contacts per week
Band 6 – 1 contact per week

 

Page 118



 

What if a parent/carer decides they want their child to stay in the unit they are 

currently in? 

As part of our engagement with parents and carers we are engaging with them to gather and 

understand their views on the proposed model to support their child. If they were to decide 

they would prefer for their child to remain on the roll of the school who currently provides the 

unit, they can choose to do so.   

However, depending on the outcome of the review and the alternative model agreed we 

cannot guarantee the future viability of the units as they currently operate should the number 

of children in the units reduce significantly. If this happens the child will still stay in the school 

but will benefit from the 'Enhanced Plus' model for speech and language service as detailed 

above. 

If a parent/carer wants their child to move back to a local primary school what will 

happen and when? 

Depending on the feedback received during consultation and from our engagement sessions 

with parents and carers, and the subsequent model agreed by the LA for the future provision 

of the service, LCHS Speech and Language and the LA will work with parents and carers to 

determine their preferred primary school placement. We will then together work to secure a 

placement and to develop an appropriate transition plan to commence the provision of the 

'Enhanced Plus' speech and language support programme when the child moves school.   

As a school what does this mean to the funding I am provided with to run this 

service? 

All three provider schools of the units are provided with funding in line with the number of 

pupils they have on roll.  As this is a funded service by the LA it is reviewable and numbers 

and funding can be reduced in line with the numbers of children on roll. These units are 

funded above the schools normal base budget for pupils on roll and therefore the closure of 

the units will be cost neutral. We have been clear that during the period of the review 

schools will not be financially disadvantaged and we will work together to ensure that the 

funding provided to the school reflects any required implementation plan including transition 

arrangements. 

As a Specialist Teacher working in the unit what does this mean to me? 

The LA passports the funding for this service to the school and it is the school who employs 

the Specialist Teacher. The contract of employment is therefore with the school or the LA if a 

community school. If the new model is approved, there will be further consultation with all 

affected staff. 

I am a Learning Support Assistant, what are the implications on my job?  

As with the Specialist Teachers, Support Assistant are employed by the school. If the new 

model is approved, there will be further consultation with all affected staff. 

 

 

Page 119



If I provide feedback to this consultation will my comments be considered? 

The purpose of consultation and engagement is to share, collect and reflect on any 

comments made on the suggested proposal. We accept this can be a very difficult time for 

individuals who are impacted by any potential changes and will ensure they are supported in 

any process of change.  

All comments will be collated and reflected in the final recommendation made on the future 

service provision.  

Please ensure your feedback is submitted to us by the closing date of 5.00 pm on Friday 

22nd April 2016. 

Who will make the final decision on the future model? 

The outcome of the consultation with affected schools and staff and feedback received from 

engagement with parents/carers will be provided in a final report which will contain the 

recommended model for approval. This recommendation will be submitted to the Children 

and Young People Scrutiny Committee in May with a final decision being made by the 

Executive Councillor for Children's Services in early June 2016. 

Page 120



 

     Policy and Scrutiny 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 15 April 2016 

Subject: 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group – Update  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This report enables the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to have 
an overview of the activities of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny 
Sub-Group, in particular the Sub-Group’s consideration of child safeguarding 
matters. The draft minutes of the last meeting of the Scrutiny Sub-Group held 
on 6 January 2016 are attached.   

 
 

Actions Required: 

That the draft minutes of the meeting of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards 
Scrutiny Sub-Group, held on 6 January 2016 be noted. 
 

 
1. Background
 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group considers both adults’ 
and children's safeguarding matters, in particular focusing on the activities of the 
Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board and Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults 
Board. 
 
The last meeting of the Sub-Group was held on 6 January 2016 and the draft 
minutes are attached at Appendix A to this report.  As the remit of the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee includes children's safeguarding, the Committee 
is requested to focus on those minutes of the Sub-Group, which are relevant to this 
remit.     
 
2. Conclusion
 
The draft minutes appended to this report are for the Committee’s information.
 
3. Consultation 

 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

This report does not require policy proofing. 
 

Page 121

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 

 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Minutes of the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group held on 6 January 2016. 

 
5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Catherine Wilman, who can be contacted on 01522 
55(3788) or catherine.wilman@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 

Page 122

mailto:catherine.wilman@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

6 JANUARY 2016

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR C R OXBY (CHAIRMAN)

Lincolnshire County Council: Councillors D Brailsford, S R Dodds, Mrs S Ransome 
and Mrs M J Overton MBE

Parent Governor: Mrs E Olivier-Townrow

Officers in attendance:-

Dave Culy (Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board Manager), Simon Evans (Health 
Scrutiny Officer), Caroline Mogg (CSE Co-ordinator) and Andrew Morris (LSCB 
Business Manager), Catherine Wilman (Democratic Services Officer)

12    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies were received.

13    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

No interests were declared.

14    MINUTES FROM THE MEETING OF THE SUB GROUP HELD ON 7 
OCTOBER 2015

RESOLVED

That the minutes from the meeting held on 7 October 2015 be approved as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman.

15    UPDATE ON THE WORK OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING 
CHILDREN BOARD AND ITS SUB-GROUPS

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Sub-Group with an update on 
the work currently being undertaken by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board 
(LSCB) and its sub-groups.

It was reported that the Government had recently commissioned an independent 
review of children's safeguarding which was to be completed by March 2016.  A 
proposal in the review, which was being considered, was to centrally commission 
Serious Case Reviews.  They would use an agreed model/template with local 
agencies compiling and writing the report.  

Page 123



2
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP
6 JANUARY 2016

Some Councillors made it clear that they were against centralisation.  The 
Independent Chair of the LSCB stated that it was clear from discussions that the 
Government lacked confidence in a number of safeguarding boards and their 
transparency, across the country.

Members were in agreement that if the format of the reports followed a standard 
template, there would be benefits.  The commissioning of reports centrally, however, 
would not be successful.

Communications within the LSCB had become an integral part of each team since 
the Communications Sub Group had been disbanded and this had prompted 
changes to the arrangements for co-ordinating and issuing press releases.

The Association of Independent Chairs of Local Safeguarding Children Boards had 
responded to the consultation, as had the Director of Children's Services.

There had been an action plan borne out of the Ofsted inspection in 2014 and 
Members asked if the Sub-Group should be seeking assurance that the action plan 
was being implemented.  It was reported that the role of LSCB Audit and Policy 
Officer had been created in order to monitor the implementation of action plans, as 
well as other responsibilities.

RESOLVED

That the update report be noted.

16    SERIOUS CASE REVIEW

The Sub Group considered a report which provided an update on the work currently 
being undertaken by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board, in particular a 
recently published Serious Case Review.

The Sub Group received a summary of the Serious Case Review from Officers, 
which had involved a young person taking their own life as a result of online bullying.  
The Review had taken into consideration the effective strategies around e-safety and 
bullying prevention currently used in Lincolnshire and had concluded that the death 
had been unpreventable and unpredictable.  The family supported this conclusion.

Questions asked on the item from the Sub Group, confirmed the following 
information:

 Schools from neighbouring local authorities did not keep the Council updated 
on children moving into Lincolnshire schools from their area, however, work 
was being undertaken with schools allowing access for auditing the movement 
of children;

 In these times of funding cuts to preventative services, the Serious Incident 
Review Group was a mechanism to track actions following serious case 
reviews.

Page 124



3
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

6 JANUARY 2016

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

17    LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD POLICY 
DEVELOPMENTS

A report was considered which provided an overview of two new policy developments 
undertaken by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Board which were the Pre-
Birth Protocol and working with mobile families.

Work on the Pre-Birth Protocol involved development of the existing policy to ensure 
more effective use of the Team Around the Child (TAC) and Early Help processes.  A 
section regarding Female Genital Mutilation had been added also.

The recent case of Family Q had prompted the creation of the Mobile Families 
Guidance, which agencies could also use.  Work was also being done with the 
Department of Work and Pensions to identify transient families, as organising 
benefits, before moving to a new location was often a priority for people.  The 
voluntary sector for example, community run groups, was also being approached for 
help with identifying transient families.

Discussion took place regarding children from eastern Europe being taken out of 
school for visits to their home country and then returning.  Officers hoped that this 
was being raised as a safeguarding issue by the school.  Generally, schools were 
happy to discuss such issues with transient or immigrant families and keep school 
places available for those children, however, it seemed certain families were not 
notifying the school of their children's absence in such situations.

It was noted that both the Pre-Birth Protocol and the Working with Mobile Families 
policies had been approved by the Board and the relevant agencies.

RESOLVED

That the report, policies and comments made be noted.

18    IDENTIFICATION AND PREVENTION OF CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION

Consideration was given to a report which provided the Sub Group with an update on 
the work undertaken by the Board in relation to Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE).

The Board's CSE Action Plan placed a requirement on all statutory partners to have 
in place a record flagging system so that they could identify a young person known to 
them who presented with any concerns of CSE.  The partner agencies had agreed to 
apply the three levels of flags which ranged from Level 1 – identifying vulnerabilities 
in an individual to Level 3 – at risk of immediate harm.

Work was ongoing to get all agencies to embed CSE Standards in their policies and 
procedures.  To assist this, a number of posters and banners had been designed and 

Page 125



4
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP
6 JANUARY 2016

produced to raise awareness of CSE and to tie-in with Child Sexual Exploitation 
Awareness day on Friday, 18 March 2016.

Professionals should only conduct a CSE risk assessment on children they believed 
were at risk, and not every child they came into contact with.  Research had shown 
that following safeguarding work with a child, their mindset could be changed about 
why they found exploitative relationships so attractive.

Discussion took place regarding suicide and how to raise awareness of ways to 
reduce cases of suicide, without encouraging it.

It was highlighted that there was no requirement in schools for staff to have regular 
safeguarding training.  This would be flagged up with Ruth Fox, Safeguarding 
Children Officer for Education Settings.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

19    KEY MESSAGES FROM LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING ADULTS 
BOARD

Consideration was given to a report which updated the Sub Group on the key issues 
from the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board (LSAB) held in October 2015.

The Officer summarised the report and the following points were noted:

It was reported that this would be the last meeting of the Sub Group for the LSAB's 
Independent Chair, Elaine Baylis, who would be stepping down with effect from 1 
February 2016.  However, Elaine was involved in the selection process for a new 
Chair, which was underway.

A recent addition to standing agenda items for the Board was the Challenge Log, 
which was designed to ensure either 'cross member' or 'external to Board' challenges 
were documented, progressed and concluded in a transparent and appropriate way.  
It was reported that to date, there had been three challenges received.

Team Around the Adult was being introduced under the prevention strategy.  This 
was part of a piece of work which took the principles achieved by the Children's 
Board and applied them to an adult context.

Recently a trial programme had been underway within East Lindsey and North 
Kesteven District Councils looking at working with multi-agencies around supporting 
individuals through wellbeing programmes and Police Community Support Officers.

There was high quality training available for partner agencies by partner agencies as 
part of Workforce Development Programme.  The Board strongly recommended 
agencies to take part.

Page 126



5
LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB-GROUP

6 JANUARY 2016

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

20    SAFEGUARDING ADULTS REVIEWS

Consideration was given to a report which updated the Sub Group on current 
Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR) (formerly known as Serious Case Reviews) which 
were going through the early information gathering process.

There were three SARs currently being processed, details of which were in the report 
and the Sub Group was updated on the progress and current situation of each.

It was noted that the Prevention Strategy and Team Around the Adult would help 
protect people who relied on exploitative relationships for companionship.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

21    LINCOLNSHIRE SAFEGUARDING BOARDS SCRUTINY SUB GROUP 
WORK PROGRAMME

The Sub Group considered its future work programme, which included the schedule 
of upcoming Board meetings.

Discussion took place regarding an issue around taxi licensing and any pending 
convictions of applicants.  Under the previous licensing system, the Police (as a 
consultee) would inform the licensing authority (district councils) whether an applicant 
had any unspent convictions.  This process could sometimes take up to a year to 
complete.  Under the new law which was introduced over 2 years ago, the Police 
looked at applications on a risk assessment basis to decide whether the licensing 
authority needed to be informed of a conviction.  It was felt that this approach was 
inconsistent and unsatisfactory.  Despite this, Officers felt the issue was outside the 
jurisdiction of the Safeguarding Adult Board and was a matter for the district councils 
to resolve.

Sub Group representatives to attend forthcoming Board meetings were agreed upon.

RESOLVED

That the work programme be noted. 

The meeting closed at 12.30 pm

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



       
Policy and Scrutiny 

 

Open Report on behalf of Debbie Barnes, Executive Director of Children's 
Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 15 April 2016 

Subject: Corporate Parenting Panel Update  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

The work of the Corporate Parenting Panel remains criticial in promoting life 
chances and opportunities for vulnerable children, looked after children, and 
care leavers.  Members act as champions on behalf of these groups of children 
and young people. The Panel meets on a quarterly basis and includes 
representatives from looked after children and foster carers. 
 
Through the presentation of reports, performance information, and Visiting 
Members responsibilities, the Panel scrutinise the arrangements for the safety 
and welfare of looked after children and care leavers are in accordance with 
what every good parent would want for their own child. 
 
It is agreed that the minutes of the Corporate Parenting Panel be presented to 
the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee, and attached are the draft 
minutes of the meeting held on 10th March 2016. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is asked to note the work 
of the Corporate Parenting Panel and to consider the matters raised and 
addressed. 

 

 
1. Background
 
The Panel meet quarterly and is continually evolving and is very proactive in 
seeking information to inform Members about the quality of services provided by 
the Local Authority and partner agencies, as is evidenced in the recording of the 
minutes. 
 
2. Conclusion
 
The on-going scrutiny process looking at how well we meet our respective 
responsibilities and the different aspects of a child and young person's needs is 
pivotal to the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel. The attached draft minutes 

Page 129

Agenda Item 9



provide an account of the work undertaken since the previous Panel held on 10th 
December 2015. 
 
3. Consultation 

 
 

 
 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

n/a 
 

 

4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Corporate Parenting Panel Draft Minutes 10/03/2016 

 
 

5. Background Papers 
 
No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
This report was written by Tara Jones, who can be contacted on 01522 552686 or 
tara.jones@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 130



1

CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
10 MARCH 2016

PRESENT:  COUNCILLOR  D BRAILSFORD (CHAIRMAN)

Lincolnshire County Council: Councillors J D Hough (Vice-Chairman), 
A G Hagues, R A H McAuley, P J O'Connor and L Wootten.

Added Members: Jean Burbidge (Lincolnshire Community Health Services), Mary-
Beth Pepperdine (V4C The Children in Care Council) and Polly Coombes (Foster 
Carer).

Officers in attendance:-

Debbie Barnes (Executive Director of Children's Services), Kieran Barnes (Head of 
Virtual School Looked After Children), Katrina Cope (Senior Democratic Services 
Officer), Annie Fletcher (Children's Services Manager, Barnardo's), Jan Gunter 
(Consultant Nurse Safeguarding and Looked After Children, South West Lincolnshire 
CCG), John Herbert (Youth Development Hub Manager), Tracy Johnson (Senior 
Scrutiny Officer), Tara Jones (Service Manager - Regulated South and Adoption), 
Ron Oliver (Assistant Director, Barnardo's), Yvonne Shearwood (Quality and 
Standards Manager), Janice Spencer (Assistant Director - Children's Safeguarding), 
Ildiko Kiss (Regulation 44 Officer) and Alison Poxon (Youth Hub Manager).

48    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

No apologies were received from members of the Panel.

Apologies for absence were received from the following officers, John Harris, 
(Children's Services Manager – Regulated North and Fostering) and Michelle 
Andrews (Head of Birth to Five Services).

The Chairman advised the Panel that this was the last meeting that Jan Gunter would 
be attending as she was retiring on 31 March 2016.  The Panel extended their thanks 
to Jan for help and support and wished her well in her retirement.

49    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS

There were no declarations of members' interest made at this point in the meeting.

50    MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 10 DECEMBER 2015

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the Corporate Parenting Panel meeting held on 10 
December 2015 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

Page 131



2
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
10 MARCH 2016

51    BARNARDO'S LEAVING CARE SERVICE 6 MONTHLY UPDATE 
INCLUDING COMPLIMENTS AND COMPLAINTS

Consideration was given to a six monthly report from Barnardo's Lincolnshire, which 
provided the Panel with information on the Leaving Care Service with regard to care 
leavers from April 2015 to September 2015.

The following Appendices were attached to the report presented:-

 Appendix A – provided data relating to young people who did not have suitable 
accommodation;

 Appendix B – provided data relating to young people who were not in 
education, employment and training;

 Appendix C – provided data relating to compliments and complaints (exempt 
information);

 Appendix D – Gave an example of the works of the temporary Advice, 
Information and Guidance Worker;

 Appendix E – Provided an update on the Volunteer Mentoring Scheme; and
 Appendix F – Provided pictorial evidence of the Duet Sailing Adventure which 

had taken place from 25 to 28 May 2015 (exempt information).

Annie Fletcher (Children's Services Manager – Barnardo's), advised the Panel that 
one of the biggest challenges had been the change in the contract, as this had 
affected both Barnardo's and the young people.  The Panel noted that there had not 
been any complaints from the young people; and that Appendix C provided a 
selection of 'Thank you messages' that had been received from the young people 
during the first two quarters.

During consideration of the report presented, the following items were highlighted to 
the Panel:-

 The Education Employment and Training (EET) targets which were detailed on 
page 14 of the report.  It was noted that EET partnership working had been 
strengthened, but there still needed to be a closer working relationship with 
Looked After Children Educational Services to support 16/17 year olds whilst 
they remained in care, to better prepare them for their transition to adult EET; 

 That Trafford was the only Council who had achieved outstanding for their 
leaving care service.  The Panel noted that Lincolnshire County Council was 
one step down;

 The Panel was advised that the Department for Education had spent a couple 
of days with the Children's Services Manager – Barnardo's and her team 
recently.  The Panel noted that the comments received from the Department 
for Education had been very positive; and they had been very impressed with 
the work being done around EET.  The Panel was advised further that the 
service had been selected as an example of best practice;

 It was reported that Barnardo's had also received a Safeguarding Assurance 
visit.  Again the comments shared had been very positive; and particular 

Page 132



3
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

10 MARCH 2016

reference had been mentioned to how motivated and articulate members of 
staff were; and how the staff were always prepared to go that extra mile for the 
young people.  The overall opinion was that the service was a good service.  
Officers commented that the level of service was down to the excellent 
partnership and relationship between all parties involved.  It was highlighted 
that was always room for improvement, and that was something the service 
would continue to strive to improve.  The Panel was advised that Officers were 
just awaiting the final report.

During discussion, the Panel raised the following points:-

 Confirmation was given that the medical nurse had been funded by LCC for 
the first half of the year;

 The involvement of other Councils across Lincolnshire particularly around 
access to housing for Care Leavers.  A suggestion was made for dual hatted 
Councillors to get more involved with regard to the Corporate Parenting role.  
The Panel was advised that representatives from Barnardo's normally met 
with senior housing officers from District Councils.  The Panel agreed that 
there was a need for District Councillors to be more aware and the Children's 
Services Manager – Barnardo's agreed to provide some information to the 
Chairman after the meeting.  The Chairman agreed to contact dual hatted 
councillors to highlight the issues around housing for Care Leavers;

 Suitability of Gateway accommodation – The Panel was advised that youth 
housing through Gateway had been designed with homeless young people in 
mind who needed accommodation urgently.  It was not however providing 
accommodation for vulnerable young people leaving care in a planned way. It 
was reported that work was currently being undertaken to look at specialist 
commissioning;

 It was reported that supported lodgings continued to be a popular option for 
young people leaving care and the Supported Lodgings Team continued to 
recruit, select and train suitable providers.  The Panel was advised that there 
were currently 38 young people in supported lodgings;

 The Panel noted that currently there were two young people in Bed and 
Breakfast accommodation.  It was noted further that no young person leaving 
care would be moved directly into bed and breakfast accommodation, and that 
bed and breakfast would only be used in situations where the young person 
had exhausted all other housing options. This would usually be as a result of 
tenancy breaches in previous accommodation;

 Specialist Advice Information and Guidance Role and Specialist Parenting 
Support Worker.  The report presented highlighted that these roles going 
forward were likely to require additional partnerships with FE colleges and/or 
training providers to make joint approaches to other funding streams.  The 
Panel was advised that there was lots of advice available for Looked After 
Children, as the virtual school now had designated teachers, and children 
were referred to colleges for advice.  The Virtual school worked alongside 
schools and colleges to provide a more consistent approach across the 
County. Officers highlighted that Barnardo's could link in to service being 
provided to avoid any gaps in provision; and

Page 133



4
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
10 MARCH 2016

 Tier 3 Provision for mental health – It was agreed that the Chairman would 
raise this issue and the challenges facing young people in crisis at the next 
Lincolnshire Health and Wellbeing Board meeting on 22 March 2016.

The Panel welcomed the report.

RESOLVED

That the Barnardo's Lincolnshire Leaving Care Service six monthly report be 
noted.

52    V4C  THE LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN COUNCIL QUARTERLY MINUTES

Mary Beth Pepperdine, V4C Executive Member advised the Panel that lots of 
preparation work had been done during January and February for the FAB Awards 
held on 5 March 2016.  The FAB Awards had been a great success and 
congratulations were extended to everyone involved in the event.

Copies of the V4C Executive Minutes from meetings held on 19 January 2016 and 16 
February 2016 were included within the agenda for consideration by the Panel.  

Page 53 provided the Panel with a list of meeting dates for V4C Executive 2016 
meeting dates.  Councillor A G Hagues advised that he would be able to attend the 
19 April meeting; and Councillor J D Hough advised that he would be able to attend 
the 17 May 2016 meeting.  It was agreed that the Senior Scrutiny Officer would 
circulate the list of dates to members of the Panel for them to sign up for their 
preferred date, to ensure that a representative of the Panel attended each of the V4C 
Executive meetings.

The Panel was also advised that a V4C South meeting would be held on 16 April 
2016 at a venue to be agreed; and that the Big Conversation Event on 4 April 2016 
would be held at Horncastle at 10.00am; further details relating to these events would 
be available in due course.

The Panel was advised that Alison Poxon, Youth Hub Manager, would be attending 
Corporate Parenting Panel meetings going forward.  The Youth Hub Manager 
updated the Panel on future plans, which included some of the following ideas:- 

 Building on the FAB Awards;
 Getting existing members to buddy new members;
 Seeing how young people could link into other groups such as 'Positive 

Futures';
 Better collection of data relating to Looked After Children;
 Increased digital media usage i.e. Facebook and twitter;
 Engaging the wider Looked After Children;
 Setting up V4C groups i.e. age differential;
 Offer incentives for young people to attend group meetings.  Reference was 

made to an application that would record attendance/hours at meetings, 

Page 134



5
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

10 MARCH 2016

reference was also made to the use of reward schemes for young people i.e. t-
shirt;

 Looking at accredited learning; 
 Recognising the impact of volunteers;
 Consulting more with young people;
 Inviting Looked After Children to attend open access sessions; and 
 The setting up of youth hubs. 

The Panel was advised that a plan depicting planned future working would be 
presented to the next meeting for consideration.

RESOLVED

That the updated be noted.

53    PERFORMANCE - QUARTER 3 EXCEPTIONS REPORT

The Panel gave consideration to a report from Janice Spencer, Assistant Director 
Children's Safeguarding, which provided performance information relating to Looked 
After Children for Quarter Three 2015/16.

The Assistant Director Children's Safeguarding guided the Panel through the report 
presented and responded to the following points raised:-

 Page 61 – Stability of placements of Looked After Children – number of 
moves.  The Panel noted that this indicator had shown sustained improvement 
over the year; and

 Page 62 – Stability of placements of Looked After Children – length of 
placement.  Some concern was expressed with regard to the comment that 
'Target to remain the same as previous year, this is a very challenging figure 
especially with the present cohort of Looked After Children'  The Panel was 
advised that this was now improving as there was more support being given to 
foster carers.  It was highlighted that a lot of the young people had high 
complex needs.  To help, the Panel noted that care plans were being designed 
which were very child specific; and that foster carers would receive training to 
help support them through the process.

RESOLVED

The Panel noted the report presented.

54    THE EDUCATIONAL PROGRESS OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN IN 
ENGLAND: LINKING CARE AND EDUCATIONAL DATA

The Panel received a report and presentation from Debbie Barnes, Executive 
Director for Children's Services, which outlined evidence from recent research carried 
out by the Rees Centre at the University of Oxford and the University of Bristol, 
regarding the educational outcomes for Looked After Children, a copy of this report 
was detailed at Appendix A to the report presented.  

Page 135



6
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
10 MARCH 2016

It was reported in response to this, the Association of Directors of Children's Services 
(ADCS) had been working with the Virtual School Heads Network and the National 
Consortium for Examination Results, and as a result a policy paper had been 
produced, which made a series of recommendations as to how practice could be 
developed to further improve educational outcomes for Looked After Children, a copy 
of this report was attached at Appendix B to the report presented.  It was noted that 
the Executive Director for Children's Services was the Chairman of the Association of 
Directors of Children's Services Educational Achievement Policy Committee.

It was reported that improving the educational outcomes for children in care was a 
priority for national and local government.  The research findings suggested that care 
was generally a protective factor, with early admission to care being associated with 
consistently better educational outcomes.  It was also highlighted that care also 
benefitted those who had been admitted into the care system later, but it did not fully 
reverse the damage that had been already done.

The report from the ADCS and its partners made a number of recommendations to 
the Department of Education, Ofsted, local authorities and schools, which would 
significantly improve the educational outcomes for children in care.  The Panel was 
also advised that there was also a central recommendation which asked for the 
development and implementation of a new national system for monitoring educational 
outcomes and progress for children in care, as in the past information that was 
available had been inconsistent.  The four key aims highlighted in the report were:

 To identify and disseminate effective practice;
 To enable all parts of the system to be held properly to account;
 To improve the educational provision and outcomes for children in care both in 

aggregate and individually; and
 To inform future research.

The report also highlighted that once the paper had been agreed by all partners the 
next step would be to create a project plan to have new systems in place for 
September 2016.  

Appendix C to the report provided the Panel with copies of slides which presented 
the research findings.

The Panel received a short presentation from the Executive Director for Children's 
Services, which covered the following issues:

 Key messages from the research; factors predicting poorer progress;
 Key issues, which included where resources needed to invested in order to 

maximise improved outcomes; the type of practices which were more likely to 
enhance educational outcomes; and how social care and educational data 
could be linked to measure progress and understand what areas had had a 
positive impact;

Page 136



7
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

10 MARCH 2016

 Challenges facing Local Authorities – this included that 59% of all local 
authorities use the Children in Care funding criteria as part of their formulae; 
that 70% of children in care do not have a strengths and difficulties 
assessment completed; and that fixed term exclusions were not counted at a 
national level, but that each local authority should have a record of them; and

 Stimulating a national debate about improving support and ambition for 
children in care working to the four work streams.

During discussion, the following issues were raised:-

 Exclusion for Looked After Children.  The Panel was advised that this hardly 
ever happened and if it did it was only for 2/3 days.  The Panel was advised 
further that this matter was for national debate; and

 That a Pilot project was being run in Louth, which involved the gathering of 
data for each child, relating to education and placement to build up a picture of 
the individual's attendance, absence, areas excelled at etc.

RESOLVED

That the report presented be noted.

55    FOSTERING REPORT QUARTER THREE

The Panel gave consideration to a report from the Executive Director of Children's 
Services, which outlined the activity in the fostering service during quarter three.

Appendix A to the report provided the Panel with the quarterly update.

Tara Jones, Children's Services Manager – Regulated – South and Adoption, guided 
the Panel through the report and appendix presented and responded to questions 
raised, which included:

 That all young people were given the opportunity to 'Stay Put' with their 
existing foster carer, or another foster carer.  It was agreed that a report 
regarding this issue should be presented to a future meeting.

RESOLVED

1. That the quarter three fostering report for 2015/16 as presented be noted.

2. That a report concerning information relating to the Staying Put scheme be 
presented to a future meeting of the Panel.

56    VISITING MEMBERS QUARTERLY REPORT

Consideration was given to a report from Tara Jones, Children's Services Manager – 
Regulated – South and Adoption, which provided a copy of the Visiting Members – 
Log of Quarterly Visits to Children's Homes April 2015 – March 2016.

Page 137



8
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL
10 MARCH 2016

Officers extended their thanks to members for their continuing support and 
commitment, as staff and children really appreciated their visits.

It was highlighted that there was a gap in the Visiting Members Log and it was 
agreed that this would improve going forward.

During consideration of the log, particular reference was made to:-

 That the Regulation 45 report received for Strut House had been placed on 
Ofsted's good practice website;

 That staff from Strut House and Haven Cottage were visiting other local 
authorities to share how they capture the voice of children;

 That Eastgate and Haven Cottage had had their Ofsted inspection with each 
home receiving an outstanding Judgement.  It was noted that Haven had 
involved children in the design of a new sign, which had now been erected;

 That the Janice Spencer, Assistant Director – Children's Safeguarding had 
received a compliance notice for the Secure Unit.  It was noted that Ofsted 
would be back at the end of the month; and it was hoped that the rating would 
be improved; and

 That Albion Street had undergone an inspection in December and the 
inspector had come back last month with 'Improved Effectiveness'.  A meeting 
of all agencies had taken place and a further inspection was expected in 4/6 
months' time.  It was noted that Albion Street had increased their escalation 
process.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.

57    VIRTUAL SCHOOL UPDATE

Consideration was given to a report from Kieran Barnes, Head of Virtual School 
Looked After Children Lincolnshire, which provided an interim report on the virtual 
school. 

The report provided information relating to the Lincolnshire Context; electronic 
personal education plan compliance; current predictions; and absence management.

Officers responded to questions raised, which included the following issues:-

 Page 173 – Current Predictions – It was noted that the collection of pupil 
related performance information continued to be a struggle for the Virtual 
Team, due to the non-completion by schools of the School Survey and the 
accuracy of the returns received from schools, as those received over the 
2014 to 2015 academic year had proved to be unreliable;

 Page 175 – Absence Management – It was reported that the overall 
attendance for all Looked After Children resident to Lincolnshire was 94.8% at 
the end of December 2015.  The Panel was advised that years 1 – 9 attended 

Page 138



9
CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

10 MARCH 2016

school on a constant basis, and that this then seem to change for years 10 
and 11.  It was highlighted that a lot of work was being done in Lincolnshire to 
track Looked After Children and this information could then be fed into the 
national picture;

 KS4 2015 – page 173 – predicted grades for 2015.  The Panel was reminded 
that for key stage 4 A* - C grades for English and Maths for 2015 were 
predicted to be 25%, but the actual outcome had been 8%.  The Panel was 
advised that the Council set aspirational targets for the young people to 
achieve;

 A suggestion was made that schools needed to know more about the young 
people to help identify their strengths and weaknesses; and

 The need to have one system that can be used to track the achievements of 
Looked After Children.  Officers advised that work was currently ongoing with 
regard to this matter.

RESOLVED

That the report be noted.   

58    CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME

Consideration was given to a report, which invited the Corporate Parenting Panel to 
discuss and agree its work programme for 2016.

A copy of the work programme was appended to the report at Appendix A.

RESOLVED

That the work programme as detailed at Appendix A to the report presented 
be agreed.

The meeting closed at 12.40 pm

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Policy and Scrutiny 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills, the Director responsible for 
Democratic Services 

 

Report to: Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 15 April 2016 

Subject: 
Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 2016  

Decision Reference:   Key decision? No   

Summary:  

This item enables the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee to 
consider its own work programme for the coming year. 

 
 

Actions Required: 

(1) To comment and agree on the content of the work programme, as set out 
in Appendix A to this report. 

(2) To note the content of the Children's Services Forward Plan, as set out in 
Appendix B to this report. 

 

 
1. Background 
 
Current Work Programme 
 
At every meeting of the Committee, Members are invited to consider their future 
Work Programme and to agree on items to be included in the Work Programme. 
The current work programme for the Committee is attached at Appendix A to this 
report. 
 
Forward Plan 
 
Also attached at Appendix B for the Committee’s consideration is a list of the 
intended decisions of the Executive or Executive Councillor for Adult Care and 
Health Services, Children's Services, which fall within the remit of the Children and 
Young People Scrutiny Committee.      
 
Scrutiny Activity Definitions 
 
Set out below are the definitions used to describe the types of scrutiny, relating to 
the items:  

 

Budget Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising the previous year’s budget, the 
current year’s budget or proposals for the future year’s budget.  
 

Page 141

Agenda Item 10



Pre-Decision Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising a proposal, prior to a 
decision on the proposal by the Executive, the Executive Councillor or a senior 
officer. 
 

Performance Scrutiny - The Committee is scrutinising periodic performance, issue 
specific performance or external inspection reports.    
 

Policy Development - The Committee is involved in the development of policy, 
usually at an early stage, where a range of options are being considered.  
 

Consultation - The Committee is responding to (or making arrangements to 
respond to) a consultation, either formally or informally. This includes pre-
consultation engagement.   
 

Status Report - The Committee is considering a topic for the first time where a 
specific issue has been raised or members wish to gain a greater understanding.  
 

Update Report - The Committee is scrutinising an item following earlier 
consideration.   
 

Scrutiny Review Activity - This includes discussion on possible scrutiny review 
items; finalising the scoping for the review; monitoring or interim reports; approval 
of the final report; and the response to the report.   
 

2. Conclusion
 

That consideration is given to the content of this report.
 
3. Consultation 
 
 
 

 

 
 

a)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

No policy proofing is required for this report. 
 

 

4. Appendices 
 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work 
Programme 

Appendix B Children's Services Forward Plan 

 

5. Background Papers 
 

No background papers within Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the preparation of this report. 
 
 
This report was written by Tracy Johnson, Senior Scrutiny Officer, who can be 
contacted on 01522 552164 or Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk. 

Page 142

mailto:Tracy.Johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Theme: “That every child, in every part of the county should achieve their potential”

Chairman: Councillor John Hough
Vice Chairman: Councillor Ray Wootten

15 April 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Proposal to consider the 
potential closure of 
Saltfleetby CE Primary 
School (final decision)

John O'Connor
Children's Service 
Manager – Education 
Support

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
decision on 29 April 2016)

Verbal Update from 
School Improvement 
Working Group

Cllrs Mrs Jackie Brockway 
and Sarah Dodds and 
Emma Olivier-Townrow 
Working Group Members

Member Report

Department for 
Education's "Educational 
Excellence Everywhere" 
White Paper 

Keith Batty
Director of Programmes, 
CfBT Education Services

Status Report

Consultation on Future 
Provision of Dedicated 
Speech and 
Language/Primary Units

Andrew Hancy
Business Support 
Manager

Consultation

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Corporate Parenting Panel 
Update

Cllr David Brailsford
Chairman of the Panel

Member Report

27 May 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Implementation of SEND 
Reforms – Lessons 
Learned and Progress 
Report

Sheridan Dodsworth
Children's Service 
Manager – SEND

John O'Connor
Children's Service 
Manager – Education 
Support

Status Report

Consultation on Future 
Provision of Dedicated 
Speech and 
Language/Primary Units

Andrew Hancy
Business Support 
Manager

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
decision on 10 June 2016)

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Page 143



27 May 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Centre for Public 
Scrutiny's Guide to 
Scrutinising Children's 
Safeguarding  
Arrangements Guide – 
Key Scrutiny Questions for 
Safeguarding – Questions 
1-3 and 17

Janice Spencer
Assistant Director – 
Children's (Safeguarding)

Performance Scrutiny

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 4

Sally Savage
Sally Savage
Chief Commissioning 
Officer – Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Additional Item

15 July 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Partners in Practice Debbie Barnes

Executive Director of 
Children's Services

Status Report

Post 16 Strategic Priorities 
and Area Based Review

Maggie Freeman
14 – 19 Commissioner

Policy Development

Corporate Parenting Panel 
Update

Cllr David Brailsford
Chairman of the Panel

Member Report

Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item

9 September 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Post 16 Strategic Priorities 
and Area Based Review

Maggie Freeman
14 – 19 Commissioner

Pre-Decision Scrutiny 
(Executive Councillor 
decision TBC)

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny's Guide to 
Scrutinising Children's 
Safeguarding  
Arrangements Guide – 
Key Scrutiny Questions for 
Safeguarding – Questions 
5-7

Janice Spencer
Assistant Director – 
Children's (Safeguarding)

Performance Scrutiny

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Theme Performance: 
Quarter 1

Sally Savage
Sally Savage
Chief Commissioning 
Officer – Children's

Performance Scrutiny

Page 144



9 September 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Inclusive Lincolnshire 
Strategy – Six Monthly 
Update

Mary Meredith
Service Manager – 
Inclusion

Update Report

Additional Item

21 October 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Corporate Parenting Panel 
Update

Cllr David Brailsford
Chairman of the Panel

Member Report

Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item

25 November 2016
Item Contributor Purpose
Theme Performance: 
Quarter 2

Sally Savage Performance Scrutiny

Lincolnshire Safeguarding 
Boards Scrutiny Sub-
Group Update

Cllr Ron Oxby
Chairman of the Sub 
Group

Member Report

Centre for Public 
Scrutiny's Guide to 
Scrutinising Children's 
Safeguarding  
Arrangements Guide – 
Key Scrutiny Questions for 
Safeguarding – Questions 
8, 9, 13, 14

Janice Spencer
Assistant Director – 
Children's (Safeguarding)

Performance Scrutiny

Additional Item
Additional Item
Additional Item

Items to be scheduled

Centre for Public Scrutiny's Guide to Scrutinising Children's Safeguarding Arrangements 
Guide – Key Scrutiny Questions for Safeguarding – Questions 18, 20, 21

Theme Outcomes

The Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee is aligned to the five principles set out 
in the Children and Young People’s Plan 2012-2015:  

1. Early Intervention and Prevention 

Page 145



 Strong universal services, providing early action and intensive support to 
vulnerable children and young people. 

2. Safeguarding and Best Start in Life 
 Ensuring children are safe in every environment. 
 Encouraging community responsibility for safeguarding. 

3. Aspiration and Well Being 
 Ensuring all those working with children champion the importance of 

aspiration. 
 Develop self-esteem, self-belief and resilience in all children, young people 

and their families. 

4. Learning and Achievement 
 All children being the best that they can be. 
 Closing the gap between vulnerable groups and children living in 

disadvantaged communities. 

5. Best Use of Resources 
 Integrating delivery with a focus on outcomes, life chances and opportunities. 
 Effective use of resources to provide better services locally. 
 Empower communities, creating opportunities for them to engage. 

For more information about the work of this Committee please contact Tracy Johnson, 
Senior Scrutiny Officer, on 01522 552164 or by e-mail at 

tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Page 146

mailto:tracy.johnson@lincolnshire.gov.uk


APPENDIX B
FORWARD PLAN OF DECISIONS RELATING TO CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 1 APRIL 2016

DEC
REF

MATTERS
FOR DECISION

DATE OF
DECISION

DECISION
MAKER

PEOPLE/GROUPS
CONSULTED PRIOR 
TO DECISION

DOCUMENTS 
TO BE 
SUBMITTED
FOR 
DECISION

HOW TO COMMENT
ON THE DECISION 
BEFORE IT IS MADE 
AND THE DATE BY 
WHICH COMMENTS 
MUST BE RECEIVED

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER AND CHIEF 
OFFICER

KEY       
DECISION
YES/NO

  DIVISIONS 
AFFECTED

I010938 
New! 

Proposal to 
consider the 
potential closure 
of Saltfleetby CE 
Primary School 
(Final Decision) 

29 April 
2016 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care 
and Health 
Services, 
Children's 
Services 

Interested parties as 
DFE guidance including 
parents, school staff, 
neighbouring schools, 
County, Parish and 
District Councils, MPs, 
Trade Unions and 
Diocese; Children and 
Young People Scrutiny 
Committee 

Report Admissions and Education 
Provision Manager Tel: 01522 
553535 Email: 
matthew.clayton@lincolnshire.
gov.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care and Health 
Services, Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

Yes Louth Marsh; 
Louth North; Louth 
Rural North; Louth 
South; Louth 

I010968 
New! 

Consultation on 
Future Provision 
of Speech and 
Language/ 
Primary Units 

27 May 
2016 

Executive 
Councillor: 
Adult Care 
and Health 
Services, 
Children's 
Services 

Engagement sessions 
with parents and carers 
of primary aged 
children; consultation 
with the three primary 
schools who currently 
host the dedicated SLT 
units Lincolnshire 
Community Health 
Services; Children and 
Young People Scrutiny 
Committee 

Report Business Support Manager 
Tel: 01522 554031 Email: 
andrew.hancy@lincolnshire.go
v.uk 

Executive Councillor: 
Adult Care and Health 
Services, Children's 
Services and 
Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

No All Divisions 

P
age 147



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 4 March 2016
	4 Proposal to consider the future of Saltfleetby Church of England Primary School (Final Decision)
	Appendix 1 - Executive Councillor Report
	Exec report Appendix A -  Consultation Summary
	Exec report Appendix B - Statutory Notice
	Exec report Appendix C - Complete Proposal
	Exec Report Appendix D - Equality Impact Analysis Form
	Exec report Appendix E - Notes of the Saltfleetby Public Consultation Meeting

	6 Synopsis of the Government White Paper "Excellent Education Everywhere"
	Appendix A - Letter from Councillor Mrs P A Bradwell

	7 Consultation on Future Provision of Dedicated Speech and Language/Primary Units
	Appendix A - Consultation Document
	Appendix B - Q&A

	8 Lincolnshire Safeguarding Boards Scrutiny Sub-Group Update
	Appendix A - Minutes of the meeting held on 6 January 2016

	9 Corporate Parenting Panel Update
	Appendix A - Draft minutes of the meeting held on 10 March 2016

	10 Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee Work Programme
	CYPSC Work Programme Appendix


